
NEW WESTMINSTER POLICE BOARD

OPEN AGENDA 

Tuesday, January 21, 2025 at 1800 
Join in‐Person:  

555 Columbia Street, New Westminster 
Join via Zoom: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88158165813 

Webinar ID: 881 5816 5813 
+1 778 907 2071

√ Indicates Attachment

We recognize and respect that New Westminster is on the unceded and unsurrendered land of the Halkomelem speaking 
peoples. We acknowledge that colonialism has made invisible their histories and connections to the land. As a City, we 
are learning and building relationships with the people whose lands we are on. 

1  ADOPTION & PRESENTATIONS 

√ 
1.1 
1.2   

Land Acknowledgement 
Adoption of Open Agenda: January 21, 2025 

Police Board 
Police Board 

2  CONSENT AGENDA 

√  2.1  Approval of Open Minutes: November 19, 2024  Police Board 

√ 
√ 
√ 
√ 
√ 
√ 

2.2 
2.3 
2.4 
2.5 
2.6 
2.7 
2.8 

Police Board Member Reports 
Operational Report: November & December 2024 
Operations Support Report: November & December 2024  
Statistics: November & December 2024  
Monthly Report on NWPD Overtime 
E‐Comm Non‐Emergency Service Level Agency Dashboard 
Correspondence: 
(a) E‐Comm November Police and Local Gov’t Partner Update
(b) E‐Comm December Police and Local Gov’t Partner Update
(c) Cops for Cancer Commendation Letter
(d) BCACP Statement on Decriminalization
(e) CACP Statement: Decriminalization for Simple Possession of
Illicit Drugs
(f) OPCC Annual Report
(g) Letter from Minister Begg
(h) Mandate Letter

Police Board 
A/DCC Ward 
A/DCC Perry  
A/DCC Ward 
Jacqueline Dairon 
A/DCC Perry 
Police Board 

3 

√ 

ONGOING BUSINESS 

3.1     Annual Street Check Report ‐ 2024 

4 

√ 
√ 

NEW BUSINESS 

4.1     Canadian Framework for Trauma‐Informed Response in Policing 
4.2     BCAPB 2025 Conference/ AGM Sponsorship Request 
4.3     Promoting Unbiased Policing - Annual Reporting

D/CC Perry 
CC Hyland
CC Hyland 

NEXT MEETING 

Date: February 18, 2025 @ 1800

Location: Blue Room, 555 Columbia Street 

ADJOURNMENT OF OPEN MEETING 

CC Hyland

√



NEW WESTMINSTER MUNICIPAL POLICE BOARD 
November 19, 2024 at 1030hrs 

In-Person and via ZOOM 
New Westminster Police Department, 555 Columbia Street, New Westminster 

MINUTES of Regular Meeting 

PRESENT: Ms. Tasha Henderson Chair 
Mr. Drew Hart  (via Zoom) 
Mr. Patrick Lalonde 
Ms. Mary Trentadue 
Mr. Alejandro Diaz 
Ms. Kelsi Wall 

STAFF: A/Chief Constable Paul Hyland 
A/Deputy Chief Constable Eamonn Ward 
A/Deputy Chief Constable Andrew Perry 
A/Inspector Jeff Scott 
A/Inspector Ryan Long 
A/Inspector Andrew Wickham 
Ms. Jacqueline Dairon  Finance Supervisor 
Ms. Daisy Dyer  Police Board Secretary 
Ms. Hailey Finnigan  Communications 

GUESTS: Deputy Fire Chief Brad Davie NWFRS 
Annie Sudeyko City of New Westminster 
Lisa Spitale CAO, City of New Westminster 

REGRETS: Ms. Heather Boersma  Vice Chair 

The meeting was called to order at 1030hrs. 

1. ADOPTION

1.1 Land Acknowledgement 

We recognize and respect that New Westminster is on the unceded and unsurrendered 
land of the Halkomelem speaking peoples. We acknowledge that colonialism has made 
invisible their histories and connections to the land. As a City, we are learning and building 
relationships with the people whose lands we are on. 



New Westminster Municipal Police Board 

 

Minutes of NWPB – November 19, 2024 Page 2 of 8 

1.2 Adoption of Regular Agenda: October 15, 2024 
 

MOVED AND SECONDED 
 

THAT The New Westminster Police Board approve the November 19, 2024, Regular 
Agenda.  

CARRIED 
 

1.3 City 3 Crisis Response Presentation 
 

Deputy Fire Chief Brad Davie presented the City’s Crises Response Pilot Project to the 
Police Board. The following was of note.  
 
Similar to other municipalities in Metro Vancouver and the Province, New Westminster is 
facing the three crises of homelessness, mental health and substance use; which were 
aggravated by the COVID-19 pandemic and the ongoing opioid epidemic. These crises are 
complex and inter-related and they are challenging all levels of government. These crises 
are impacting the community in a number of ways, including through the suffering of 
those experiencing them and those who are dealing with the associated externalities. 
These crises are straining City resources, impacting staff health and safety, and 
contributing to business and resident concerns. 
 
In response to these crises, the City developed a Downtown Livability Strategy and 
established a Downtown Livability Working Group, which comprised representation from 
all City departments.  
 
Since the strategy’s development in 2022, the City has undertaken the following actions: 
 

 Conducting daily patrols of parks and public spaces with regard to encampments and 
sheltering, issuing notices to dismantle, distributing resource information and making 
referrals; 

 Contracting bio-hazardous waste collection and disposal services and worked with BC 
Housing on the installation of a 24/7 sanitation trailer, with the latter recording 1,745 
visits in August 2024; 

 Focusing additional attention and resources on the Downtown, particularly related to 
clean-up and maintenance of parks and public spaces; 

 Increased shelter capacity and working with the senior levels of government on the 
development of 52 units of supportive housing at 68 Sixth Street; 

 Hosted a Mental Health Roundtable, with the purpose of enhancing communication 
and coordination among faith-based, non-profit and provincial teams mandated to 
address mental health and substance use issues; 

 Worked with the Canadian Mental Health Association and the Ministry of Mental 
Health and Addictions on the establishment of Peer Assisted Care Team (PACT), which 
assists residents, including the unhoused, dealing with a mental health crisis; 



New Westminster Municipal Police Board 

 

Minutes of NWPB – November 19, 2024 Page 3 of 8 

 Accessed senior government funding for initiatives such as the I’s on the Street Micro-
Street Cleaning Program, which provides supported employment and contributes to 
enhanced cleanliness; 

 Animating and energizing the Downtown through the staging of activities, events and 
festivals. 

 
Despite these efforts and given the complexity of the three crises, the City realized that a 
more comprehensive, city-wide approach is needed, which includes dedicated, resourced 
and trained staff and which is more responsive to the needs of businesses and residents.   
The City also realized that it needs to significantly enhance collaboration with the senior 
levels of government to help cover its costs related to the three crises and to expand faith-
based, non-profit and provincial capacity and resources in addressing them.  
 
The Crises Response Pilot Project is based on best practices and lessons learned from 
other municipalities that are advancing proactive, responsive and strategic organizational 
approaches to addressing the three crises of homelessness, mental health and substance 
use. It comprises the following three inter-departmental teams: 
 

 Crisis Response Team 
Non-clinical outreach which directly assists those with living experience of the three 
crises and connects them to community-based and provincial support services (e.g., 
harm reduction, health, identification, shelter, etc.), as well as daily or essential needs. 
The team champions the needs of Indigenous peoples with living experience of the 
three crises, and works to identify how the City can provide a more culturally-
appropriate and trauma-informed response.  

 
During the first four months of operation (beginning in May 2024), the outreach staff had 
184 interactions and made 590 referrals. 

 

 Operations Support Team 
Responds to issues related to emergencies, fire prevention, life safety, cleanliness and 
compliance with City bylaws, and also assesses staff needs related to safety and 
training. 
The team ensures proactive street cleaning every morning, plus contracted services 
to address hazardous waste. An Implementation of a sanitation trailer has been 
introduced on Front Street, which is operated by the Lower Mainland Purpose Society. 
In its first three months of operation, it received 1,544 visits in July 2024, 1,745 visits 
in August 2024, and 1,307 visits in September 2024. 
 

 Policy Development and Collaboration Team 
This team focuses on longer-term and sustainable strategies to address the three 
crises, including permanent supportive housing; and ensures that facilities, services 
and supports are equitably distributed throughout the city and not focused on any 
one neighbourhood. It also works to ensure that facilities, services and supports are 
purpose-designed and self-contained, and that measures are in place to minimize 
externalities. 



New Westminster Municipal Police Board 

 

Minutes of NWPB – November 19, 2024 Page 4 of 8 

The team collaborates with senior government for the required funding, resources 
and services, and communicates with and engages the community, including related 
to advocacy. 

 
In addition to the establishment of the Crisis Response Team, the following vision and 
proposed actions form an essential part of the Crises Response Pilot Project: 
 

 an extreme weather response and winter shelter;  

 a temporary and a permanent 24/7 shelter with support services;  

 a health connect and resource centre with a health and wellness focus that addresses 
the needs of the daytime unhoused population; 

 a supportive housing development with 60 units, including up to 10 complex care 
units (this is in addition to previously cited 52 units at 602 Agnes Street); 

 an inhalation component in conjunction with the Health Contact Centre and enhanced 
outreach and service provision; 

 equitably distributing new facilities, services and supports across the city; 

 realizing senior government funding for the Crises Response Project should the 
evaluation determine it is effective, and the above cited actions.  

 
The Implementation Working Group comprises representatives from Indigenous, faith-
based, non-profit and provincial organizations and teams mandated to address the three 
crises, and people with lived or living experience related to the three crises.  
Responsibilities will include:  
 

 to ensure that the project is culturally-appropriate, trauma-informed and responsive 
to a diverse range of needs; 

 to facilitate connections, collaboration and referrals between the Crises Response 
Team and Indigenous, faith-based, non-profit and provincial organizations and teams; 

 to inform project refinements based on feedback from those interacting with the 
Crises Response Team and accessing services and supports related to the three crises.  

 
The Engagement and Collaboration Working Group comprises representatives from the 
City and business and resident associations. 
Responsibilities will include:  
 

 to support collaboration activities with the senior levels of government; 

 to communicate the concerns of businesses and residents related to the three crises 
and to inform how the pilot project and collaboration activities can best respond to 
them; 

 to identify a role for and gain the support of businesses and residents in collaboration 
activities related to the three crises. 

 
The City has engaged Douglas College to undertake an independent evaluation of the pilot project 
and to serve on an Evaluation Advisory Committee. This committee will determine appropriate 
evaluation criteria; inform data collection; collate and analyze the data; and report on the results. 



New Westminster Municipal Police Board 

 

Minutes of NWPB – November 19, 2024 Page 5 of 8 

Public reporting will occur on the one year anniversary of the two-year pilot project and at its 
conclusion. This evaluation will be important to securing sustainable senior government funding 
and resources to continue the project and/or to address the issues, needs and gaps associated 
with the three crises. 

 
More information on the Crisis Response can be found by visiting:   
 
https://www.newwestcity.ca/crises-response-project 

  
Discussion ensued. Chair Henderson thanked the team for their presentation.  

 
Received for information.  
 

2. CONSENT AGENDA 
 
2.1     Approval of Open Minutes: October 15, 2024 

 
2.2  Police Board Member Reports  
 
2.3  Operation Report: October 2024 
 
2.4  Operations Support Report: October 2024 
 
2.5  Statistics: October 2024 
 
2.6  Monthly Report on NWPD Overtime 
 
2.7 GOVERNANCE: Draft 2025 Police Board Meeting Dates 
 
2.8 E-Comm Non-Emergency Service Level Agency Dashboard 
 
2.9  Report on Overtime since Backfill Strategy 
 
2.10  POLICY: OB220 Sexual Offence Investigations  
 
2.11 Correspondence:  
 (a) 2024/2025 2nd Quarter LMD-IPDS Stats - NWPD 
 (b) E-Comm November Update for Police and Local Government 
  
MOVED AND SECONDED 

 
THAT item 2.3 and 2.9 be removed from the Consent Agenda; and 
 
THAT the New Westminster Police Board approve the remaining Consent Agenda items. 
 

CARRIED 

https://www.newwestcity.ca/crises-response-project


New Westminster Municipal Police Board 

 

Minutes of NWPB – November 19, 2024 Page 6 of 8 

 
ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA 

 
2.3 Operational Report: October 2024 
 

Ms. Wall noted the change of format to the operational report, expressing that the 
revision was very useful. Acting Deputy Chief Constable Ward invited the Board to advise 
of any other changes that they would like to see to the report.  
 
Received for information.  
 

2.9 Report on Overtime since Backfill Strategy 
 
Ms. Wall stated that this report was helpful in understanding the backfill strategy, 
particularly in relation to how the strategy is not intended to replace overtime. However, 
Ms. Wall did ask for clarification concerning Patrol resourcing, and if the backfill strategy 
would create a lesser requirement for call-out when Patrol shifts are at minimums.  
 
Acting Deputy Chief Constable Perry explained that the Backfill Strategy focuses on filling 
long-term vacancies, and does not necessarily affect the Department’s reliance on 
overtime, which addresses short-term and unpredictable staffing shortages. Overtime is 
primarily used to cover sudden or immediate absences or address seasonal or 
unanticipated surges in demand for major events. While overtime data provides valuable 
insights into overall staffing pressures, it does not serve as a direct or relevant measure 
of the Backfill Strategy’s success. The strategy’s primary function is to enhance staffing 
consistency and coverage, not to reduce reliance on overtime as an operational tool. 

 
Acting Chief Constable Hyland noted that the Patrol review that is to take place will 
provide some insight into the efficiency of how the department’s resources are deployed.  
 
Received for information.  
 

3.  ONGOING BUSINESS  
  

3.1  GOVERNANCE: Final Draft 2025 NWPD Operating Budget 
 

On October 7, 2024, New Westminster City Council approved a motion requesting that 
City staff explore a 4.5% property tax increase scenario, including an analysis of the 
service level impacts or budget reductions that would be required from each department. 
City Finance has indicated that a 4.5% increase would require a $560K reduction in the 
Police Department's proposed 2025 budget. 

 
This scenario was not addressed at the joint Budget discussion session with City Council, 
Police Board and staff. City Council’s 2025 Budget deliberations and decision will not 
occur until after the provisional police budget is approved and at this point, there has 
been no formal request from City Finance to adjust the 2025 Police Operating Budget. At 



New Westminster Municipal Police Board 

 

Minutes of NWPB – November 19, 2024 Page 7 of 8 

this time, the recommendation is to proceed with the previously endorsed 2025 
Operating Budget for approval. Should Council require an adjustment to the 2025 Police 
Budget, a formal request should be made to the Board for review and decision. 

 
MOVED AND SECONDED 

 
THAT the New Westminster Police Board approve the 2025 final NWPD Operating Budget 
 

CARRIED 
 

3.2  GOVERNANCE: Final Draft 2025 NWPD Capital Budget 
 

The 2024-2028 capital plan, approved in November 2023, projected expenditures of 
$2.215M for the five year plan. In July 2024, the updated five-year plan for 2025-2029 
presented a projection of $2.7M, with a 2025 Capital Budget allocation of $1.25M. The 
increases were primarily due to higher than anticipated costs for police equipment and 
the inclusion of the door replacement project for custodial cells. 
 
As of November 2024, the total projected cost for the 2025-2029 Capital Plan is now 
$3.14M, with a 2025 Capital Budget allocation of $1.415M. This updated plan 
incorporates revised pricing for E-COMM radio replacements, updates to the Information 
Technology projects, a reduction in police equipment costs and the deferral custodial cell 
door replacements to 2026.  

 
MOVED AND SECONDED 

 
THAT the New Westminster Police Board approve the 2025 final NWPD Capital Budget 
 

CARRIED 
 
 
3.3 GOVERNANCE: Q3 Financial Report 
 

As of September 30, 2024, the department is currently under budget by $600K. However, 
this favorable budget variance is expected to decrease throughout the remainder of the 
year, with projections indicating the department will be under budget by $175K for 2024. 

 
Received for information.  

 
4. NEW BUSINESS  
 

None.  
  
ADJOURNMENT of Regular Meeting 
 
Chair Henderson adjourned the meeting at 1130 hrs. 



New Westminster Municipal Police Board 

 

Minutes of NWPB – November 19, 2024 Page 8 of 8 

 
Next meeting 
 
The next meeting will take place on Tuesday, 21 January, 2025, at 1800 at 555 Columbia Street, 
New Westminster.  
 
 
 
 
 

 

TASHA HENDERSON 
CHAIR 

  

DAISY DYER 
RECORDING SECRETARY 



 

New Westminster Police Department 
Operations Report – November/December 2024 

Police Board Meeting – January 21, 2025 
 

 

 
Prepared by:    
A/Deputy Chief Eamonn Ward 

  



Page 2 of 5 
 

SUMMARY 
 
In November and December, the four Patrol watches attended 2513 calls for service. There were 
43 in custody files where the accused was arrested and held for a bail hearing. There were 99 
Reports to Crown Counsel submitted for charge approval.   
 
FILES OF NOTE  
 
File 2024-18328 – Mental Health Call 
 
The complainant called NWPD to report a concern with her a family members deteriorating 
mental health. Members arrived and were able to speak with the male; however, he refused to 
open the door and could be heard barricading himself inside.    Further, the suite had potential 
firearms registered to it. LMD IERT and the Crisis Negotiation Team was contacted and deployed. 
CNT were able to negotiate with the male and have him exit the residence where he was taken 
into custody after approximately six hours.   
 
File 2024-18801 – Mental Health Call 
 
NWPD members responded to a report of a suicidal male. Once at the suite, members knocked 
on the door but there was no response. After reviewing all the details of the call, a decision was 
made to enter and check on the wellbeing of the male. Members entered the suite and 
discovered the male in significant medical distress. Members began first aid until EHS arrived on 
scene. Male was then transported for medical treatment.    
 
File 2024-19125 – Assault 
 
NWPD members responded to a report of a female screaming in the area. Upon arrival, she was 
located next to a parked car. As members approached, the vehicle began to drive away. One 
member remained with the female while another pulled over the vehicle. The male driver 
stepped out of the vehicle and made threats of self-harm. A struggle ensued as the member 
attempted to take him into custody, during which time the male attempted to grab the members 
firearm. Once the male was safely taken into custody the follow up investigation resulted in 
charges of assault, uttering threats, forcible confinement and breach of a court order.  
 
File 2024-19839 –Drug Overdose 
 
The NWPD members responded for a report of a “man down” in the street. Upon arrival, the 
male appeared unconscious, and was determined not to have a pulse. Members began provided 
first aid including Naloxone until NW Fire and Rescue Serviced and EHS arrived to take over 
medical care. The male was transported to RCH by EHS where he made a full recovery and was 
extremely appreciative of everyone's efforts to save his life. 
 
  



Page 3 of 5 
 

File 2024-20227 – Drug Overdose 
 
Members were conducting routine patrols in the Downton Core when they came across an 
unconscious male laying in an alcove. The male was unresponsive and did not appear to be 
breathing. Member began administering immediate first aid including for doses of Naloxone until 
EHS arrived on scene. Male was stabilized and transported to RCH for medical treatment.  
 
File 2024-20302 – Drug Overdose 
 
Members were conducting routine patrols in the Downton Core when they located a male who 
did not appear to be breathing, and had no pulse. Members began immediate first aid including 
multiple doses of Naloxone and CPR. After several minutes, the male regained consciousness. 
EHS and NWFD arrived on scene and assessed the male further; however, the male refused to 
attend hospital.  
 
File 2024-21293- High Risk Missing 
 
RCH staff issued a Form 21 for an 87-year-old patient who left the hospital. The female patient 
suffered from dementia, and a number of other medical conditions. All available members 
responded, including assistance from Air 1, which searched the area of RCH and Hume Park by 
FLIR without any luck. After some period of time, the female was located by a neighbour, walking 
toward her house. The female was soaking wet and was very cold after being out for nearly three 
hours. The female was transported back to RCH.  
 
 
Traffic Safety Unit 
 
The Traffic Safety Unit continued to target high risk driving and issued speeding, distracted driving 
and intersection violation tickets in November and December.  Traffic members investigated 
multiple collisions and driving complaints this month.  Traffic members focused on Trucks off 
Truck route, which continue to be an issue due to the front street closure, which has been 
extended until March of 2025.  
 
CVSE members participated in multiple joint agency commercial vehicle checks. Members of the 
Traffic section also focused their attention on issues along Royal Avenue during the afternoon 
rush hour with semi-trucks blocking intersections and crosswalks.  
 
Ten NWPD members including the Traffic Unit participated in the Light up the Province, an 
initiative by the RCMP BC Highway Patrol in support of National Impaired Driving Day.    
 
In November and December, the Traffic Unit generated 144 files. There were 49 motor vehicle 
incidents, 24 driving complaints. They issued 148 Provincial Violation tickets and 50 Municipal 
Bylaw Violation Tickets (42 of which were for truck off truck route).   
 



Page 4 of 5 
 

Crime Reduction Unit 
 
In the months of November and December, Crime Reduction Unit (CRU) members continued with 
vehicle, bike, and overt foot patrols in the Downtown Core and Pier Park, including the Skytrain 
Stations, 800 Carnarvon Street, Alexander Street, and Columbia Square.  
 
City Bylaws requested CRU assistance on multiple occasions with increased focus in 
Queensborough where numerous people have been found to be camping or sleeping in the area.  
 
Members of CRU continue to liaise with members of the public and business owners in the 
Downtown Core to address concerns surrounding public safety.  CRU was successful in submitting 
a proposal for provincial funding, through SITE, in an effort to support additional resourcing in 
the way of foot beat in the downtown core.  This initiative was rolled out in November with three 
additional shifts of three members per shift being allocated weekly. 
 
CRU members made 53 arrests including 27 warrant arrests, 17 Criminal Code arrests, and eight 
new charges being submitted.  
 
Gang Suppression Unit 
 
GSU members participated in a webinar by the Gang Intervention and Exiting Team (GEIT) put on 
by the Youth and Indigenous Justice Division, Family Law and Youth Justice Sections of the 
Department of Justice Canada.  The focus by presenters was to highlight the program that 
provided intervention and exit services to people over the age of 12 who are involved in gang 
activity, as well as the families of affected youth, to foster a safe and healthy environment. 
 
GSU attended a presentation by the ICBC Special Investigation Unit.  The presentation provided 
information on the resources available to assist with police investigations, as well as methods for 
engaging ICBC when police encounter suspicious cases that on the surface lack sufficient 
evidence for further criminal action. 
 
In November and December, the Gang Suppression Unit generated two files and made eight 
arrests.  
 
Major Crime Unit 
 
In November and December, the Major Crime Unit (MCU) assumed conduct of nine new investigations. 
Five of the investigations are Child Exploitation files. MCU remained extremely busy by progressing 
many new and historical files, as well as assisting other units within the organization.  A number of MCU 
files are currently in different phases of disclosure with the courts and therefore are not available for 
release.  
 
  



 

 
 
 
 

Operations Support Bureau Report – November & 
December 2024 

Open Police Board Meeting – January 21, 2025 
 
 

 
Prepared by:    
Andrew Perry, Deputy Chief Constable (Acting) 
 



Page 2 of 9 
 

ADMINISTRATION DIVISION 
 
 
NON-EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS CENTRE 
 
The NWPD Non-Emergency Communications Team created the following non-emergency reports:  

Month 0800 – 1600hrs Monday to Friday 

January 336 

February  290 

March  287 

April  375 

May  393 

June  341 

July  356 

August  357 

September  368 

October  384 

November  277 

December  297 

 

2024 Year Total 4061 

 

NOVEMBER 

 NWPD staff created 277 non-emergency reports between 0800-1600hrs Monday – Friday. 

 E-Comm created 245 non-emergency reports during afterhours (1600-0800hrs Monday – Friday). 

 Weekends are not included as NWPD staff only work Monday – Friday. 

 Of the 522 total non-emergency reports created between Mondays – Fridays (24hr Period) in 

November 2024, approximately 53.1% of the non-emergency reports were created by NWPD staff. 

 NWPD staff answered a total of 1030 phone calls during the month of November 2024. 



Page 3 of 9 
 

 Roughly 26.9% of calls that came in were non-emergency reports, the remaining 73.1% were 

reception, switchboard, or referrals to other outside services. 

DECEMBER 

 NWPD Staff created 297 non-emergency reports between 0800-1600hrs Monday – Friday. 

 E-Comm created 234 non-emergency reports during afterhours (1600-0800hrs Monday – Friday). 

 Weekends are not included as NWPD Staff only work Monday – Friday. 

 Of the 531 total non-emergency reports created between Mondays – Fridays (24hr Period) in 

December 2024, approximately 55.9% of the non-emergency reports were created by NWPD Staff. 

 NWPD Staff answered a total of 867 phone calls during the month of December 2024. 

 Roughly 34.3% of calls that came in were non-emergency reports, the remaining 65.7% were 

reception, switchboard, or referrals to other outside services. 

ONLINE REPORTING 
 
The following chart represents the amount of online reports received per month: 
 

January February March April May June July August Sept Oct Nov Dec 

36 27 48 49 49 48 59 45 59 44 50 53 

 
COMMUNITY & SPECIAL RESOURCE DIVISION 

 
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT UNIT (CEU) 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTIONS: 

Citizens Crime Watch Patrol 

Volunteers were deployed to patrol the City in citizen’s crime watch. Volunteers are tasked with driving 

around the City and notifying police of any suspicious activity that they observe. The goal is to reduce 

crime through having dedicated observers committed to patrolling high-crime areas.  

Lock Out Auto Crime 

Volunteers were deployed to parking lots providing safety tips to drivers regarding securing their vehicles. 

Volunteers filled left suggestion cards for some parked vehicles as to how they can better prevent theft 

from auto.  

Speed Watch 

Members of the CEU and volunteers setup a speed watch in the city. Members monitored traffic and 

encouraged drivers to slow down using portable speed radar equipment and big flashing reader board to 

give drivers instant feedback on how fast they're driving. 

  



Page 4 of 9 
 

Stolen Auto Recovery 

Volunteers used up-to-date information on stolen vehicles (provided by the BC Crime Prevention 

Association) to search licence plates of parked and moving vehicles around the City.  If a license plate 

number comes up as a match, the volunteers notify police immediately with the goal of having police 

recover the vehicle.  

Situation Table – City of New Westminster 

Members of the CEU participated in an initiative funded by Public Safety Canada to deliver a Building Safer 

Communities Program in New Westminster. This program is focused on youth gang reduction, decrease 

in use of weapons and an overall gang prevention strategy. A key initiative of this program is community 

collaboration and engagement through a Situation/Consultation Table, which is a risk-based collaborative 

model for community safety and well-being. The goal of these consultations is to proactively identify and 

rapidly mitigate the underlying risks associated with criminal offending, victimization, and personal crisis 

or trauma (e.g., overdose, eviction, etc.) by connecting vulnerable people to the services they need.  

VOLUNTEER STATISTICS: 

 

Lock Out Auto Crime/Stolen Auto Recovery 

 

November: 

 

 4 Deployments 

 40 Hours of Volunteer Time 

 122 Crime Prevention Notices Issued 

 1,999 Plates Checked 

December: 

 

 1 Deployment 

 16 Hours of Volunteer Time 

 37 Crime Prevention Notices Issued 

 205 Plates Checked 

 

Citizens Crime Watch Patrol 

November: 

 

 5 Deployments 

 84 Hours of Volunteer Time 

 511 Plates Checked 

  



Page 5 of 9 
 

December: 

 

 3 Deployments 

 47 Hours of Volunteer Time 

 572 Plates Checked 

 

Speed Watch 

November: 

 

 2 Deployments 

 7 Hours of Volunteer Time 

 385 Vehicles Checked 

December: 

 

 1 Deployment 

 8 Hours of Volunteer Time 

 

Other Volunteer Hours 

November: 

 

 ICBC Pedestrian Safety Campaign – 10 Hours Volunteer Time  

December: 

 

 Meet Constable Claus – 60 Hours 

 Shine Bright New west – 17 Hours 

 Department Photo Shoot – 13.5 Hours 

 Winter Break Celebration Event – 8 Hours 

 

NOVEMBER EVENTS: 

Remembrance Day 

CEU volunteers assisted members with road closures during Remembrance Day proceedings.  

Take Your Kid to Work Day 

The CEU hosted grade 9 students for a fun-filled day at the police station. Students were provided with an 

overview of the Department and the role of the police. Students were provided with parental consent to 

participate in a use of force demonstration, a K9 demonstration, and were given a tour of the NWPD boat.  



Page 6 of 9 
 

Downtown Residents Association 

The CEU hosted the Downtown Residents association in an open aimed at discussing community issues in 

the downtown neighbourhood. The event was attended by members of the NWPD Senior Management 

Team.  

Pedestrian Safety Event 

The CEU and NWFRS partnered with ICBC to attend high-traffic pedestrian areas and provide safety 

information to pedestrians as a part of ICBC’s Pedestrian Safety Month campaign.  

MADD Holiday Kickoff 

Members of the CEU attended the annual launch of the MADD seasonal campaign against impaired 

driving. This event is hosted in a different jurisdiction annually, and this year marked the first time it was 

hosted in New Westminster. The CEU delivered a speech at the event alongside MADD members, the 

Mayor of New Westminster, and sponsors.  

Volunteer Appreciation 

Members hosted an appreciation evening for volunteers for the valuable work they perform. During the 

evening, the Volunteer and Reserve Constable with the most hours committed over the year were 

presented with awards. A volunteer who had entered their 25th year of volunteering for the NWPD was 

honoured for their service.  

Pedestrian Safety Event – Yorkville University 

The CEU and NWFRS partnered with ICBC to attend high-traffic pedestrian areas and provide safety 

information to pedestrians as a part of ICBC’s Pedestrian Safety Month campaign. This event focused 

mainly on international students.  

Pedestrian Safety Event – New Westminster Sky Train Station 

The CEU and NWFRS partnered with ICBC to attend high-traffic pedestrian areas and provide safety 

information to pedestrians as a part of ICBC’s Pedestrian Safety Month campaign. This event focused 

mainly on commuters.  

Pedestrian Safety Event – Century House 

The CEU and NWFRS partnered with ICBC to attend high-traffic pedestrian areas and provide safety 

information to pedestrians as a part of ICBC’s Pedestrian Safety Month campaign. This event focused 

mainly on seniors and addressed other issues they are currently facing.  

 

 



Page 7 of 9 
 

DECEMBER EVENTS: 

Shine Bright New Westminster 

The CEU attended the Shine Bright Event that was hosted at the City Hall for a kick off to the Holiday 

Cheer. The CEU attended and set up a booth at the event and have three volunteers and one reserve 

constable assisting at the booth. The event was successful at connecting with the Community and kicking 

off the Holiday spirit. The CEU attended with the usual promotional materials that is given out at events. 

Constable Claus 

The CEU hosted for a second year the Constable Claus event in the mat room of the New Westminster 

Police Department. This event is the bridge the gap with the Community so they can feel comfortable 

coming to the New Westminster Police Department, but also to allow the Don’t Go Hungry to receive 

donations for the less fortunate at a tougher time of year. This year, the CEU had three Police officers 

adjust their schedule as well as one professional staff member adjust their schedule to make the event a 

success. The CEU was assisted by eight volunteers as well as five reserve constables, showing their passion 

at making the Community and NWPD a better place at an extremely busy time of year. This year, Don’t 

Go Hungry was able to fully fill their car with donations that were given by both the Community, 

Volunteers of NWPD and staff members of NWPD. The event proved to be another great success. 

Winter Break Celebration 

On December 23, the City of New Westminster requested the NWPD CEU attend for a Winter Break 

Celebration. The event is hosted at təməsew̓txʷ Aquatic and Community Centre where there is the ability 

to connect with multiple groups in the Community. The CEU attended with a booth, and one member of 

the CEU and one reserve constable. This event is a new event for the CEU as the City of New Westminster 

began planning a several new events, and wanted NWPD to be involved. 

Downtown Business Improvement Association (BIA) 

Members of the CEU and SMT attended the Downtown BIA Winter Social. Members met with many 

business owners and stakeholders. Opportunities for further follow-up and relationship building were 

identified. 

SPECIAL INVESTIGATIONS UNIT (SIU) 
 
November: 

 

 NWPD – Missing Persons Reports: 22 

 SIU - New Missing Persons Investigations: 5 

 SIU - Located/ Concluded Missing Persons Investigations: 5 

 Active Missing Persons Investigations: 0 
  



Page 8 of 9 
 

December: 
 

 NWPD – Missing Persons Reports: 10 

 SIU - New Missing Persons Investigations: 5 

 SIU - Located/ Concluded Missing Persons Investigations: 4 

 Active Missing Persons Investigations: 1 
 

MENTAL HEALTH UNIT  
 
November: 
 

 Total Police apprehensions Mental Health Act: 43 

 Total Internal Mental Health Follow-Ups: 29 

 Total External Mental Health Follow – Ups: 6 

 Longest Wait: 271 Minutes 

 Average Wait: 118 Minutes 

December: 

 

 Total Police apprehensions Mental Health Act: 28 

 Total Internal Mental Health Follow-Ups: 29 

 Total External Mental Health Follow – Ups: 6 

 Longest Wait: 399 Minutes 

 Average Wait: 147 Minutes 

 
VICTIM ASSISTANCE UNIT (VAU) 
 
November: 
 

 VAU attended 7 Crisis Calls this month, 4 afterhours and 3 during the day.  

 VAU received 36 client referrals from Members and opened a total of 81 new client files.  

 VAU has a current caseload of 452 police files (not client files). 

Relationship “Safe-Tea” 

NWPD VAU co-hosted a ‘Relationship Safe-Tea’ at the NW Douglas College Campus.  It was an event to 

raise awareness for the 16 Days of Activism Against Gender-Based Violence. 

December: 
 

 VAU attended 19 Crisis Calls this month, 11 afterhours and 8 during the day.  

 VAU received 47 client referrals from Members and opened a total of 90 new client files.  



Page 9 of 9 
 

 VAU has a current caseload of 469 police files (not client files). 

VAU Holiday Hamper  

VAU organized and delivered a Holiday Hamper to a family (a mother and 3 children) who were 

significantly impacted by a Domestic Violence file in 2023.  The file concluded in court a few months ago 

and the mother and children are still in transitional housing, making them an ideal candidate for the 

hamper.  Members and VAU delivered it on Monday December 23rd and it was very well-received by the 

family. 

 

Submitted by 
 

 
 
Andrew Perry 
Deputy Chief Constable (Acting) 
Operations Support Bureau 



Page 5 of 5 
 

Street Crime Unit 
 
In November and December, the Street Crime Unit (SCU) started three new investigations while 
also assisting the Gang Suppression Unit.  In the latter half of November, SCU was deployed to 
assist MCU and their investigations. 
  
Criminal Intelligence Unit 
 
In November and December, the Criminal Intelligence Unit assisted various units on 16 operational files. 
CIU created 16 intelligence bulletins for dissemination and registered nine sex offenders.  
 
Forensic Identification Unit (FIU) 

FIU members handled 53 new calls in November and December. FIU assisted with three robberies, one 
home invasionn three sudden death and one fatal motor vehicle incident. The routine calls for service 
attended or worked on included nine break and enters, eleven recovered stolen vehicles, and three 
theft from vehicle files.  Fourteen criminal identifications were recorded in November and December. 
In November and Decmeber the FIU Video Technician completed the following highlighted tasks: 
 

 7 External video extractions 

 35 Video conversions 

 6 Audio Conversions/Extractions/Merging 

 28 Still image captures from Surveillance video completed 

 24 Video/Stills and photos disclosure provided to Crown 
 
  
Submitted by 
 

 

 
Eamonn Ward 
A/Deputy Chief 
Operations Bureau  



 

  
PROTECTED A 
November 2024 

(Report Created: 2024-12-20) 

 

 

November 2024 - Statistics 

Crime Type Category1 
2024 

October 
2024 

November 
November 

3YR Avg 
YTD 
2022 

YTD 
2023 

YTD 
2024 

YTD 
3YR 
Avg 

% Change 
2023-2022 

Persons Offences 

HOMICIDE 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 -100% 

ATTEMPTED HOMICIDE 0 0 0 2 1 0 1 -100% 

SEXUAL ASSAULTS 6 4 5 58 56 65 60 16% 

ASSAULT-COMMON 45 42 39 329 406 470 402 16% 

ASSAULT-W/WEAPON OR CBH 15 11 13 169 176 170 172 -3% 

ASSAULT-AGGRAVATED 2 0 0 4 9 4 6 -56% 

ROBBERY 3 2 3 54 73 35 54 -52% 

Total Monitored Persons Offences 71 59 60 616 723 744 694 3% 

Domestic Violence 

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE 42 49 46 579 548 462 530 -16% 

FAMILY VIOLENCE 29 22 21 235 265 235 245 -11% 

Property Offences 

BREAK & ENTER-BUSINESS 5 8 10 137 149 108 131 -28% 

BREAK & ENTER-RESIDENCE 1 7 5 63 73 54 63 -26% 

BREAK & ENTER-OTHER 5 4 3 50 43 41 45 -5% 

THEFT OF VEHICLE 14 12 12 130 115 130 125 13% 

THEFT FROM VEHICLE 37 46 47 618 529 373 507 -29% 

THEFT-OTHER OVER $5000 2 3 1 13 14 18 15 29% 

THEFT-OTHER UNDER $5000 71 47 41 366 451 520 446 15% 

MISCHIEF OVER $5000 0 0 1 9 15 4 9 -73% 

MISCHIEF $5000 OR UNDER 45 44 49 451 490 424 455 -13% 

Total Monitored Property Offences 180 171 170 1837 1879 1672 1796 -11% 

Traffic Offences 

Collisions 

COLLISION-FATAL 0 0 0 3 4 1 3 -75% 

COLLISION-NON-FATAL INJURY 10 8 10 102 104 121 109 16% 

COLLISION-ALL OTHERS 47 62 60 548 493 521 521 6% 

Total Collision Offences 57 70 71 653 601 643 632 7% 

215 | Impaired 

215 ALCOH-24HR & DRUG 1 2 3 40 41 34 38 -17% 

215 ALCOH IRP FAIL & REFUSE ASD-90 DAY 3 9 12 156 154 65 125 -58% 

215 ALCOH IRP WARN 5 1 3 60 65 38 54 -42% 

IMPAIRD OP MV (DRUGS & ALCOH) 6 10 14 203 193 92 163 -52% 

Weapons Offences 

WEAPONS 9 4 5 68 96 73 79 -24% 

Other Non-Criminal Code Offences 

BYLAW 28 30 30 259 398 279 312 -30% 

FALSE ALARMS 91 59 60 889 749 657 765 -12% 

MISSING PERSONS 26 23 22 250 239 248 246 4% 

MENTAL HEALTH RELATED 63 54 53 492 806 787 695 -2% 

DISTURBED PERSON/ATT SUICIDE 50 59 49 521 599 555 558 -7% 

SUDDEN DEATH 7 11 11 129 131 114 125 -13% 

DOMESTIC DISPUTE-NO ASSAULT 33 37 29 325 344 290 320 -16% 

 
 

                                                           
1 The above statistics were extracted from LMD PRIME, General Occurrences (GOs) with CCJS Status: <>A (all files except unfounded) or B:Z (founded). Due to the unload limitations 

since the LMD PRIME 8.1 upgrade, only 20200101:20241130 files were queried and added to the previous dataset (last updated October 2024). Please note that the figures reflect 
police records as of the day the data was originally extracted; therefore, the figures may have changed over time. The PRIME data was last reviewed  on: 2024-12-20. Please contact 

the New Westminster Police Department ‐ Criminal Intelligence Unit for more information  



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

November 2024 - Downtown Statistics 
 

Crime Type Category1 2023 November 2024 November 
November 

3YR Avg 
YTD 
2022 

YTD 
2023 

YTD 
2024 

YTD 3YR 
Avg 

% Change  
2023-2024 

(YTD) 

ASSAULT-COMMON 11 15 13 107 147 144 133 -2% 

ASSAULT-W/WEAPON OR CBH 4 6 5 78 75 69 74 -8% 

ASSAULT-AGGRAVATED 0 0 0 2 6 3 4 -50% 

ROBBERY 2 1 1 25 41 17 28 -59% 

BNE-BUSINESS 7 1 3 41 60 26 42 -57% 

BNE-RESIDENCE 0 1 0 7 15 8 10 -47% 

THEFT FROM AUTO - OVER AND UNDER $5000 11 7 8 120 128 102 117 -20% 

THEFT-OTHER - OVER AND UNDER $5000 17 13 15 139 163 195 166 20% 

MISCHIEF - OVER AND UNDER $5000 20 15 15 126 157 131 138 -17% 

MENTAL HEALTH RELATED 34 17 20 151 260 234 215 -10% 
 

 

 

                                                           
1 The above statistics were extracted from LMD PRIME, General Occurrences (GOs) with CCJS Status: <>A. The data was mapped in ArcMap 10.8.2, and the Downtown statistics were extracted using the Select By Location function – “are completely 

within the source layer feature”. Due to the unload limitations since the LMD PRIME 8.1 upgrade, only November, 2022-2024 files were queried and added to the previous dataset (last updated October 2024). Please note that the figures reflect 
police records as of the day the data was originally extracted; therefore, the figures may have changed over time. The PRIME data was last reviewed on: 2024-12-19. Please contact the New Westminster Police Department ‐ Criminal Intelligence 

Unit for more information. 

PROTECTED A 
November 2024 

(Report Created: 2024-12-19) 

 



 

  
PROTECTED A 
December 2024 

(Report Created: 2025-01-02) 

 

 

December 2024 - Statistics 

Crime Type Category1 
2024 

November 
2024 

December 
December 
3YR Avg 

YTD 
2022 

YTD 
2023 

YTD 
2024 

YTD 3YR 
Avg 

% Change 
2023-2022 

Persons Offences 

HOMICIDE 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 -100% 

ATTEMPTED HOMICIDE 0 0 0 2 1 0 1 -100% 

SEXUAL ASSAULTS 4 9 7 65 62 74 67 19% 

ASSAULT-COMMON 42 32 33 369 433 502 435 16% 

ASSAULT-W/WEAPON OR CBH 11 12 11 182 184 182 183 -1% 

ASSAULT-AGGRAVATED 0 0 1 6 10 4 7 -60% 

ROBBERY 2 5 4 58 76 40 58 -47% 

Total Monitored Persons Offences 59 58 56 682 767 802 750 5% 

Domestic Violence 

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE 50 51 48 634 588 530 584 -10% 

FAMILY VIOLENCE 22 15 21 263 286 251 267 -12% 

Property Offences 

BREAK & ENTER-BUSINESS 8 7 11 140 172 115 142 -33% 

BREAK & ENTER-RESIDENCE 7 8 8 71 80 62 71 -23% 

BREAK & ENTER-OTHER 4 5 5 55 47 46 49 -2% 

THEFT OF VEHICLE 11 12 10 139 123 141 134 15% 

THEFT FROM VEHICLE 47 23 47 704 561 397 554 -29% 

THEFT-OTHER OVER $5000 3 1 1 14 14 19 16 36% 

THEFT-OTHER UNDER $5000 46 35 40 409 493 554 485 12% 

MISCHIEF OVER $5000 0 0 0 10 15 4 10 -73% 

MISCHIEF $5000 OR UNDER 44 45 42 490 533 470 498 -12% 

Total Monitored Property Offences 170 136 162 2032 2038 1808 1959 -11% 

Traffic Offences 

Collisions 

COLLISION-FATAL 0 1 1 3 5 2 3 -60% 

COLLISION-NON-FATAL INJURY 8 8 11 114 118 129 120 9% 

COLLISION-ALL OTHERS 63 39 42 595 533 561 563 5% 

Total Collision Offences 71 48 54 712 656 692 687 5% 

215 | Impaired 

215 ALCOH-24HR & DRUG 2 4 7 45 52 38 45 -27% 

215 ALCOH IRP FAIL & REFUSE ASD-90 DAY 9 8 11 171 163 73 136 -55% 

215 ALCOH IRP WARN 1 13 9 68 70 51 63 -27% 

IMPAIRD OP MV (DRUGS & ALCOH) 10 8 13 219 207 100 175 -52% 

Weapons Offences 

WEAPONS 4 3 5 76 100 76 84 -24% 

Other Non-Criminal Code Offences 

BYLAW 30 17 25 281 434 297 337 -32% 

FALSE ALARMS 59 62 64 967 800 719 829 -10% 

MISSING PERSONS 23 11 18 266 266 259 264 -3% 

MENTAL HEALTH RELATED 64 47 68 607 990 945 847 -5% 

DISTURBED PERSON/ATT SUICIDE 61 31 45 573 655 589 606 -10% 

SUDDEN DEATH 11 13 11 137 142 127 135 -11% 

DOMESTIC DISPUTE-NO ASSAULT 37 42 33 356 370 328 351 -11% 

 
 
 

                                                           
1 The above statistics were extracted from LMD PRIME, General Occurrences (GOs) with CCJS Status: <>A (all files except unfounded) or B:Z (founded). Due to the unload limitations since 

the LMD PRIME 8.1 upgrade, only 20200101:20241231 files were queried and added to the previous dataset (last updated November 2024). Please note that the figures reflect police 
records as of the day the data was originally extracted; therefore, the figures may have changed over time. The PRIME data was last reviewed  on: 2025-01-02. Please contact the New 

Westminster Police Department ‐ Criminal Intelligence Unit for more information  



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

December 2024 – Downtown Statistics 

Crime Type Category1 2023 December 2024 December 
December 
3YR Avg 

YTD 
2022 

YTD 
2023 

YTD 
2024 

YTD 3YR 
Avg 

% Change  
2023-2024 

(YTD) 

ASSAULT-COMMON 9 8 11 124 156 152 144 -3% 

ASSAULT-W/WEAPON OR CBH 3 5 5 84 78 74 79 -5% 

ASSAULT-AGGRAVATED 1 0 1 3 7 3 4 -57% 

ROBBERY 1 1 1 25 42 18 28 -57% 

BNE-BUSINESS 5 1 2 42 65 27 45 -58% 

BNE-RESIDENCE 0 2 1 7 15 10 11 -33% 

THEFT FROM AUTO - OVER AND UNDER $5000 7 7 7 128 135 109 124 -19% 

THEFT-OTHER - OVER AND UNDER $5000 11 16 13 152 174 211 179 21% 

MISCHIEF - OVER AND UNDER $5000 16 14 14 137 173 145 152 -16% 

MENTAL HEALTH RELATED 31 8 18 166 291 242 233 -17% 
 

 

 

 

                                                           
1 The above statistics were extracted from LMD PRIME, General Occurrences (GOs) with CCJS Status: <>A. The data was mapped in ArcMap 10.8.2, and the Downtown statistics were extracted using the Select By Location  function – “are 

completely within the source layer feature”. Due to the unload limitations since the LMD PRIME 8.1 upgrade, only December, 2022-2024 files were queried and added to the previous dataset (last updated November 2024). Please note that the 
figures reflect police records as of the day the data was originally extracted; therefore, the figures may have changed over time. The PRIME data was last reviewed on: 2025-01-02. Please contact the New Westminster Police Department ‐ Criminal 

Intelligence Unit for more information. 

PROTECTED A 
December 2024 

(Report Created: 2025-01-02) 

 



Overtime Report to December 20, 2024 355

 2024 Annual 

Budget   YTD Budget  Prior YTD Actual  2024 Actual    YTD Variance 

 Budget 

Remaining  Last 2 Weeks 

2023 Prior YTD 

Actual

Management 2,000                    1,940               2,623                       2,623               (683)                  (623)                ‐                              ‐                     

Admin Services  35,000                  33,948             49,267                     49,267            (15,319)            (14,267)          ‐                              21,173               

Community & Spec Res 26,000                  25,219             28,451                     28,451            (3,232)              (2,451)             ‐                              30,707               

61,000                  59,167             77,718                     77,718            (18,552)            (16,718)          ‐                              51,879               

Patrol Admin 65,000                  63,046             49,335                     51,021            12,025             13,979            1,686                          71,970               

Patrol A Platoon 63,000                  61,107             89,847                     91,531            (30,424)            (28,531)          1,683                          65,645               

Patrol B Platoon 63,000                  61,107             85,082                     90,236            (29,129)            (27,236)          5,154                          80,889               

Patrol C Platoon 63,000                  61,107             46,049                     46,960            14,147             16,040            910                             71,205               

Patrol D Platoon 63,000                  61,107             52,786                     56,160            4,946                6,840              3,374                          56,395               

317,000                307,473           323,099                   335,907          (28,435)            (18,907)          12,808                       346,105            

Major Crime 250,000                242,486           202,719                   226,394          16,092             23,606            23,676                        238,085             

Forensic Ident 90,000                  87,295             55,742                     60,332            26,963             29,668            4,590                          62,305               

Street Crime  65,000                  63,046             30,925                     30,925            32,122             34,075            ‐                              33,150               

405,000                392,828           289,385                   317,651          75,177             87,349            28,265                       333,540            

Total Sworn Overtime 785,000                761,407           692,826                   733,899          27,508             51,101            41,073                       731,524            

Civilian Overtime
 2024 Annual 

Budget   YTD Budget  Prior YTD Actual  2024 Actual    YTD Variance 

 Budget 

Remaining   Last 2 Weeks  

2023 Prior YTD 

Actual

Management 500                        485                  ‐                            ‐                   485                   500                 ‐                              ‐                     

Admin/Finance 5,000                    4,850               1,039                       1,296               3,553                3,704              257                             7,021                 

Admin Services 21,000                  20,369             14,509                     15,400            4,969                5,600              891                             19,045               

Records Services 67,500                  65,471             121,729                   129,638          (64,167)            (62,138)          7,909                          88,174               

Community & SR 5,000                     4,850               647                           647                  4,203                4,353              ‐                              606                     

Victim Services 10,000                  9,699               13,573                     14,606            (4,906)              (4,606)             1,033                          17,538               

103,500                100,389           150,457                   160,291          (59,901)            (56,791)          9,834                          125,364            

Major Crime 1,500                     1,455               3,173                       4,402               (2,947)              (2,902)             1,229                          4,461                 

Forensic Ident 5,500                     5,335               4,139                       4,139               1,195                1,361              ‐                              3,865                 

7,000                    6,790               7,312                       8,542               (1,752)              (1,542)            1,229                          8,326                 

Total Civilian Overtime 116,000                112,514           158,808                   170,129          (57,615)            (54,129)          11,320                       140,711            

Total NWPD OT ‐ Excluding Secondments/Grant Recovery 

901,000                873,921           851,634                   904,028          (30,107)            (3,028)            52,394                       872,235            



Last refreshed at: 06-Jan-2025 07:08 AM

Prev: 29.1% (-12.5%)

▼16.6%

Abandon Rate within 
3 mins

Prev: 43.2% (-18.5%)

▼24.7%

Abandon Rate

Prev: 0 

476

Callbacks Requested

Prev: N/A 

▲83.6%

Callback Success %

Prev: N/A 

13.5

Avg Time to Callback 
(min)

Other Metrics (YTD for Dec 2024 vs Dec 2023)

Prev: 8,458 (-54.7%)

▼3,835

Calls Abandoned

Prev: 11,101 (8.8%)

▲12,076

Calls Served

Prev: 19,559 (-17.7%)

▼16,104

Calls Offered

Prev: 283.0 (-49.5%)

▼143.1

ASA (sec)
?

Budget: 65%
Target: 80%

Prev: 63% (12.0%)

75%▲

Service Level
?

Prev: 56.8% (18.8%)

▲75.5%

% Calls Served

Key Metrics (YTD for Dec 2024 vs Dec 2023)

Summary
Service Level (YTD) for Dec 2024 is 75%, which did not meet the target of 80%.
Avg. Speed of Answer (YTD) for Dec 2024 is 143.1, which is a decrease of 49.5% compared to the same time prev year.
Calls Offered (YTD) for Dec 2024 is 16,104, which is a decrease of 17.7% compared to the same time prev year.

Month

Dec

Year

2024
Year to

date
Quarter
to date MonthlyNon-Emergency

Agency

New West Police
New Westminster

Police Agency Dashboard

Agency Dashboard - Power BI https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/5c027c80-9c15-4447-ac44-6f154c3e6457/reports/d1...

1 of 2 2025/01/06, 1:45 PM



Last refreshed at: 06-Jan-2025 07:08 AM

Prev: 32.6% (-22.5%)

▼10.0%

Abandon Rate within 
3 mins

Prev: 46.7% (-29.9%)

▼16.8%

Abandon Rate

Prev: 0 

69

Callbacks Requested

Prev: N/A 

▲91.3%

Callback Success %

Prev: N/A 

10.9

Avg Time to Callback 
(min)

Other Metrics (QTD for Q4 2024 vs Q4 2023)

Prev: 1,974 (-69.2%)

▼608

Calls Abandoned

Prev: 2,252 (36.3%)

▲3,069

Calls Served

Prev: 4,226 (-12.4%)

▼3,704

Calls Offered

Prev: 307.9 (-64.0%)

▼110.9

ASA (sec)
?

Budget: 65%
Target: 80%

Prev: 65% (13.0%)

78%▲

Service Level
?

Prev: 53.3% (30.0%)

▲83.3%

% Calls Served

Key Metrics (QTD for Q4 2024 vs Q4 2023)

Summary
Service Level (QTD) for Q4 2024 is 78%, which did not meet the target of 80%.
Avg. Speed of Answer (QTD) for Q4 2024 is 110.9, which is a decrease of 64.0% compared to the same quarter prev year.
Calls Offered (QTD) for Q4 2024 is 3,704, which is a decrease of 12.4% compared to the same quarter prev year.

Month

Dec

Year

2024
Year to

date
Quarter
to date MonthlyNon-Emergency

Agency

New West Police
New Westminster

Police Agency Dashboard

Agency Dashboard - Power BI https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/5c027c80-9c15-4447-ac44-6f154c3e6457/reports/d1...

1 of 2 2025/01/06, 2:06 PM



Last refreshed at: 06-Jan-2025 07:08 AM

Prev: 29.9% (-22.2%)

▼7.7%

Abandon Rate within 
3 mins

Prev: 39.8% (-27.0%)

▼12.7%

Abandon Rate

Prev: 0 

12

Callbacks Requested

Prev: N/A 

▲83.3%

Callback Success %

Prev: N/A 

16.4

Avg Time to Callback 
(min)

Other Metrics (Dec 2024 vs Dec 2023)

Prev: 546 (-73.4%)

▼145

Calls Abandoned

Prev: 827 (21.4%)

▲1,004

Calls Served

Prev: 1,373 (-15.7%)

▼1,158

Calls Offered

Prev: 215.2 (-63.8%)

▼77.8

ASA (sec)
?

Budget: 65%
Target: 80%

Prev: 72% (13.0%)

85%▲

Service Level
?

Prev: 60.2% (27.0%)

▲87.2%

% Calls Served

Key Metrics (Dec 2024 vs Dec 2023)

Summary
Service Level (Monthly) for Dec 2024 is 85%, which exceeded the target of 80%.
Avg. Speed of Answer (Monthly) for Dec 2024 is 77.8, which is a decrease of 63.8% compared to the same month prev year.
Calls Offered (Monthly) for Dec 2024 is 1,158, which is a decrease of 15.7% compared to the same month prev year.

Month

Dec

Year

2024
Year to

date
Quarter
to date MonthlyNon-Emergency

Agency

New West Police
New Westminster

Police Agency Dashboard

Agency Dashboard - Power BI https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/5c027c80-9c15-4447-ac44-6f154c3e6457/reports/d1...

1 of 2 2025/01/06, 2:03 PM



Last refreshed at: 06-Jan-2025 07:08 AM

Trend - YtD (New Westminster v/s all agencies in ECLMD)
YtD for each year, between 2021 and 2024. Past years include same completed months of this year.

0%

50%

100%

2021 2022 2023 2024

Service Level Service Level (all agencies) Target

Service Level - Core v/s Non-Core hrs.
Core hrs: 7 AM - 9 PM

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%

Core Hours

Non-Core Hours

77%

70%

Service Level by Hour of Day

60%

80%

12
AM

1
AM

2
AM

3
AM

4
AM

5
AM

6
AM

7
AM

8
AM

9
AM

10
AM

11
AM

12
PM

1 PM 2 PM 3 PM 4 PM 5 PM 6 PM 7 PM 8 PM 9 PM 10
PM

11
PM

Service Level Target

Service Level Trend - YoY
Between 01-Jan-2021 - 31-Dec-2024. Past years include 12 months data.

0%

50%

2021 2022 2023 2024

Summary
At 75%, 2024 had the highest Service Level and was 74.42% higher than 2022, which had the lowest Service Level at 43%.
Service Level and total Service Level (all agencies) are positively correlated with each other.
Across all 4 Year, Service Level ranged from 43% to 75%, Service Level (all agencies) ranged from 44% to 80%, and Target ranged from 80% to 80%.
Target and Service Level diverged the most when the Hour of Day was 11 PM, when Target were 30% higher than Service Level.
2024 had the highest Service Level at 75%, followed by 2023, 2021, and 2022.

Last Closed MonthMonthlyQuarter to dateYear to dateYear to dateNon-Emergency
Agency

New West Police
New Westminster

Police Agency Dashboard

Agency Dashboard - Power BI https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/5c027c80-9c15-4447-ac44-6f154c3e6457/reports/d1...

1 of 2 2025/01/06, 1:47 PM



Last refreshed at: 06-Jan-2025 07:08 AM

Calls Offered Trend - YtD
YtD for each year, between 2021 and 2024. Past years include same completed months of this year.

0K

10K

20K

30K

2021 2022 2023 2024

Calls Offered Trend - YoY
Between 01-Jan-2021 - 31-Dec-2024. Past years include 12 months data.

0K

20K

2021 2022 2023 2024

Summary
At 27,163, 2021 had the highest Call Offered and was 68.67% higher than 2024, which had the lowest Call Offered at 16,104.
2021 had the highest Call Offered at 27,163, followed by 2022, 2023, and 2024.
Across all 4 Year, Call Offered ranged from 16,104 to 27,163.
2021 accounted for 31.83% of Calls Offered.
Calls Answered and total Calls Abandoned are positively correlated with each other.
Core Hours in Time 4 PM made up 14.75% of Calls Answered.

Last Closed MonthMonthlyQuarter to dateYear to dateYear to dateEmergency Non-Emergency
Agency

New West Police
New Westminster

Police Agency Dashboard

Calls Offered Breakdown by Hour of Day

0K

1K

2K

12
AM

1
AM

2
AM

3
AM

4
AM

5
AM

6
AM

7
AM

8
AM

9
AM

10
AM

11
AM

12
PM

1
PM

2
PM

3
PM

4
PM

5
PM

6
PM

7
PM

8
PM

9
PM

10
PM

11
PM

Non-Core Hours Core Hours Non-Core …

0K 0K 0K 0K 0K 0K 0K 1K
0K 0K 0K 0K 0K 0K 0K 0K

2K
2K 1K 1K 1K 1K 1K 1K

Calls Answered Calls Abandoned Callback Requested

Agency Dashboard - Power BI https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/5c027c80-9c15-4447-ac44-6f154c3e6457/reports/d1...

1 of 2 2025/01/06, 1:49 PM



Last refreshed at: 06-Jan-2025 07:08 AM

CAD Event Type Count - YtD
Between 27-May-2024 - 31-Dec-2024

0 50 100 150 200

UNWANT
THEFT

CHECK
PROP

ASSGP
DISTB

FRAUD
PARK

SUSPP
MISCH
TRAFF
SUSPC
MISSIP

THREAT
HAZARD
THEFTV
ASSOA

BNE
HARASS
KPEACE

MVIHR
SUSPV

ASLT
SHOPL

231
216

158
133

97
73

66
62
62

57
55

48
36

32
27
26
25
25
25
25
25
24

19
16

Call Outcome Count - YtD
Between 08-May-2024 - 31-Dec-2024

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000

File Created – NER
Other

Referral - Follow-up w/Officer
File Updated

Not A Police Matter
Escalation - Police

Referral - Front Counter/R…
Advised Only

Referral - Other Police Age…
Escalation – Fire or Ambul…

Callback Unsuccessful
Referral - City Services

Referral - ICBC
Referral - Tow Company

Referral - Anti Fraud/Bank
Referral - Animal

Referral - Dial-A-Law
File Cancellation Request

No Wrap-up Code
Referral - Residential Tena…

Referral - Other
File Created – Emergency

Problem - Rude/Abusive/T…
Info Pending

2,048
714

624
505

462
296

267
235

167
150

72
67

52
46
34
30
18
14
14
14
12
11
8
7

Year to date Quarter to date Last Closed Month
NOTE: This page only contains 
details for Non-Emergency calls.

Agency

New West Police
New Westminster

Police Agency Dashboard

Agency Dashboard - Power BI https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/5c027c80-9c15-4447-ac44-6f154c3e6457/reports/d1...

1 of 2 2025/01/06, 1:50 PM



 

E-Comm November Update for Police and Local Government Partners 1 

E-COMM NOVEMBER UPDATE FOR POLICE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT PARTNERS 
 
We are writing to share with you our monthly update on key activities at E-Comm to strengthen and 
improve our services on behalf of our police partners and the public we serve. Please feel free to share 
this update publicly, and to forward to E-Comm any requests to be added to our distribution. 
 

Service Levels to October 31  
• 9-1-1 service levels continue to exceed target – Year-to-date (YTD) 9-1-1 service levels to the 

end of October remain high at 98% (target: 95% of calls answered within 5 seconds), and 9-1-1 
call volumes exceeded 1.7 million provincewide – down from 2023’s record-breaking volume 
driven by an Android operating system glitch, but on par with 2021 and 2022 call volumes.  

 

• Above-target service levels for police emergency call taking – YTD police emergency call-taking 
service levels also exceeded targets (88% of calls answered within 10 seconds), both in the 
Lower Mainland (91%), and on Vancouver Island (90%), despite police emergency call volumes 
being higher than in previous years, other than 2023’s anomalous spike.  

 

• Improved answer times, decrease in abandoned rates for police non-emergency calls – Police 
non-emergency (NER) call taking service levels remain strong YTD at 79% in the Lower Mainland 
and on-target (80% of calls answered within 3 minutes) on Vancouver Island. The average speed 
to answer for NER calls is down YTD, from approximately 4 minutes in 2023 to 2 minutes. And 
the YTD abandoned call rate has dropped from 31% to 16%. The abandoned call rate decreases 
further to 11% during peak volume hours, when our new Genesys call system provides 
estimated wait times and call-back options for callers. Of those callers who request a call-back, 
84% are successfully reached and able to file a report. 

 
Other Transformation Updates 

• Dedicated team continues to strengthen non-emergency service - In October we welcomed our 
seventh intake of new police NER call takers to fill vacancies, including those from NER call 
takers being promoted to answer emergency calls. The team, along with other improvements 
like the new Genesys call system, is helping to improve service for the public.    

 

• Dispatch trainees begin with peer coaches - Our newest dispatch trainees have moved forward 
to on-the-job training with peer coaches, after successfully completing the revamped training 
program incorporating in-class instruction and e-learning. E-Comm presented our modernized 
training approach to emergency communications professionals across Canada at the Association 
of Public-Safety Communications Officials (APCO) conference in November.  

 

• Launch of new self-service dashboard for police agencies – As part of an ongoing initiative to 
modernize our data and analytics capabilities, a new interactive dashboard has been finalized 
and rolled out to our policing partners. This allows our police agency partners direct access to 
key metrics such as service levels, call answer times, call volumes, and more, for both 
emergency and non-emergency calls.   
 

• Ongoing outreach to shareholders and partners on governance and financial model – We 
continue to actively meet with shareholder organizations and agency partners on our proposed 
governance and financial model changes.  
 



 

E-Comm November Update for Police and Local Government Partners 2 

 



 

E-Comm December Update for Police and Local Government Partners 1

E-COMM DECEMBER UPDATE FOR POLICE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT PARTNERS 
 
We are writing to share with you our monthly update on key activities at E-Comm to strengthen and 
improve our services on behalf of our police partners and the public we serve. Please feel free to share 
this update publicly, and to forward to E-Comm any requests to be added to our distribution. 
 
All service levels met or exceeded year-to-November 30 

 Strong service levels for 9-1-1, police emergency call taking – From January to November 30th, 
E-Comm exceeded service levels for police emergency call-taking in the Lower Mainland at 91% 
and 90% on Vancouver Island (service level target of 88% of calls answered in 10 seconds), 9-1-1 
call-taking service levels were at 98% for January to November (target: 95% calls in 5 seconds).  
 

 Significant decrease in abandoned call rate for non-emergency – In the Lower Mainland, the 
YTD abandoned call rate for non-emergency was 15%, which represents a decrease of over half 
from 2023 levels, and is the lowest level recorded for this period in 4 years. Our average speed 
to answer non-emergency calls in the Lower Mainland is now 2 minutes YTD, a drop of 50% from 
2023. Service levels for non-emergency call-taking remain on target.  

 
Provincial announcement  

 Minister announces independent review – On December 5, B.C.’s Minister of Public Safety and 
Solicitor General announced the Province is initiating an independent review of E-Comm’s 
governance, financial and operational models. E-Comm has long supported calls by UBCM, local 
governments, police chiefs and others for the Province to take a larger role in the governance 
and funding of 9-1-1 services in B.C. We welcome this step as an opportunity for the Province to 
gain a deeper understanding of E-Comm and identify options to further strengthen emergency 
communications in B.C. E-Comm will continue all services and strategic priorities underway 
during the review period, and will keep our agency partners updated as the review progresses. 

 
Operations Transformation  

 Strengthening our workforce – Last month we welcomed new non-emergency and emergency 
call takers to fill vacancies largely as a result of internal promotions. Most new hires in Q3 have 
been Operations positions (84%), and Technology (11%) in support of our service level 
commitments and building technology resiliency.  
 

 Planning for digital advancement – Work is continuing to develop a digital strategy roadmap for 
our Operations department, which will determine how to best leverage technology and data 
advancements to support staff in serving callers and first responders.  
 

 Non-emergency call-taking for WVPD – E-Comm will resume non-emergency call-taking for 
West Vancouver Police on January 14, 2025. This change follows a request from West 
Vancouver to return to E-Comm for non-emergency after transitioning service to Transit Police 
in 2022. The transition is expected to be a smooth integration, as WVPD’s call volumes are 
relatively low and E-Comm already provides their emergency call-taking and dispatch services.  
 

 FIFA 2026 planning underway – We officially launched our FIFA 2026 project focused on 
internal planning and preparations as a member of the Vancouver Host City Integrated Safety & 
Security Unit (ISSU). We are working on assessing operational and staffing needs alongside our 
public safety partners, with the shared goal of ensuring a safe and successful event.  



 

E-Comm December Update for Police and Local Government Partners 2

 



 
 
 

 
 
 

   
 

Acting Chief Paul Hyland                            December 13, 2024 
New Westminster Police Department 
555 Columbia Street 
New Westminster, BC, V3L 1B2 
 

 
Dear Acting Chief Hyland, 
 
Re: Constable Alina Baugh-Allen and Constable Leigh Hodak  
2024 Canadian Cancer Society Cops for Cancer Tour de Coast 
 
On behalf of the Canadian Cancer Society, the Tour de Coast Steering Committee and Crew, the 

riders and the Camp Goodtimes families, thank you for supporting Cops for Cancer Tour de Coast. We 

could not have reached this milestone – 25 years of making a difference for children and families 
living with and beyond cancer without the strong commitment and dedication shown by the law 
enforcement and emergency services community – Thank you! 
 
Cops for Cancer funds are directed to pediatric cancer research and Camp Goodtimes. Our 
team of 24 law enforcement and emergency services personnel supported by 20 crew members rode 

nearly 800km, making over 118 stops including 26 schools and 18 communities in 8 days – putting 
us on track to raise $620,000. These funds will fuel new research discoveries, bring hope to 
children facing a cancer diagnosis and touch the lives of those who are living with and beyond cancer.   
 
Many children and siblings with a cancer diagnosis do not have many opportunities to interact with 
others who share similar experiences. This can create a sense of isolation that no one wants for any 
child. This summer, thanks to supporters like New Westminster Police Department, Camp Goodtimes 

was able to provide 496 camp experiences over 6 weeks in July and August where children, teens 
and their families participated in outdoor activities that promote self-esteem and personal growth. 
 

“The most important part of the Camp Goodtimes program is building relationships 
between kids who are or were in the same situations – giving them a pause to enjoy being 
a kid and to forget what they are going through.” – 2024 Kids Camp Parent 

 
“This camp has helped my daughter’s relationship with her cancer experience so much. 
The staff and volunteers have watched her grow up and now outgrow her programs. She 
comes home every year with a huge smile on her face and amazing stories to tell. Thank 
you for letting her always be who she is.” – 2024 Kids Camp Parent 
 
We truly appreciate your support in allowing Alina Baugh-Allen and Leigh Hodak to participate in the 

2024 Canadian Cancer Society’s Cops for Cancer Tour de Coast. We are also grateful to have had 
wonderful crew member Sheldon Frayle from NWPD join the tour. Without your continued support, 
the accomplishments and contributions made by these valued team and crew members would not 
have been possible. This year, NWPD riders and crew members fundraised over $22,200 for 
the Cops for Cancer Tour de Coast.  
 

Being a rider for Cops for Cancer is both physically and emotionally challenging. Alina Baugh-Allen 

and Leigh Hodak dedicated over 7 months to fundraising and training to make a difference.  
 
Thank you again for your support of Alina Baugh-Allen and Leigh Hodak. Today, 84% of children 
diagnosed with cancer will survive. With the help of Cops for Cancer, we hope to increase the survival 
rate and ensure children have a good quality of life during and after cancer treatment. The research 
and services provided are all made possible by caring and committed individuals such as the 

members of NWPD. We hope that we can count on your continued support in the years to come.  
 
Please forward our thanks to the riders and crew members’ supervisors and co-workers. We are all 
very proud of their commitment to the cause and of all their accomplishments. 



 
 

  

 
Sincerely, 
 

                                    
 
 

 
 

 
 

Samantha Falconer  Tess Landry               Mike Wheeler 
Specialist          Committee Co-Chair        Committee Co-Chair 
Canadian Cancer Society          Cops for Cancer Tour de Coast       Cops for Cancer Tour de Coast 
     

 

 



 

 

 

November 28, 2024 

 

BCACP Statement on Decriminalization. Advocating for a Health-Led Approach 

The British Columbia Association of Chiefs of Police (BCACP) stands in alignment with the 
Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police (CACP) in its position on decriminalization and its role in 
addressing the ongoing toxic drug crisis. 

The BCACP recognizes that tackling the complex issue of substance use requires a comprehensive, 
health-led approach that prioritizes diversion from the criminal justice system. We have 
consistently supported initiatives that focus on connecting individuals with the health care, 
treatment, and support they need to address the root causes of addiction and substance use 
disorders. 

While the BCACP was open to the notion of decriminalization as one potential tool to achieve these 
goals, recent developments have prompted a re-evaluation of its effectiveness in the current 
context. Based on evidence and ongoing evaluation, we no longer view decriminalization as a 
primary mechanism for addressing the systemic challenges associated with substance use. 

Instead, the BCACP strongly advocates for increased investment in health services, enhanced 
diversion programs and collaborative partnerships with government agencies, health authorities, 
and community organizations to implement solutions that balance public safety with public health. 

Police in British Columbia remain deeply committed to protecting public safety and supporting 
healthier, safer communities. While enforcement remains a necessary component of addressing 
certain aspects of the toxic drug crisis, the BCACP is resolute in its belief that lasting solutions 
require a health-first approach. 

We echo the call for an evidence-based national dialogue on the challenges of substance use, 
including the lessons learned from early decriminalization efforts. Together, we must refine 
strategies that ensure individuals receive the help they need while preserving public trust and 
community safety. 

 

C/Superintendent Wendy Mehat 
President, BC Association of Chiefs of Police 
 

 



 

 

November 27, 2024 

Statement: Decriminalization for Simple Possession of Illicit Drugs 

As a result of the experience in British Columbia associated to the January 2023 three-year 

exemption under the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act that decriminalized the possession 

of small amounts of certain illicit drugs for personal use in British Columbia, the CACP Board 

no longer supports the decriminalization of any amount of illicit drugs for personal use. 

Since the exemption came into effect, police have witnessed trends of concern, including a 

continued high rate of opioid overdose deaths as well as growing fear among law-abiding 

community members due to public drug use and drug-related criminal activity. 

While robust, evidence-based healthcare, addiction, and social programs are vital, drug 

enforcement remains an essential tool to address the public safety risks linked to illicit drug 

use. Beyond mitigating drug-related crime, police-led enforcement can serve as a gateway to 

treatment through pre-charge/post-charge diversion and judicially supervised treatment 

programs for individuals in need of critical medical and social services. 

The CACP’s leadership strongly urges the Federal Government to collaborate with provinces 

to adopt a comprehensive systems-based approach. This should include significantly 

expanding inpatient care as well as improving access to effective and sustainable treatment 

and social services programming that ensures individuals who require essential mental 

health and addictions care receive immediate and ongoing assistance.  

We call on the Federal Government to reconsider its current approach and to engage law 

enforcement, healthcare providers, and community stakeholders in developing more 

effective mental health and addictions solutions. Protecting the safety and well-being of all 

Canadians must remain the highest priority. 

 

Commissioner Tom Carrique 

President, Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police  





LIGHTHOUSES have long been used to provide comfort and indicate obstacles to sailors navigating 
British Columbia’s rugged coastline. Their beacons shine a light in all directions, signalling a welcome to 
everyone in the vicinity. Throughout history, it was lighthouse keepers and staff who kept a lookout for 
those in need of help or in distress. 

It is the Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner’s goal to offer a safe harbour to those who engage 
in the complaints process and to be a beacon of effective and accessible civilian oversight, seeking 
accountability and building trust in policing.

COVER PHOTO: Fisgard Lighthouse is located at the Fort Rodd Hill National Historic Site near Victoria. Before 
European arrival, Fort Rodd Hill served as a lək̓ʷəŋən (Lekwungen or Lekungen) village and camas cultivation site. 
We understand Parks Canada has joined with the Songhees and Esquimalt First Nations in recent years to protect 
the camas meadows and their surrounding ecosystem as well as celebrate Coast Salish history. 



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 1

Table of Contents

Commissioner’s Message....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 2

The Year in Numbers ............................................................................................................................................................................................................... 4

About Our Work: Advancing Public Confdence and Trust in Policing ...................................................................................................................... 6

Where We Work....................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 8

How We Work.........................................................................................................................................................................................................................10

Complaints and Investigations in 2023/2024: Intake, Assessment and Investigation........................................................................................12

Supporting and Seeking Reconciliation with Indigenous Peoples ...........................................................................................................................13

OPCC’s Reconciliation Journey .............................................................................................................................................................................................................14

Outreach and Education ......................................................................................................................................................................................................15

Surrey Police Model Transition ...........................................................................................................................................................................................18

Why Our Work Matters ........................................................................................................................................................................................................19

Diculties o Police Work – Serious Incident Response .............................................................................................................................................................22

Restorative Healing Circles....................................................................................................................................................................................................................24

Harassment in the Workplace ..............................................................................................................................................................................................................26

Police Use o Force – Police Service Dogs ........................................................................................................................................................................................29

Alternative Dispute Resolution: A People-Centred and Accountable Process......................................................................................................31

Recommendations .................................................................................................................................................................................................................34

USE OF FORCE REPORTING
Recommendation to the Vancouver Police Board: Accounting or items or practices o
cultural signicance in use o orce scenarios .................................................................................................................................................................................35

WORKPLACE CULTURE ISSUES
Recommendation to the Vancouver Police Board: Review investigation into workplace culture issues in the Marine Unit ..............................36

SUDDEN DEATH INVESTIGATIONS
Recommendation to the Vancouver Police Board: Review o sudden death investigation policy and training
to ensure proper police response to sudden deaths .....................................................................................................................................................................37

SURVEILLANCE TRAINING PRACTICES
Recommendation to the Vancouver Police Board: Review o Vancouver Police Department policy or
conducting surveillance training on private property...................................................................................................................................................................38

MEDIA EXCLUSION ZONE
Recommendation to the Vancouver Police Board: Review o restrictions on media access during a decampment operation ........................39

POLICE INTERACTIONS WITH PERSONS IN VULNERABLE CIRCUMSTANCES
Recommendation to the Vancouver Police Board: Establishing written guidance governing police interactions
with persons in vulnerable circumstances .......................................................................................................................................................................................40

COMMISSIONING EXTERNAL REPORTS
Recommendation to the Vancouver Police Board: Review o the approval processes and criteria or
commissioning reports by outside rms ...........................................................................................................................................................................................41

Reform of the Police Act.......................................................................................................................................................................................................42

More of Our Story in Numbers............................................................................................................................................................................................43

Stafng and Budget ..............................................................................................................................................................................................................56

Further Resources ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................57



We would like to acknowledge that the work of the 
Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner takes place 

across unique and diverse traditional Indigenous territories 
and respects the many territorial keepers of this place we now 

call British Columbia. We thank the lək̓ ʷəŋən (Lekwungen) 
people, also known as the Songhees and Esquimalt First 
Nations communities, past, present and future, for their 

stewardship, care, and leadership on the land on which our 
main office is located in downtown Victoria.

On behalf of our Office and our staff, we express extreme 
gratitude for being able to live and work on this beautiful 
land. We’re all committed to our own personal journey to

bring our Office closer to understanding and incorporating 
Indigenous history and culture into our work as we 

strive towards true reconciliation.





OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/20242

Civilian oversight over municipal policing plays a critical
role in ensuring accountability or police misconduct in
British Columbia. I am now well into the rst year o my
ve-year term as Police Complaint Commissioner. I have
had many conversations with interest holders who have
expressed a shared commitment to an independent, air,
and impartial oversight system that genuinely listens to the
voices o those impacted and seeks to ensure public trust
in policing.

I recognize that policing is important and dicult work,
oten occurring in dynamic and potentially dangerous
situations. It is my job, and that o my oce, to aithully
conduct a neutral and objective inquiry into questionable
police conduct that has come to our attention through a
public complaint or rom a police department.

An annual report looks back at achievements o the past
year but also considers what lies ahead. I am grateul to
past commissioners or their work in making the Oce
o the Police Complaint Commissioner (OPCC) a gold
standard in police oversight and well situated to take on
uture challenges. Given that my predecessor, Clayton
Pecknold, led the OPCC or almost all o 2023/2024,
I asked him or his refections. Former Commissioner
Pecknold kindly provided me with the ollowing:

Commissioner’s
Message

Fiscal year 2023/2024 continued the uncertainty
brought by the transition of the City of Surrey from an
RCMP policing model to a municipal model. Planning
within the OPCC had been underway for several years
prior and has been the basis for several funding requests.
The Surrey Police Board was appointed in 2020 and
began recruiting and hiring municipal police ofcers,
which consequently engaged the jurisdiction of the
OPCC in efforts to ensure we were prepared.

Organisationally, beyond the day-to-day mandate and
the Surrey transition and its impacts, our ocus was
on continued health and wellness of staff coming out
of reverberations of the pandemic and the increasing
stress associated with workloads. Initiatives included
internal engagement and strategic planning work
continued rom 2022, the Case Tracking System, and
the planning for and execution of the physical relocation
o our head ofce in the early summer 2023.

As we neared Fall 2023, we continued our
engagement with government on Police Act
amendments, both short term and medium term. For
example, sta and I were heavily engaged in advocacy
since the 2019 Special Committee report in support of
granting both systemic powers and enhanced public
hearing powers to the OPCC. In Spring 2024, the
government passed these amendments along with
a host of other measures that should improve the
municipal policing discipline process.



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 3

In addition, I met with the consultants hired or
engagement on uture long-term reorm o the
provincial oversight model and provided insight into
the complex considerations and interplay between the
various mandates (see last year’s Annual Report).

Finally, as this was the last year o my fve-year
term and the Legislature was engaged in a search
process, my ocus in the last quarter o the year was
on ensuring staff health and morale in the face of
continued change. As well, an equal ocus was to
ensure the organisation was prepared for continuity
and delivery of mandate while the new PCC assumed
the role. I believe the ofce was well poised or the
transition and ready for the challenges ahead.

The Police Act was amended in April 2024 to provide
additional powers to the OPCC. My oce is now able to
investigate systemic causes o complaints and systemic
problems with the discipline process, potentially resulting
in recommendations or change that might prevent uture
police misconduct. I strongly believe that it is in the public
interest to identiy issues proactively rather than simply
reacting to issues after they occur.

The OPCC has been given broader statutory authority to
improve the accessibility and experiences with the complaints
system. I am currently engaged in extensive community and
policing outreach to better understand any challenges in the
OPCC’s process and in the awareness and perception omy
oce. This includes meetings with Indigenous communities
and leadership, support agencies, advocacy groups, police
departments, and police associations. It is critical that we
make the work o the OPCCmore transparent while also
ensuring that we understand the unique barriers aced by
those in society who are vulnerable and marginalized.

While it is an important part o our mandate to process
complaints and oversee investigations, we must also
improve and prioritize our ability to resolve matters without
requiring a lengthy investigative and decision-making
process. I am ocused on designing a conciliation-based
approach that leads to earlier, accountable outcomes while
also improving relations and trust between communities
and their police departments.

I accept the existence o systemic racism in the justice
system, as it impacts Indigenous Peoples and racialized
communities in British Columbia. The OPCC is a product o
this system. I am supportive o institutional changes that
will make the police oversight system more responsive to
the distinct experiences o vulnerable groups who wish to
access our process in culturally relevant and sae manners.

I urther acknowledge the harmul and ongoing impacts
o colonialism on Indigenous Peoples. This must be a
starting point in truly understanding and working towards
ameliorating the relationship between the police and
Indigenous Peoples. The OPCC is committed to ongoing
learning in its journey towards

I am thankul or the dedication, expertise, and passion
o the excellent sta working at the OPCC. I am looking
orward to the OPCC’s journey and the evolution o civilian
oversight in this province.

Prabhu Rajan
Police Complaint Commissioner

“I have had many conversations with interest
holders who have expressed a shared
commitment to an independent, fair, and
impartial oversight system that genuinely listens
to the voices of those impacted and seeks to
ensure public trust in policing.”



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/20244

1518 1488

2023/20242022/2023

-30

Files Opened
There are a number o dierent types o les the OPCC opens. There are police
complaints, ordered investigations, serious harm investigations, questions or concerns,
service or policy complaints, monitor les, and internal discipline les.

In 2023/2024, the OPCC opened 1,488 les. This is a decrease o 30 rom last year.
Most o these les are police complaints, which are opened when the OPCC receives
a complaint rom a member o the public about a police ocer’s behaviour.

706 685

2023/20242022/2023

-21

Police Complaints Received
The public can le complaints about a police ocer’s conduct or actions. The OPCC reviews
all complaints to determine whether there will be an investigation. All investigations are
conducted by the police under the oversight o the OPCC.

In 2023/2024, the OPCC received 685 complaints rom the public about police ocer
conduct, a decrease o 21 rom last year.

256 290

2023/20242022/2023

+34

Police Complaints – Total Assigned for Investigation or
Resolution Attempt
In 2023/2024, the OPCC assigned a total o 290 admissible police complaints to
investigation or resolution—an increase of 34 from last year.

72
64

2023/20242022/2023

-8

Independently Ordered Investigations
The Commissioner can initiate investigations into a police ocer’s conduct or actions,
even i there is no complaint led by the public. Police departments can also ask the
Commissioner to initiate an investigation into the conduct o one o their police ocers.

In 2023/2024, the Commissioner initiated 64 investigations into police ocer conduct, a
decrease o 8 rom last year. A total o 45 o these investigations were requested by the
involved police department.

The Year in Numbers



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 5

445
438

2023/20242022/2023

-7

Reportable Injuries
Police departments are required to notiy the OPCC when an incident involving police results
in an injury requiring transport to hospital or emergency care. The OPCC reviews all injuries
to determine whether an investigation into the police ocer’s conduct is required.

In 2023/2024, the OPCC received 438 reportable injury notications, a decrease o 7
rom last year. O those injuries, a signicant number o injuries resulted rom less-lethal
rearms (ARWEN and bean bag shotguns), empty-hand techniques, and dog bites.

-6

30
24

2023/20242022/2023

Mandatory Serious Harm Investigations
The OPCC must order a mandatory external investigation into any incident resulting in
serious harm or death. These investigations are separate and distinct rom investigations
by the Independent Investigations Oce (IIO) and are not restricted to evidence gathered
by the IIO. These investigations will assess all o the circumstances including, but not
limited to, any training, policy considerations, or misconduct allegations.

In 2023/2024, the OPCC ordered 24 serious harm investigations, a decrease o 6 rom
last year.

-1

16 15

2023/20242022/2023

Adjudicative Reviews
I the Commissioner disagrees with a decision made by a senior ocer about whether a
police ocer committed misconduct or the disciplinary or corrective measure imposed,
then the Commissioner can appoint a retired judge to review the matter. There are three
types o reviews: Section 117 Reviews, Reviews on the Record, and Public Hearings.

In 2023/2024, the OPCC disagreed with the decision o a senior ocer and appointed a
retired judge in 15 matters, a decrease o 1 rom last year.

+13

10

23

2023/20242022/2023

Service or Policy Complaints
The public can le complaints about the policies or services being provided by a police
department. These complaints are the responsibility o the department’s police board. The
police board is required to advise the OPCC o their course o action. The Commissioner
may also make recommendations to the police board.

In 2023/2024, the OPCC received 23 complaints about the policies or services being
provided at a police department, an increase o 13 rom last year.

+4

3

7

2023/20242022/2023

Recommendations Made to Police Board or Director of
Police Services
The Commissioner has the ability to make recommendations to police boards on matters
o policy and procedures and can recommend that the Director o Police Services or the
Minister exercise their authority to examine training, cultural, or systemic issues that may
have contributed to misconduct or which may prevent its recurrence.

In 2023/2024, the Commissioner made recommendations on seven matters to police boards.
Examples o recommendations included use o orce reporting, workplace culture, sudden
death investigations, and police interactions with persons in vulnerable circumstances.





OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 7

WhatWe Do
• Provide an accessible way or people to voice concerns

about the conduct o any municipal police ocer or
department.

• Oversee and monitor complaints and investigations into
police misconduct involving municipal police and special
municipal constables in BC.

• Oversee the administration o discipline and proceedings
under the Police Act and ensure that the purposes o the
legislation are achieved.

HowWe Do OurWork
Fairness

• Determine the admissibility o complaints received
rom the public.

• Initiate investigations.

• Actively monitor and oversee police misconduct
investigations, providing advice and direction as
necessary.

• Reer matters or independent adjudicative review.

• Reer matters to Crown Counsel or consideration o
prosecution, when appropriate.

Transparency

• Maintain records o all police complaints1 and Police
Act investigations involving municipal police ocers
and the investigation outcomes.

• Compile statistical inormation, including trends, and
report regularly to the public about complaints and
investigations. Additional inormation about the work
o the OPCC can be accessed at https://opcc.bc.ca/

Public Engagement and Education

• Engage public organizations and policing interest
holders and provide education on the police complaint
process.

• Inorm on the benets o dispute resolution processes.

• Identiy and address barriers to the police complaint
process through outreach eorts.

Prevention and Systemic Responses

• Make recommendations to police boards or to
government to address policies, practices, or systemic
issues identied in the complaint process.

Independence

• Neutrally assist any participant in the police complaint
process, including complainants, police ocers,
Discipline Authorities, police boards, and adjudicators
appointed under the Police Act.

Our Goals

• To strengthen police accountability.

• To provide an accessible, eective, and understandable
police complaint process.

• To improve organizational perormance.

• To promote people wellness and development.

Our Team
Driving our work is a team o committed proessionals with
diverse experience and expertise, including law, regulatory
elds, policing, criminology, public administration, social
policy, client service, communications, business analysis,
and academia, and who believe in the undamental
importance o civilian oversight o the police complaints
process.

Our intake service is typically the public’s rst point o contact
with the OPCC. They help people understand the process
and connect complainants who are seeking assistance in
navigating the process with support agencies.

Our “No Wrong Door” approach means that even when
the complaint alls outside o our jurisdiction, our intake
team helps complainants nd the appropriate avenue or
redress. This prevents complainants getting discouraged
when submitting a complaint that requires additional
administrative steps. Last year, 286 enquiries were
redirected by our skilled and compassionate ront-line
sta, o which 152 were related to the RCMP.

Once a complaint has been initiated, our team o
analysts works to ensure that the Police Act and its
associated processes are ollowed correctly. Our sta
have a comprehensive understanding o the Police Act
and the discipline process, as well as policing practices,
policies and procedures. [For more, see Stang and
Budget, page 56]

1 O note, previous OPCC annual reports have included reerences
to "registered complaints"; this term has been replaced by "police
complaints".



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/20248 OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/20248

Stl'atl'imx Tribal
Police Service

1

Nelson Police Department12

7

8

5

4

11

14
15

6

2

9

10

Oak Bay Police Department

Victoria Police Department

Central Saanich Police Service

Delta Police Department

Surrey Police Service

Vancouver Police
Department

West Vancouver Police Department

Port Moody Police Department
New Westminster Police Department

Abbotsord Police
Department

CFSEU (Organized
Crime Agency o BC)

Saanich Police Department

Metro Vancouver Transit Police

3

13

Map refers to Police
Complaint and Ordered
Investigation Statistics on
the following page.

OPCCOversight
The OPCC oversees complaints related to the work o municipal police ocers, special municipal constables, and ocers
serving on other police agencies throughout British Columbia. As detailed in the map that ollows, 12 municipal police
departments all under our jurisdiction, as well as the Metro Vancouver Transit Police, Stl’atl’imx Tribal Police Service, and
the CFSEU (Organized Crime Agency o British Columbia).

Where WeWork



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 9OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 9

1 Stl'atl'imx Tribal Police Service

POLICE COMPLAINTS 4 a

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 3 

2 West Vancouver Police Department

POLICE COMPLAINTS 11 

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 1 a

3 Vancouver Police Department

POLICE COMPLAINTS 306 a

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 30 a

4 Port Moody Police Department

POLICE COMPLAINTS 13 a

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 0 a

5 New Westminster Police Department

POLICE COMPLAINTS 19 a

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 2 A

6 Delta Police Department

POLICE COMPLAINTS 26 

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 1 a

7 Central Saanich Police Service

POLICE COMPLAINTS 5 a

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 1 

8 Saanich Police Department

POLICE COMPLAINTS 36 

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 1 

9 Oak Bay Police Department

POLICE COMPLAINTS 1 a

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 0 A

10 Victoria Police Department

POLICE COMPLAINTS 68 a

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 5 a

11 Abbotsford Police Department

POLICE COMPLAINTS 69 

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 5 a

12 Nelson Police Department

POLICE COMPLAINTS 9 

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 1 a

13 Metro Vancouver Transit Police

POLICE COMPLAINTS 23 a

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 3 a

14 CFSEU (Organized Crime Agency o BC)

POLICE COMPLAINTS 1 a

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 0 a

15 Surrey Police Service

POLICE COMPLAINTS 83 

ORDERED INVESTIGATIONS 9 

 INCREASE FROM 2022/2023

A NO CHANGE FROM 2022/2023

a DECREASE FROM 2022/2023

Police Complaint and Ordered Investigation
Statistics by Department (2023/2024)



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202410

How
WeWork

Complaint Submitted

Online, mail, email, in person,
phone, police department

Report containing all
investigative materials.

Reviewed by OPCC to
ensure the investigation is
thorough and complete.

Completed by police
with civilian oversight by

the OPCC.

Method or parties to
resolve a complaint.

Involves the participation
o a complainant and the
police ocer in arriving at
a meaningful resolution of

the complaint.

Discipline Authority will
determine whether there

is the appearance a
police ocer committed

misconduct.

Final
Investigation

Report

Complaint
Investigations

Complaint
Resolution

Intake

Decision

A Discipline Authority is generally a senior
ranking police ocer who is required to make
a determination regarding the investigation
and discipline o police ocers alleged to have
committed misconduct.

The OPCC actively reviews
investigations and can provide advice or
direction on required investigative steps
to ensure investigations are thorough.

The PCC can appoint external police
agencies to investigate complaints. The
PCC can initiate investigations without a
complaint.

Investigations must be completed within
six months unless the OPCC extends the
deadline.

For a complaint to be
admissible, it must
contain three criteria:

• An allegation o police
misconduct as dened
under section 77 o the
Police Act.

• It must be led
within one year o
when the incident
occurred (unless the
Police Complaint
Commissioner grants
an extension).

• It must not be rivolous
or vexatious.

Admissibility assessment

All complaints are reviewed by the OPCC to determine
whether there will be an investigation



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 11

The Police Complaint Commissioner may also reer matters to Crown Counsel or consideration
o prosecution, or make recommendations to police boards or to government regarding policies,
practices, or systemic issues that may contribute to the misconduct.

DISCIPLINE PHASE

Matter will proceed to the
Discipline phase.

Conidential, without
prejudice meeting where
proposed disciplinary
or corrective measures
will be discussed and

agreed upon.

I no agreement can
be reached, the matter
will go to a discipline

proceeding.

Hearing involving
evidence rom the police
ocer, the investigator,

and any approved
witnesses.

The Discipline Authority
will make a nding about
whether the police ocer
committed misconduct,
and i so, the appropriate

discipline.

I the PCC determines it is
in the public interest, the
PCC will appoint a retired
judge to review the matter
and arrive at their own
determination. Both o

these processes are open
to the public.

I the Police Complaint
Commissioner disagrees
with the nding o no
misconduct, the Police

Complaint Commissioner
can appoint a retired judge

to review the matter.

While the OPCC reviews all ndings, complainants
may request a review o their complaint i they
disagree with the nding.

Complainants can make
submissions about their
complaint, the adequacy
o the investigation,
and the disciplinary or
corrective measures.

The OPCC can reject proposed
disciplinary or corrective measures i
they are not appropriate or adequate.

I rejected, the matter will go to a
discipline proceeding.

Complainants may request a review o their
complaint i they disagree with the nding.

Police ocers are entitled to a Public Hearing i
the disciplinary measure imposed is dismissal
or reduction in rank. The Police Complaint
Commissioner may arrange a Review on the
Record instead i the circumstances warrant it.

Misconduct Pre Hearing
Conference

Discipline
Proceeding

Public Hearing
or Review on the

Record

No Misconduct



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202412

HowWeWork

Complaints and Investigations in 2023/2024:
Intake, Assessment, and Investigation

*54 Complaint
resolution fles are
pending as of May
31, 2024

*2 Successful
resolutions were
from complaints not
originally streamed
to complaint
resolution

NOTE: not all investigations are active, as
some may be suspended due to concurrent
criminal investigations or prosecutions and
some may not be fully investigated (withdrawn
or discontinued).

1,488
Total les
Opened

64

Ordered
investigations

681

Investigations

24

Mandatory external
investigations
(Serious harm)

131

Assigned to
investigation

422

Investigations rom
previous years
carried over into

2023/2024

685

Police
complaints

290*

Admissible

154

Questions/
Concerns

159

Assigned to
complaint resolution

45

Proceed to
investigation

17

Withdrawn
or discontinued

43*

Successul complaint
resolutions

355

No urther action

23

Service/
Policy complaints

17

Internal
discipline

521

Monitor les

438

Reportable injuries

*3 Police complaints were discontinued under S.89

*26 Police complaints were withdrawn prior to an
admissability determination

*11 Police complaints were pending admissibility
as o May 31, 2024

24 Mandatory external
investigations (Serious
Harm)

12 Ordered investigations

12 Police complaints

2 Internal discipline
Investigations



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 13

Supporting and
Seeking Reconciliation
with Indigenous Peoples

The OPCC’s commitment to lasting and meaningul truth
and reconciliation is implemented within the ramework o
the United Nations Declaration on the Rights o Indigenous
Peoples (UNDRIP), the Truth and Reconciliation Calls
to Action (TRC), the National Inquiry into Missing and
Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls (MMIWG), and
the Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act
(DRIPA). This includes understanding, acknowledging,
and addressing our role in historic and ongoing colonial
practices, deepening our relationships with Indigenous
communities, and undertaking an anti-racism approach to
all acets o our work.

We are committed to these eorts but acknowledge that
we have much work to do in developing and sustaining
trust and positive relationships with Indigenous Peoples,
leadership, organizations, and communities. We continue
to prioritize a multi-year project aimed at improving

The OPCC’s work in police accountability and oversight is inherently connected to Canada’s
legacy o colonialism and the historical traumas between police and Indigenous Peoples,
communities and way o lie. The OPCC is committed to recognizing and understanding the
historical and ongoing wrongs committed against Indigenous Peoples and the legacy o
colonialism, and valuing the resilience o Indigenous cultures and communities.

our Oce’s responsiveness to the needs o Indigenous
Peoples. This past year we received ndings rom an
external consultant supporting our Indigenous Accessibility
Project, which identied key learnings rom participants.
These included opportunities to build better, trusting
relationships, such as:

• Collaborating with Indigenous communities at a ormal
level (e.g., advisory groups);

• Investing in relationship-building exercises with
Indigenous communities, organizations, and sta;

• Substantively increasing outreach in community to
promote services and accessibility;

• Articulating the values o compassion and care to all
complainants in the process;

• Developing accessible public education materials; and

• Addressing over-reliance on mandated orms.

Looking ahead, the Commissioner will be leading more
outreach and engagement in 2024/25 with a ocus on
relationship building with Indigenous leadership groups
and support agencies to benet rom their knowledge,
expertise, and insight. We are committed to building
meaningul relationships and hearing the voices o those
aected by potential policing misconduct and the unique
issues aced by Indigenous community members. This
outreach will also include Indigenous leadership in Surrey
as the community approaches the nal stages o the
transition rom the RCMP to the Surrey Police Service.



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202414

Our Oce is committed to perorming its mandate with
cultural awareness, sensitivity, and agility, and to strengthen
an accessible and culturally sae police complaint process
or diverse Indigenous community members. Over the last
ew years, we have had the privilege o working with an
Indigenous Cultural Saety Advisor who participates on
appropriate investigative les to provide sta with expertise
and advice so we can better oversee investigations and
communicate with Indigenous complainants to ensure we
are not causing urther harm. Our Advisor has also led
workshops with sta at all levels, with a dedicated session
on Foundational Understandings o Indigenous Cultural
Saety and Humility held during 2023/2024.

OPCC leadership is also committed to ongoing Indigenous
cultural saety training or all OPCC sta, including
mandatory San’yas Anti-Racism Indigenous Cultural
Saety Training: Justice course through Indigenous Health
and the Provincial Health Services Authority, as well as the
Using a Trauma-Inormed Approach course through the
Canadian Police Knowledge Network.

In previous reporting periods, sta received presentations
rom the Native Courtworker and Counselling Association
o BC, the BC Aboriginal Network on Disability Society
(BCANDS), and the BC Family Inormation Liaison Unit.
This past year, the OPCC was also involved in the Law
Society o BC Indigenous Engagement in Regulatory
Matters Task Force consultation.

We also arranged and participated in a Complaint
Resolution Workshop with police agencies and an
Indigenous acilitator that included a presentation on
Indigenous culture, understanding the roots o the unique
relations between police and Indigenous peoples, and
Restorative Peace Circles in resolving complaints.

During the annual National Day or Truth and
Reconciliation, we took the opportunity to acknowledge
the truth o residential schools and their damaging legacy
that erased many acets o Indigenous culture, resulted
in the deaths o thousands o Indigenous children, and
caused intergenerational harm to survivors, their amilies,
and communities. For our Victoria sta, this included
learning about the local culture and practices o the
Lək ̓ʷəŋən peoples at the historic Mungo Martin House
located in Thunderbird Park. For our sta on the Lower
Mainland, this included attending a First Nations Cultural
Program on Grouse Mountain to honour the resilience o
Indigenous Peoples.

We are also committed to diversiying the OPCC so that
we are representative o the communities we serve,
including posting career opportunities on Indigenous
job boards. We acknowledge that we must do better in
accessing, identiying, and hiring qualied Indigenous
sta while also ensuring a culturally sae and welcoming
workplace or Indigenous sta.

OPCC’s Reconciliation Journey



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 15

Fullling our mandate means working to make the municipal complaint process
accessible and understandable or all the residents we serve, including the most
vulnerable and marginalized groups in our society. To support our accessibility
eorts, we engage with agencies who support people rom diverse communities and
populations, advocacy groups, and public sector organizations to listen and learn about
barriers individuals ace due to actors including language, gender, sexual orientation,
age, race, disability, and/or socioeconomics.

Community Engagement

In the past year, outreach and education eorts
have ocused on connecting with community-based
organizations throughout our geographic oversight areas
to assist complainants who ace language, identity,
newcomer status, age, disability, and other barriers in
navigating the police complaint process. OPCC sta
connected with more than 50 support agencies, o which
nearly hal are new to working with the OPCC, to increase
awareness o municipal police oversight. We met with
these agencies online or in person on 25 occasions, with 20
o the organizations expressing interest in their sta and
volunteers receiving urther training on municipal police
oversight. This is part o our goal to continue growing our
support agency network and we remain committed to
establishing more relationships in the uture.

OPCC sta have also participated in conerences and
events such as the “Access to Justice” inormation sessions
at Camosun College in Victoria, and regular inormational
seminars on the police complaint process or students in
the University o Victoria’s Faculty o Law.

Outreach
and Education

We have also been updating and translating key
OPCC communication materials to educate and engage
with the multilingual communities we serve. Surveys and
consultations with multicultural agencies have conrmed
that language translations are the most important step
to engaging with communities where English is a second
language and/or members o the community may be
reluctant to exercise their legal rights. We expanded
our translated complaint orms to include Hindi, Filipino,
Spanish, Urdu, and French. General inormation and
complaint resolution brochures used in outreach and
education have also been translated into a total o 13
languages including Hindi, Persian, Filipino, Spanish,
French, Korean, Somali, Vietnamese, Arabic, Punjabi,
Urdu, Traditional Chinese, and Simplied Chinese. These
translated materials are available on our website and
have been distributed to municipal police departments
and community-based support agencies.



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202416

Outreach and Education

Click here to go to the OPCC website
or a list o support agencies. Please note,
not all agencies in the support agency
network are ound on this list.

Support Agency Assistance

Our Intake team oers complainant support in areas such
as documenting complaints, acilitating connections with
community-based supports, and providing reerrals to
specialized resources and inormation or all complainants.

In the past year, Intake and Outreach sta made 30
direct connections between complainants and community
law clinics, organizations serving women experiencing
gendered violence, newcomers, seniors, Indigenous service
providers in urban areas, youth, people with AIDS, and
people with disabilities. These agencies met the evolving
needs o their clients by providing support in activities
including ling their police complaints, providing language
support, attending meetings, providing emotional support,
and preparing written submissions at various stages o the
process on behal o complainants.

In 2023/2024, many o the community agencies listed
provided either inormation or direct assistance to those
seeking to access the police complaint process. We
recognize that sta and volunteers o these organizations
respond to requests or their help and expertise, and we
are grateul or their contributions:

• Archway Community Services
• Atira Women’s Society
• Battered Women’s Support Services (BWSS)
• British Columbia Aboriginal Network on Disability

Society
• Family Inormation Liaison Unit (FILU)
• HIM Health Initiative or Men
• Inclusion BC
• Keeping Families Together
• Law Students’ Legal Advice Program (Vancouver)
• Men’s Therapy Centre
• MOSAIC BC
• Native Courtworker and Counselling Association o BC
• Nelson Cares Society – the Advocacy Centre
• Ribbon Community (ormerly AIDS Vancouver)
• RISE Women’s Legal Centre
• The Law Centre (Victoria)
• Victoria Brain Injury Society
• Victoria Sexual Assault Centre
• Salal Connect – Sexual Violence Support Centre

(Formerly WAVAW)
• Surrey Women’s Centre
• Vancouver Women’s Health Collective



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 17

Government Engagement

The OPCC engaged in consultations with the Province
regarding potential amendments to the Police Act,
improvements to the complaint process, and addressing
system-based barriers. Ultimately, the Act was amended
to provide a new authority or the Commissioner to sel-
initiate systemic investigations, call a Public Hearing earlier
in the process, and make binding procedures to improve
timeliness, eciency, and eectiveness o the complaints
process, including discipline proceedings. For more
inormation, please reer to the Reorm o the Police Act
inormation on page 42.

We also heard rom the Province on initiatives that may
impact the complaints process including at that time,
decriminalization o personal possession o some drugs
under the ederal Controlled Drugs and Substances Act,
and the use o police body-worn cameras amongst some
police agencies in BC.

The OPCC continues to participate on the Advisory
Committee on Provincial Policing Standards and the
Provincial Committee on Diversity and Policing.

OPCC Professional Development

OPCC sta have received dedicated training in
anti-racism, mental health awareness, and other topics.
This included learning rom a community leader on
the importance o diversity, inclusion, and anti-racism
in the context o policing and the oversight o police
complaints. The Canadian Mental Health Association
(CMHA) presented on mental health awareness
related to complainants as well as wellness or our
sta. We learned rom Vancouver Police Department
representatives about their partnership with mental
health proessionals and the Car 87 — Mental Health
Car, as well as rom Health IM™ representatives on their
digital risk assessment system that police may
use when responding to urgent mental health calls
for service.





























OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 31

Alternative Dispute Resolution:
A People-Centred and Accountable
Process
Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) processes oer another path that puts people rst,
bringing complainants and ocers concerned together to nd a meaningul resolution.

The OPCC prioritizes ADR, specically Complaint Resolution, because it has been shown to
be a more eective and timely method o resolving complaints, and provides complainants
with an opportunity to shape how their complaint is addressed. As shown on page 32, a
number o complaints were resolved using ADR during this reporting period.



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202432

ADR in the OPCC complaint
process
Upon ling a complaint against a municipal police
ocer, the complainant has the option to seek resolution
through an ADR process – either Complaint Resolution or
mediation. I the Commissioner agrees, the process begins.

Complaint Resolution means that the complainant
will work with a police investigator under the OPCC’s
oversight to reach a meaningul and accountable
resolution, which is reviewed by our oce. Each
complainant must conrm that they are satised with
the agreement to conclude the process.

Mediations are acilitated by independent proessional
mediators and are completely condential, with the
agreements reached being nal and binding, provided
the issues are resolved in accordance with agreed upon
guidelines.

The Complaint Resolution and mediation processes
empower individuals to play an active role in the process,
resulting in resolutions that are eective and meaningul
or all parties while also ensuring accountability. Open
and honest communication breaks down barriers and
help strengthen the bonds between police ocers and
the communities they serve.

Complaints resolved through ADR

Complaints not resolved through ADR

0

100

50

150

200

250

300

2020/21

83

130

2022/23

65

212

2023/24

53

175

56

155

2019/20 2021/22

57

183

27%23%

23%

24%

39%

Alternative Dispute Resolution
(2019/2020-2023/2024)

*O fles concluded during the fscal year noted

[They] were happy with the outcome
and that the ofcers apologized or how
they treated [them] [They] hope this case
will help inform future police practices.
[They] were appreciative of the role of
the OPCC.



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 33

The Process was Easy
“The investigator was very proessional in all o their
interactions with me. They were very timely in responding
to me, and they were very fexible, oering to come to my
workplace to speak with me.”

“Our discussions went well, [the investigator] was very
proessional, kind, and easy to speak with.”

Felt Understood
“It was good in the sense that [they] (the investigator)
were diligent in [their] communications with me. [They]
took [their] time to really understand my perspective and
concerns, [they] asked a lot o questions.”

“I would like to add my thank-you to the ocers or their
participation and willingness to hear rom me, hear where
I was coming rom. I eel that this has now really been
resolved or me.”

“[The investigators] were proessional, prompt, timely and
very empathetic in [their] communications with me.”

Positive and Accountable Outcomes
“I would say I’m very satised. My overall goal was or the
ocers to have a moment o sel refection. I truly believe
the ocers have taken the time to refect on this incident. I
view this [the process o Complaint Resolution] as having
been a learning opportunity or the ocers.”

“I was very satised. The agreement was well done. I elt
that I had an active part in it, and that I was heard. What I
elt was important was included in the agreement.”

“I I was asked, I would say it [Complaint Resolution] is
absolutely the right process to have engaged in, in these
circumstances. I would encourage other to engage in
it also.”

“I’m defnitely satisfed with
the OPCC process. For me,
I just wanted the department
to hear my concerns, I
wanted the opportunity to
inorm the ofcer.”

What Complainants say about ADR
The eedback below is rom OPCC ADR les created during the period covered in this report. All identiying inormation
has been removed.

Police departments directly receive questions
or concerns about members’ conduct beyond
ormal complaints about police misconduct. Police
departments are required to record those questions or
concerns and orward them to the OPCC or review.
Eorts are made to contact the person who brought
orward the question or concern to determine their
level o satisaction with the department’s response.
In instances where our oce is unable to reach the
complainant, the OPCC reviews the action taken by
the department and assesses whether the department
took adequate and reasonable steps to address that
person’s questions or concerns.

In 2023/2024, police
departments recorded 154
Questions or Concerns from
the public.

QUESTIONS OR CONCERNS

“I certainly did fnd some good value in the process—It really was
o great help to me.”



















OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202442

Reform of the Police Act

On April 4, 2024, Bill 17, the Police Amendment Act,
2024 was introduced to the Legislative Assembly to
improve governance and oversight o policing and
respond to several legislative changes requested by the
OPCC and refected in the 2019 Special Committee to
Review the Police Complaint Process report, including
recommendations to address the OPCC’s ability to:

• conduct sel-initiated systemic investigations;
• arrange a public hearing earlier in the complaint process;
• make binding guidelines to improve the eciency,

eectiveness and timeliness o the police complaint
process;

• establish a list o qualied persons as Discipline
Authorities, including a ormer senior police ocer, a
retired judge or a person who meets requirements set
out in regulation; and,

• designate consultants or experts to observe an
investigation.

The amendments represent phase one o Police Act reform
with many o the amendments receiving Royal Assent on
April 25, 2024. The series o amendments also included:

• an expanded denition o misconduct to include
discriminatory jokes or gestures, Indigenous identity, and
gender identity or expression; and

• a requirement or the OPCC to maintain a list o retired
judges to review matters, apply consistent and objective
procedures in appointing retired judges, and post both
the list and procedures on the OPCC website.

Some amendments will be brought into orce by
regulation in the uture, including the creation o a new
class o “saety ocers” that will all under the OPCC’s
jurisdiction; e.g., detention guards in lock-up acilities
throughout the province.

The Government continues to consider other policy and
legislative changes as part o phase two reorms called or
by the 2022 Special Committee on Reorming the Police
Act. The OPCC has been engaged on these issues and
we look orward to continuing to work with Government
to enhance police accountability and public condence in
policing in BC.





OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202444

Files Opened: Yearly Comparisons (past fve years)4

0

800

1200

1600

400

2023/242019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

1406 1518 14881362 1527

Files Opened: Comparisons by Department (past fve years)

Department 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

Abbotsford Police Department 149 189 202 233 225

Central Saanich Police Service 17 9 17 8 16

Delta Police Department 53 69 64 63 62

Metro Vancouver Transit Police 44 87 64 47 51

Nelson Police Department 15 22 19 17 18

NewWestminster Police Department 42 73 64 53 43

Oak Bay Police Department 8 12 11 5 3

Organized Crime Agency of BC (CFSEU) 5 1 4 3 1

Port Moody Police Department 38 36 29 20 21

Saanich Police Department 84 77 90 84 74

Stl’atl’imx Tribal Police Service 4 8 6 10 13

Surrey Police Service 2 0 12 61 163

Vancouver Police Department 689 633 736 745 618

Victoria Police Department 186 162 181 157 160

West Vancouver Police Department 26 28 28 12 20

Total 1362 1406 1527 1518 1488

4 Data or this report was analyzed between May 29th and June 7th rom the OPCC’s records management database, Resolve. This report refects
accurate and complete data as o May 29th. Since the OPCC uses a dynamic, live database, the numbers presented in this report are subject to uture
revision. Further to this, the historical data presented in this report may also vary slightly rom gures presented in previous OPCC reports due to
changes in processing and reporting.



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 45

Files Opened by Type (past fve years)

2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

Police Complaints 537 39% 585 42% 731 48% 706 47% 685 46%

Investigations Initiated by PCC 32 2% 21 1% 18 1% 12 1% 19 1%

Investigations Requested by Agency 65 5% 42 3% 38 2% 64 4% 45 3%

Serious Harm Investigations 16 1% 33 2% 24 2% 30 2% 24 2%

Monitor Files 488 36% 510 36% 492 32% 552 36% 521 35%

Internal Discipline Files 21 2% 16 1% 19 1% 17 1% 17 1%

Service or Policy Complaints 39 3% 31 2% 42 3% 10 1% 23 2%

Questions or Concerns 164 12% 168 12% 163 11% 127 8% 154 10%

Total 1362 100% 1406 100% 1527 100% 1518 100% 1488 100%

File Types

Police Complaints Complaints about a police ocer’s conduct or actions that aect a member o the public.

Ordered Investigations
& Serious Harm
Investigations

Investigations may be initiated by the Commissioner, whether requested by a department or as a
result o inormation received rom any source that raises concerns about ocer misconduct. The
Police Act also requires the Commissioner to order a mandatory external investigation into any
incident resulting in serious harm or death.

Monitor Files Opened when inormation is received by the OPCC rom the police, including reportable
injuries, or rom other sources, such as public inormation, that may require an investigation
pursuant to the Police Act. Typically, these are incidents that are serious in nature or that
have generated media attention, but no potential disciplinary deaults have yet been
identied. These les are held open until a report is received rom the police. The matter is
reviewed and a decision is made as to whether an Ordered Investigation is required. I no
action is deemed necessary, the le is concluded as “reviewed and closed.”

Internal Discipline Files Involve perormance management issues or employer/employee concerns that do not aect
members o the public; are not the subject o a complaint or investigation; and no overriding
public interest in proceeding with the matter as a public trust matter.

Service or Policy
Complaints

Involve the quality o a police department’s service to the community or regarding their
operating policies.

Questions or Concerns I a member o the public has a question or concern about a municipal police ocer’s conduct
that does not result in the making o a police complaint, he or she may contact a municipal
police department directly. The member o the municipal police department who receives the
question or concern must inorm the proessional standards section o the involved municipal
police department. The proessional standards section must record the question or concern
and orward a copy o the record, along with how it was resolved, to the Oce o the Police
Complaint Commissioner or review.



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202446

Files Opened in 2023/2024 by Police Department and Type

P
C
:W

ith
dr

aw
n
or

D
is
co

nt
in
ue

d*

P
C
:P

en
di
ng

A
dm

is
si
bi
lit
y

P
C
:A

dm
is
si
bl
e

P
C
:I
na

dm
is
si
bl
e

Se
rio

us
H
ar

m
In
ve

st
ig
at

io
n

O
rd

er
ed

In
ve

st
ig
at

io
n

A
ge

nc
y

O
rd

er
ed

In
ve

st
ig
at

io
n

P
C
C

In
te
rn
al

D
is
ci
pl
in
e

M
on

ito
r

Q
ue

st
io
ns

or
C
on

ce
rn
s

Se
rv
ic
e
or

P
ol
ic
y

C
om

pl
ai
nt
s

To
ta

l

Abbotsord Police Department 2 0 36 31 4 2 4 0 109 37 0 225

Central Saanich Police Service 0 0 2 3 0 1 0 2 4 4 0 16

Delta Police Department 2 1 6 18 1 1 0 2 24 7 0 62

Metro Vancouver Transit Police 0 0 9 14 0 1 2 1 19 4 1 51

Nelson Police Department 1 0 3 5 0 2 0 0 6 1 0 18

New Westminster Police Department 1 0 4 14 0 1 1 0 16 6 0 43

Oak Bay Police Department 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 3

Organized Crime Agency o BC (CFSEU) 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Port Moody Police Department 0 0 5 8 1 0 0 0 6 0 1 21

Saanich Police Department 3 0 9 24 0 1 0 0 17 18 2 74

Stl’atl’imx Tribal Police Service 0 0 0 4 0 2 1 2 4 0 0 13

Surrey Police Service 7 1 34 42 6 8 1 1 60 3 0 163

Vancouver Police Department 11 8 152 143 9 23 7 7 189 56 13 618

Victoria Police Department 2 1 24 42 2 3 2 1 62 15 6 160

West Vancouver Police Department 0 0 5 6 1 0 1 1 3 3 0 20

Total 29 11 290 355 24 45 19 17 521 154 23 1488

*26 complains were wihdrawn prior o an admissibiliy deerminaton; 3 complains were discontnued under S.84 afer 1s pary complains were opened

Disaggregated Demographic Data
Throughout the OPCC complaint process, complainants are provided the option to disclose their age, sex, gender,
and racialized identities. We acknowledge the importance o the “Grandmother’s perspective” in all data collection,
specically that the collection o race-based data should be accompanied by processes ocused on reducing systemic
racism and achieving equality.5 As the Province develops broader anti-racism legislation that builds on the new Anti-
Racism Data Act,6 and the OPCC gains additional data analytics capacity, we will be reviewing our practices relating
to the collection, storage and disclosure o demographic inormation, especially race-based data, to ensure we adopt
and maintain best practices.

5 Disaggregated demographic data collection in British Columbia: The grandmother perspective, 2020, British Columbia’s Oce o the Human Rights
Commissioner. https://bchumanrights.ca/publications/datacollection

6 Government o British Columbia. Anti-racism legislation. https://engage.gov.bc.ca/antiracism/



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 47

Gender Identity of Persons Filing Police Complaints

Transgender | <1%

Women | 22%

Men | 39%

No Response | 39% TOTAL
633*

Total: 663*

MenWomen Transgender No Response

19 21 1 27Abbotsford Police Department

2 3Central Saanich Police Service

6 9 12Delta Police Department

6 6 10Metro Vancouver Transit Police

2 3 4Nelson Police Department

7 6 6New Westminster Police Department

1Oak Bay Police Department

1Organized Crime Agency of BC (CFSEU)

7 5Port Moody Police Department

6 13 1 15Saanich Police Department

2 2Stl'atl'imx Tribal Police Service

17 24 42Surrey Police Service

59 135 1 105Vancouver Police Department

16 27 1 22Victoria Police Department

3 3 5West Vancouver Police Department

*Total exlcudes 22 3rd party complaints

Gender Identity of Persons Filing Police Complaints by Department

*Total excludes 22 3rd party complaints



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202448

Age of Persons Filing Police Complaints

Department 0 - 17 18 - 24 25 - 44 45 - 64 65 - 74 75+
No

Response Total

Abbotsord Police Department 2 4 35 19 4 1 3 68

Central Saanich Police Service 0 0 2 0 1 0 2 5

Delta Police Department 1 0 10 12 3 0 1 27

Metro Vancouver Transit Police 0 2 12 6 0 0 2 22

Nelson Police Department 0 0 3 5 1 0 0 9

New Westminster Police Department 0 0 5 10 2 1 1 19

Oak Bay Police Department 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

Organized Crime Agency o BC (CFSEU) 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Port Moody Police Department 1 1 3 7 0 0 0 12

Saanich Police Department 0 2 13 15 2 0 3 35

Stl’atl’imx Tribal Police Service 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 4

Surrey Police Service 1 5 43 23 3 2 6 83

Vancouver Police Department 1 17 147 94 10 5 26 300

Victoria Police Department 0 4 28 24 2 3 5 66

West Vancouver Police Department 0 0 5 3 0 0 3 11

Total 6 36 307 220 28 12 54 663

*Total excludes 22 3rd party complaints

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

0-17

6
<1%

18-24

35
5%

75+

12
2%

No Response

54
8%

45-64

220
33%

65-74

28
4%

25-44

307
46%

TOTAL: 663*

Age of Persons Filing Police Complaints by Department

*Total excludes 22 3rd party complaints



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 49

Racialized Identity of Persons Filing Police Complaints

A
si
an

B
la
ck

Ea
st

A
si
an

In
di
ge

no
us

La
tin

o

M
id
dl
e

Ea
st
er
n

M
ul
tip

le

O
th
er

So
ut
h
A
si
an

W
hi
te

N
o

R
es

po
ns

e

To
ta

l

Abbotsord Police Department 0 0 4 3 1 2 0 4 3 22 29 68

Central Saanich Police Service 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 3 5

Delta Police Department 0 0 4 1 0 1 0 0 3 6 12 27

Metro Vancouver Transit Police 0 2 4 3 0 0 0 2 0 2 9 22

Nelson Police Department 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 4 3 9

New Westminster Police Department 1 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 9 5 19

Oak Bay Police Department 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

Organized Crime Agency o BC (CFSEU) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

Port Moody Police Department 0 0 3 1 0 1 0 0 0 4 3 12

Saanich Police Department 0 0 1 1 0 4 1 1 1 11 15 35

Stl’atl’imx Tribal Police Service 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 4

Surrey Police Service 0 1 3 1 0 3 0 0 9 19 47 83

Vancouver Police Department 2 5 17 22 9 15 5 22 25 80 98 300

Victoria Police Department 1 1 0 7 0 2 0 4 3 24 24 66

West Vancouver Police Department 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 6 11

Total 4 9 38 43 10 28 6 34 45 189 257 663

*Total excludes 22 3rd party complaints

Asian | 1%

Black | 1%

East Asian | 6%

Indigenous | 6%

Other | 5%

South Asian | 7%

Latino | 2%

Middle Eastern | 4%

Multiple | 1%

No Response | 39%

White | 28%

TOTAL
663*

Racialized Identity of Persons Filing Police Complaints by Department*

*Total excludes 22 3rd party complaints



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202450

Allegations of Misconduct 2023/2024
A single police complaint or ordered investigation may contain more than one allegation o misconduct.

Abuse of Authority

Discreditable Conduct

Discourtesy

Corrupt Practice

Damage to Property of Others

Improper Disclosure of Information

Improper Use or Care of Firearms

Misuse of Intoxicants

Accessory to Misconduct

Deceit

Public Trust Offence

Improper Off-Duty Conduct

62 (14%)

187(43%)

Neglect of Duty

52 (12%)

10 (2%)

6 (1%)

3 (1%)

1 (<1%)

1 (<1%)

0

0

0

Damage to Police Property 0

0

111 (26%)



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 51

Police Complaints: Admissibility Assessments 2023/2024

The average admissibility rate or the past ive years is 43%. The majority o complaints deemed inadmissible are
typically because the complainant has not identiied an allegation o misconduct as set out in the Police Act. Once
the OPCC has determined that a complaint is admissible, the police department chosen by the Commissioner must
investigate the allegations contained in the complaint. The number o complaints admitted and investigated have
remained static over the past three years.

Police Complaints: Admissibility Assessments (past fve years)

Admissible | 45%

No Misconduct Identified | 50%

Out of Time | 5%

Frivolous/Vexatious | <0%

TOTAL
645*

*Total excludes 11 les pending admissibility, 26 les withdrawn prior to an admissibility determination, 3 les discontinued under S.84

*For the 2023/24 FY: 11 les are pending admissibility, 26 les were withdrawn prior to an admissibility determination, 3 les were discontinued under S.84

Total Admissible Complaints by Fiscal Year Total Inadmissible Complaints by Fiscal Year

0

400

300

200

100

600

500

700

800

2023/242019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

276

261

325

260

424

261

377

256

355

290

537
585

685
633 645*



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202452

Admissible Complaints and Disposition (past fve years)

2019/2020 2020/21 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

Total Police Complaints Received 537 584 730 706 685

Total ‘Admissible’ Complaints 261 259 260 256 290

– Forwarded to DA* 134 161 128 106 29

– Complain Resoluton/Mediaed 79 51 68 57 43

– Withdrawn 19 19 28 23 10

– Discontnued 25 20 20 24 5

–Multple Oucomes 1 3 3 1 1

– Consolidated 2 2 4 13 0

Concluded 260 256 251 224 88

Stll Open 1 3 9 32 202

*In he rs insance and afer an investgaton is conduced by he police under OPCC oversigh, senior police ocers (Chie Consables or heir delegaes) si as “Discipline
Auhorites” and make decisions as o wheher or nomisconduc has occurred.

Initiated by PCC

Requested by Agency

0

20

40

60

80

100

2023/24

18

37

14

58

19

45

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

31

64

2022/23

21

41

95

62
55

72
64

The Police Complaint Commissioner can initiate an investigation in the absence o a complaint rom the public. A total o
64 investigations were independently ordered by the OPCC during the 2023/2024 period covered in this report.

Ordered Investigations (past fve years)



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 53

Ordered Investigations and Disposition (past fve years)

2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

Toal Number of Ordered Investgatons 95 62 55 72 64

– Forwarded to DA* 88 58 46 40 7

– Discontnued 4 3 0 1 0

–Multple Oucomes 0 0 1 0 0

– Consolidated 1 0 0 0 0

Concluded 93 61 47 41 7

Stll Open 2 1 8 31 57

*In he rs insance and afer an investgaton is conduced by he police under OPCC oversigh, senior police ocers (Chie Consables or heir delegaes) si as “Discipline
Auhorites” and make decisions as o wheher or nomisconduc has occurred.

Misconduct Rate (past fve years)

Each admissible police complaint, ordered investigation, serious harm notiication, or internal discipline ile will contain
at least one allegation o misconduct. Following the completion o the investigation, a Discipline Authority (senior
police oicer or retired judge) is required to make a determination whether it appears that the police oicer committed
misconduct. I there is such appearance, the matter may move to a ormal Discipline Proceeding where a inal
determination is made. In other cases, i the member accepts responsibility and an agreement is reached and approved
by OPCC on penalty, the matter is concluded.

Substantiated

Unsubstantiated

0

300

500

700

800

200

100

400

600

2023/242019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

80
(15%)

419

149
(27%)

411

121
(19%)

510

99
(14%)

599

101
(17%)

497

Total Allegations

499

Total Allegations

560

Total Allegations

631

Total Allegations

698

Total Allegations

598

*This igure includes all substantiated allegations arising rom police complaint, serious harm, internal discipline, and ordered investigations.



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202454

Reportable Injuries by Type of Force (past fve years)

2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

Toal RI Files 417 448 428 445 443

Toal Uses of Force 639 684 574 549 599

– Arwen/ Bean Bag 77 125 99 120 154

– Baton 6 11 5 6 6

– Dog Bite 120 98 97 94 74

– Empty Hand 177 163 90 46 98

– Firearm 0 6 3 8 9

– Motor Vehicle Accident 30 38 31 33 26

– OC Spray (pepper spray) 17 25 22 17 20

– Other 63 68 76 93 57

– Pre-existing 15 17 10 11 17

– Sel-inficted 81 73 66 59 74

– Taser 53 60 75 62 64

Police departments are to report all incidents where an individual receives an injury caused by the discharge o a irearm
or an injury requiring emergency care and transer to a hospital. All reportable injuries are reviewed to determine whether
an investigation into the use o orce incident will be completed.

Investigations Following Review of Reportable Injury Files (past 5 years)

2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 202220/23 2023/2024

Serious Harm 18 32 22 28 24

Ordered Investigations - By PCC 10 6 8 8 10

Ordered Investgatons - By Agency 3 2 3 2 2

Police Complaints 3 17 5 19 12

Internal Discipline 0 0 0 0 2

Questons or Concerns 1 0 0 0 0



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 55

Adjudicative Reviews (past fve years)

Appointment of a
New Discipline Authority
[S.117]

I, ollowing an investigation, the Discipline Authority determines that the conduct
o the ocer did not constitute misconduct, and the Commissioner believes there
is a reasonable basis to believe the decision is incorrect, the Commissioner may
appoint a retired judge to review the matter.

Review on the Record
[S.141]

Following a discipline proceeding, the Commissioner has the discretion to order
a review o the proceeding where there is a reasonable basis to believe that the
decision o the Discipline Authority is incorrect, or it is in the public interest to
review the matter. Reviews on the Record are conducted by retired judges and is
primarily a review o evidence and records o the le, including any submissions.

Public Hearing
[S.143]

Public Hearings remain an option or the Commissioner i he believes such a
review o a Police Act matter is required in the public interest. Public Hearings
are conducted by retired judges, are open to the public and evidence is presented
under oath.

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 TOTAL

Appointment o Retired Judge (S.117) 13 9 16 12 12 62

Review on the Record (S.141) 2 4 1 4 2 13

Public Hearing (S.143) 2 0 0 0 1 3

Total 17 13 17 16 15 78

All decisions rom these three adjudicative avenues are available to the public through the OPCC
website at www.opcc.bc.ca. There is also a schedule o current Public Hearings or Reviews on the
Record indicating the date and place o the hearings. All Public Hearings and Reviews on the Record
are open to the public to attend.



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/202456

The OPCC is a civilian-led agency that oversees complaints and investigations into allegations o misconduct involving
municipal police ocers. The oce also identies wider trends in police misconduct and makes recommendations to
address systemic actors to prevent the recurrence o misconduct. The oce’s mandate requires OPCC sta to have both
an appreciation or the undamental importance o civilian oversight o policing and specialized knowledge to ensure that
oversight is effective.

Our oce includes sta with diverse proessional backgrounds, including experience and training in law and policing.
About three-quarters o senior leadership and management have civilian backgrounds, such as in law and policy,
regulatory elds, administrative investigations, public administration, and academia. The Commissioner makes it a priority
to maintain this important balance between the civilian nature o the oce and the expertise sta need to possess to do
their work eectively. Intensive training, both in-house and external, is provided to sta to advance these ends. During
the reporting period, the oce had 42 sta, including 16 Investigative Analysts who are directly involved in the oversight
o misconduct investigations. There are an additional 31 Corporate Shared Services sta that provide nance, payroll,
administration, acilities, human resources, and inormation technology support or our independent Oces o the
Legislature, including the OPCC.

Stafng
and Budget

Our Finances
Each Fall, the OPCC is required to present to the Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services our
budgetary needs. The table below provides a summary o our nances or Fiscal Year 2023/2024.

Budget (2023/2024) Actual (2023/2024) Difference ($) Difference (%)

Operating $6,797,000 $6,758,869 $38,131 0.6%

Adjudicative $700,000 $669,516 $30,484 4.4%

Capital $145,000 $102,161 $42,839 29.5%



Further
Resources
Ofce o the Police Complaint Commissioner website

www.opcc.bc.ca

OPCC brochures

Let Us Help You Guide
https://opcc.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Let-us-help-you.pdf

General Inormation
https://opcc.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/opcc-general-information-brochure.pdf

Alternative Dispute Resolution
https://opcc.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/opcc-complaint-resolution-brochure.pdf

Complaint Form
https://opcc.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/printable-registered-complaint-form-2022.pdf

Police Act o British Columbia
https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/96367_01

Independent Investigations Ofce o British Columbia
https://iiobc.ca/

Other Canadian oversight agencies
https://opcc.bc.ca/resources/canadian-police-oversight-agencies/

OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 57



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/202358

Appendix
Summaries o all substantiated allegations against municipal police ocers concluded between April 1, 2023 and March
31, 2024.

Available at: https://opcc.bc.ca/reports/annual-report/

British Columbia’s Public Interest Disclosure Act requires public bodies in British Columbia to report on investigations
into wrongdoing started under the Act, the number o disclosures made internally and the number received by the
Oce o the Ombudsperson. The Oce o the Police Complaint Commissioner has not had any investigations or
disclosures under PIDA since the legislation was enacted.

PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE ACT



OFFICE OF THE POLICE COMPLAINT COMMISSIONER
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 59



Oce o the Police Complaint Commissioner

2nd Floor, 947 Fort Street, Victoria BC V8W 9T8 Canada

TEL 250.356.7458 | FAX 1.877.999.8707 | EMAIL ino@opcc.bc.ca

www.opcc.bc.ca

Oce o the Police Complaint Commissioner (2024)

The text o this document may be reproduced ree o charge in any ormat or medium, provided that it is reproduced accurately and not in a misleading context.

The material must be acknowledged as Oce o the Police Complaint Commissioner copyright and the document title specied. Where third-party material
has been identied, permission rom the respective copyright holder must be sought.

Send enquiries related to this publication to:

Oce o the Police Complaint Commissioner
2nd Floor, 947 Fort Street
Victoria, BC V8W 9T8

TEL 1.250.356.7458 | EMAIL ino@opcc.bc.ca

This publication is available at https://www.opcc.bc.ca/reports/annual-report/

Printed in Victoria, BC



Substantiated Allegations
Concluded between April 1, 2023 and March 31, 2024

Abbotsford Police Department

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2023-23625)
Upon request from the Abbotsford Police Department (APD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the off duty conduct of a member.
According to the APD, the off-duty member was driving their personal vehicle when they were stopped at a Royal Canadian Mounted Police
(RCMP) roadblock. The member subsequently provided two breath samples that resulted in “warn” readings on an Approved Screening Device
(ASD) which resulted in a three-day Immediate Roadside Prohibition (IRP) being issued.

Allegation 1

The member drove a motor vehicle after having consumed alcohol and provided two "warn" breath samples on an ASD.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Immediate Roadside Prohibition)

Date of Incident: March 2023

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

2-day suspension without pay

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on disciplinary or corrective measures, the Prehearing Conference

Authority noted that the member accepted full responsibility for their actions, was honest, forthcoming, and cooperative with the RCMP member,

and diligently self-reported the incident to their supervisor on their own accord.

The OPCC reviewed and approved the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined thar further review was not required and that

the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Initiated by PCC
(OPCC 2023-23908)
The Commissioner ordered an investigation after receiving information that a member of the Abbotsford Police Department (APD) had
inappropriately used police databases. It was reported that the member had queried their spouse for reasons unrelated to the performance of the
member’s duties.

Allegation 1

The member used equipment of the APD for purposes unrelated to the performance of duties as a member.

MISCONDUCT

Corrupt Practice
(Misuse of police database)

Date of Incident: January 2023

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Advice to Future Conduct



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

2

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that the
member had taken full responsibility and expressed remorse for the misconduct. The conduct was determined to be of lesser seriousness as it
related to the member querying their spouse to ascertain the date of their birthday. The Prehearing Conference Authority further noted that the
member had no prior substantiated misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Initiated by PCC
(OPCC 2023-23815)
The Commissioner ordered an investigation after receiving information that a member of the Abbotsford Police Department (APD) discharged their
less-lethal shotgun (LLSG) and struck an individual while they were attempting to make an arrest. The affected person was not the individual being
sought by police, and it appeared the member had discharged their LLSG without a clear view of who they were shooting at.

Allegation 1

The member discharged their LLSG and struck an affected person who was not being sought by the police nor related to police attendance at the
incident location.

MISCONDUCT

Abuse of Authority
(Excessive force – LLSG)

Date of Incident: May 2023

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

2-day suspension without pay

Allegation 2

The member failed to follow departmental use of force training when they discharged their less lethal shotgun when they were not in a position to
make sufficient observations and address the requirements in the departmental use of force policy, as they did not have a clear sight of their target
or what was beyond.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Failure to comply with departmental policy/regulations)

Date of Incident: May 2023

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Training/Re-Training: specific to the lawful use of force as
directed by departmental policy and the National Use of Force
Framework, with specific attention to the use of intermediate
weapons.

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that the
member had taken full responsibility for their actions from the outset, had expressed remorse and sought out further training on their own
initiative. The Prehearing Conference Authority further noted that the member had no prior substantiated misconduct on their Service Record of
Discipline.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

3

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2023-23206)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns regarding a member of the Abbotsford Police Department (APD) failing to investigate the
complainant’s report of a threat made toward their spouse during a conflict with a neighbour. The complainant reported that the member failed to
contact them, review their video evidence, or obtain any statements.

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required.

Allegation 1

The member failed to conduct an adequate investigation into the complainant’s concerns.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Inadequate investigation)

Date of Incident: January 2023

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Advice to Future Conduct

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. The Prehearing Conference Authority found that the member had neglected their duty by
concluding the file without taking the required investigative steps. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority
noted that the member had taken full responsibility for their actions, had demonstrated remorse, and had no prior substantiated misconduct on
their Service Record of Discipline.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

4

Central Saanich Police Department

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2019-16379)
Upon request from the Central Saanich Police Service (CSPS), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a CSPS member. It was
reported that the member may have been in a conflict of interest by liaising with a person who was under investigation for a criminal offence.
Additionally, the member continued to have supervisory oversight of a CSPS file directly related to the person.

The Commissioner determined it was in the public interest that an external police agency conduct the investigation and designated an external
Discipline Authority. The Commissioner directed the Metro Vancouver Transit Police (formerly South Coast British Columbia Transportation
Authority Police Service) to conduct the investigation, and a senior officer was designated as Discipline Authority.

Allegation 1

The member was in a conflict of interest in liaising with a person who was under investigation for a criminal offence.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: December 2018

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

2-day suspension without pay (to be served concurrently)

Allegation 2

The member’s review and supervisor approval of a police file directly related to a person that the member had a personal relationship with.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: December 2018

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

2-day suspension without pay (to be served concurrently)

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered to the member; the member declined the offer and as a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding which the

member did not attend. The discipline proceeding occurred in the member’s absence.

The member did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not

required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

5

CFSEU

No substantiated misconduct in this reporting period.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

6

Delta Police Department

Internal Discipline
(OPCC 2022-22459)
The department initiated an internal discipline investigation into the conduct of a Delta Police Department (DPD) member. It was alleged that the
member, during a police incident, did not follow directions or act in accordance with their department’s training or best practices. The member
also allegedly utilized the unauthorized assistance of a civilian to assist during a serous police incident.

Allegation 1

The member failed to follow policy and an established command structure during a serious police incident, which put themself and others at risk.
Further, the member disobeyed orders, contrary to best practices and policy.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Failure to comply with departmental policy/regulations)

Date of Incident: August 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2022-21426)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns with a member of the Delta Police Department taking the complainant to the ground, during
an attempted arrest of another person which resulted in injury to the complainant.

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required.

Allegation 1

The member applied a hard takedown to the complainant during an arrest attempt of another person.

MISCONDUCT

Abuse of Authority
(Excessive force - empty hand)

Date of Incident: March 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Verbal Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measure, the Prehearing Conference
Authority noted that the member had no prior substantiated misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline, had undertaken further use of force
training following the incident, and had taken full responsibility for their actions.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

7

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2022-22884)
Upon request from the Delta Police Department (DPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of three DPD members. It was
reported that the three members attended an Advanced Police Training Intoximeter Certification course at the Justice Institute of British Columbia
(JIBC). This course allowed the members to volunteer to be drinking subjects on a given day and all members were given instructions that they
must get a ride home on the day they were drinking. Further, members were instructed to read and sign a waiver that stated they could not drive
on the day they volunteer to be drinking subjects, even if they were at a Blood Alcohol Content of zero.

The three members volunteered to be drinking subjects and signed the waivers stating they understood and confirmed they had a ride home. At
the end of the day, JIBC instructors observed one member (Member A) drive out of the JIBC parking lot with the other two members (Members B
and C) in the vehicle as passengers.

Member A:

Allegation 1

The member failed to abide by the driving prohibition in the signed waiver and did not adhere to the rules established by the JIBC for the
Intoximeter Certification course.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Failure to comply with policy/regulations)

Date of Incident: November 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Training/Re-Training: Ethics in Policing

Allegation 2

The member failed to adhere to the rules established by the JIBC for the Intoximeter Certification course and the follow-up direction of course
instructors and supervisors.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: November 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Training/Re-Training: Active Bystander for Law Enforcement
(ABLE)

Apology letter to the Chief Constable and JIBC Administrator

Members B and C:

Allegation 1

The members failed to adhere to the rules established by the JIBC for the Intoximeter Certification course and failed to adhere to the follow-up
direction of course instructors and supervisors.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

8

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: November 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Training/Re-Training: Active Bystander for Law Enforcement
(ABLE)

Apology letter to the Chief Constable and JIBC Administrator

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the members appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the members. After reviewing the prehearing conference report, the Commissioner did not approve the
proposed disciplinary or corrective measures and as a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding.

In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority noted the seriousness of impaired driving and the
prevailing societal efforts to eliminate such from occurring. The Discipline Authority also noted that all three members acknowledged their errors in
judgment, showed genuine regret, and apologized. None of the members had any prior substantiated misconduct on their Service Records of
Discipline.

The members did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not
required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

9

Metro Vancouver Transit Police

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2022-21818)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns with a member of the Metro Vancouver Transit Police (MVTP). The complainant reported a
member was speeding while operating a marked police vehicle and was not operating emergency equipment.

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required.

Allegation 1

The member operated a police vehicle above the applicable speed limits, both in a playground zone and in a 50 km zone.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Operating a police vehicle in an unsafe manner)

Date of Incident: May 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Advice to Future Conduct

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that the

member was forthcoming about the incident and took responsibility for the driving behaviour.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline

imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2022-22612)
Upon request from the Metro Vancouver Transit Police (MVTP), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a MVTP member. It
was reported that a MVTP member was operating a police vehicle with emergency equipment activated and collided with the rear of a civilian
vehicle in an intersection contrary to theMotor Vehicle Act and Emergency Vehicle Driving Regulation.

Allegation 1

The member drove into an intersection at a speed that was too great to avoid a collision with a civilian vehicle.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Operating a police vehicle in an unsafe manner)

Date of Incident: September 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Advice to Future Conduct



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

10

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that at
the time of the collision the member was a recruit still in training, and the member took responsibility for the driving behaviour including retaking
course training on emergency vehicle driving on their own initiative.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2012-8138)
Upon request from the South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority Police Services (SCBCTAPS), now Metro Vancouver Transit Police, the
Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of an SCBCTAPS member. It was reported that the member used force, including baton
strikes, to arrest the affected person for failing to identify themself and present proof of valid payment.

The Commissioner determined it was in the public interest that an external police agency conduct this investigation and designated an external
Discipline Authority. The Commissioner directed the New Westminster Police Department to conduct the investigation and Chief Constable Dave
Jones was designated to be the Discipline Authority.

The affected person in this matter filed a complaint and was added to the record and recognized as a complainant to the investigation.

The Police Act investigation was suspended pending the outcome of a criminal investigation. The matter was referred to the BC Prosecution Service
by the New Westminster Police Department and charges were approved. The member pled guilty to Assault Causing Bodily Harm and received a
suspended sentence and 12 months’ probation.

Allegation 1

The member recklessly used unnecessary force in repeatedly striking the complainant with a baton.

MISCONDUCT

Abuse of Authority
(Excessive force – impact weapon)

Date of Incident: August 2011

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

2-day suspension without pay

Disciplinary Process

The matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding where the member admitted to the allegation and the Discipline Authority imposed a five
working-day suspension without pay and training on use of force techniques and policy applications.

Adjudicative Review – Public Hearing

The Commissioner reviewed the outcome of the discipline proceeding and determined that a Public Hearing was necessary as the disciplinary or
corrective measure proposed by the Discipline Authority was not commensurate with the seriousness of the member’s conduct or the injury
caused to the complainant. The Commissioner appointed retired BC Supreme Court Judge, the Honourable Ronald McKinnon, to preside as the
Adjudicator in these proceedings.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

11

The Public Hearing commenced in February of 2018 and during the proceedings the member applied to the court to challenge the validity of the
hearing. Following a decision by the BC Court of the Appeal in 2020, the Public Hearing resumed.

Mr.McKinnon found that the member’s use of unnecessary force against the complainant was serious and the complainant did not conduct
himself in manner that justified the member striking the complainant multiple times in the upper body area with the baton, resulting in significant
injures to the complainant. Mr. McKinnon noted the member’s relatively junior status at the time, that the incident was brief and dynamic, and
that the member accepted responsibility throughout the criminal and disciplinary proceedings and expressed remorse. In arriving at a disciplinary
or corrective measure of a two-day suspension, Mr. McKinnon said a much longer suspension would have been proposed, but for the serious
delays in the process. Mr. McKinnon further noted the member took additional training and worked under close supervision when returning to
operational duties in 2019.

For further information on this decision, go to https://opcc.bc.ca/decisions/public-hearings/

For the BC Court of Appeal decision, go to https://opcc.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/2020-07-30-BC-Court-of-Appeal-Decision-Diaz-

Rodriguez-v-OPCC.pdf

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2023-23913)
Upon request from the Metro Vancouver Transit Police (MVTP), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a MVTP member. It
was reported that while operating a police vehicle with emergency equipment activated, and responding to assist other officers, the member
entered an intersection on a red traffic light colliding with a civilian vehicle.

Allegation 1

The member failed to clear the intersection prior to advancing through it which caused an accident, and overall posed a risk to other members of
the public.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Operating a police vehicle in an unsafe manner)

Date of Incident: April 2023

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted the
member accepted responsibility for the misconduct and proactively took steps to prevent its recurrence. This included a review of applicable
sections of theMotor Vehicle Act and emergency vehicle operational policies and educational materials.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

12

Nelson Police Department

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2023-23831)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns regarding a member of the Nelson Police Department (NPD) entering a residence without a
warrant. The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation was required into the matter.

Allegation 1

The member, while in the performance of duties, intentionally or recklessly entered a residence without good and sufficient cause.

MISCONDUCT

Abuse of Authority
(Unlawful entry)

Date of Incident: May 2023

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Advice to Future Conduct

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted the

member accepted responsibility for their actions, expressed remorse, had no prior Service Record of Discipline, and proactively undertook

additional training related to police search and seizure following this incident.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline

imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Internal Discipline
(OPCC 2022-21786)
The department initiated an internal discipline investigation into the conduct of a Nelson Police Department (NPD) member. It was alleged that the
member did not attend mandatory training as directed by their Chief Constable and did not notify the Chief Constable, Deputy Chief Constable, or a
supervisor that they would be absent from the training.

Allegation 1

The member breached NPD Attendance at Work and Fitness for Duty policies.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Failure to comply with departmental policy/regulations)

Date of Incident: April 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Advice to Future Conduct

A review of the NPD policies on Attendance at Work and Fitness
for Duty, specifically sections I.B.150(5) and I.B.155(21)(iii)



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

13

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2021-20156)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns with a member of the Nelson Police Department (NPD) alleging that the member intentionally
locked the complainant alone in a seclusion room with a patient who had previously acted in an aggressive and hostile manner.

In addition, during the Police Act investigation, the member was alleged to have made false or misleading statements.

Upon request by the Nelson Police Department, the Commissioner directed the Vancouver Police Department to conduct the investigation.

Allegation 1

The member provided false or misleading statements during a Police Act investigation.

MISCONDUCT

Deceit
(False or misleading oral or written statement)

Date of Incident: August 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

5-day suspension without pay

Allegation 2

The member locked the complainant in a seclusion room with a patient.

MISCONDUCT

Discourtesy
(Discourteous conduct)

Date of Incident: August 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

1-day suspension without pay

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed two allegations of misconduct.

A prehearing conference was offered to the member; the member declined the offer and as a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline

proceeding.

The Discipline Authority found that the member displayed poor judgement and placed the complainant in an uncomfortable and potentially

dangerous position. In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority noted that the member continued to

provide a false narrative during the Police Act investigation and did not take responsibility for their actions.

Neither the member nor the complainant requested a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that

further review was not required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2021-19408)
Upon request from the Nelson Police Department (NPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the off duty conduct of an NPD member.
It was reported that the member had consumed alcohol while being bound by a written agreement between themselves and the NPD which
forbade the member from consuming alcohol while employed by the department.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

14

The Commissioner determined it was in the public interest that an external police agency conduct this investigation, and directed the Vancouver
Police Department to conduct the investigation.

Allegation 1

The member consumed alcohol in contravention of the terms and conditions of a written agreement between themself and the NPD.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Failure to follow supervisor’s lawful order)

Date of Incident: March 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

30-day suspension without pay

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. No prehearing
conference was offered to the member and as a result, the matter proceeded directly to a discipline proceeding. The member retired prior to the
discipline proceeding and did not participate in the process.

The Discipline Authority determined that the member had previously signed an agreement that required them to abstain from consuming alcohol,
even off-duty, while employed by the department and that this agreement was the culmination of ongoing issues related to alcohol use and
previous discipline that seemed connected to that alcohol use. In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline
Authority noted that the member had been open and honest and had retired on their own accord. The Discipline Authority also expressed the
opinion that alcohol abuse is an illness that had contributing impacts.

The member did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not
required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Even though the member retired prior to the conclusion of this matter, their Service Record of Discipline will reflect the discipline imposed.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2022-22807)
Upon request from the Nelson Police Department (NPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of an NPD member. It was
reported that the member was assigned to externally investigate a serious and sensitive matter at the request of the Royal Canadian Mounted
Police (RCMP). However, the member did not complete required investigative steps and did not request to have the file reassigned after going off
duty for a period of time. It was further alleged that the member did not provide regular updates to the RCMP as requested and was unresponsive
to communications from RCMP members.

Upon request by the Nelson Police Department, the Commissioner directed the Delta Police Department to conduct the investigation and
designated Chief Constable Neil Dubord as the Discipline Authority.

Allegation 1

The member neglected to take investigative steps on an RCMP independent external investigation, including the failure to provide updates to the
RCMP, respond to inquiries from the RCMP, and ensure the investigation was re-assigned.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Inadequate investigation)

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

15

Date of Incident: March 2022

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered to the member; the member declined the offer and as a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding.

In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority noted the misconduct related to an external criminal

investigation involving an RCMP member and impacted both the NPD and the RCMP. The Discipline Authority also noted the member had two

separate substantiated matters on his current Service Record of Discipline, and drew an adverse inference from the member’s failure to testify at

the discipline proceeding process.

The member did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not

required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Even though the member retired prior to the conclusion of this matter, their Service Record of Discipline will record the discipline imposed.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2022-22635)
Upon request from the Nelson Police Department (NPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of an NPD member. It was
reported that the member failed to respond to a report of discovered human remains. Consequently, the human remains were not located
promptly. It was also determined that the human remains were that of a person who was previously reported missing to NPD.

The Commissioner determined it was in the public interest that an external police agency conduct this investigation and directed the Abbotsford
Police Department to conduct the investigation. The sister of the deceased person in this matter filed a complaint and was added to the record and
recognized as a complainant to the investigation.

Allegation 1

The member neglected to respond to a witness report of discovered human remains.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Inadequate Investigation)

Date of Incident: August 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

2-day suspension without pay

Training/Re-Training: related to the BC Coroners Act and police
file review

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that it is

expected that a police officer would investigate the death of a person without delay based on the value put on life and because the remains and

surrounding area could contain evidence as to the cause of death and/or any element of criminality. The Prehearing Conference Authority also

noted that the member had fully accepted responsibility for their actions, was remorseful, had no prior substantiated misconduct on their Service

Record of Discipline, and had proactively undertaken and become a qualified facilitator for Fair and Impartial Policing training.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline

imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

16

NewWestminster Police Department

Internal Discipline
(OPCC 2022-23056)
The department initiated an internal discipline investigation into the conduct of a New Westminster Police Department (NWPD) member. It was
alleged that the member, while a recruit at the Justice Institute of British Columbia (JIBC), wrote false or misleading information on JIBC reports
regarding the reporting of academic demerits that they had received during training.

Allegation 1

The member knowingly entered false information on JIBC reports.

MISCONDUCT

Deceit
(False or misleading entry in official document or record)

Date of Incident: September – December 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal

Allegation 2

The member failed to report an academic demerit to the NWPD.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Failure to comply with departmental policy/regulations)

Date of Incident: September – December 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal

Internal Discipline
(OPCC 2022-21397)
The department initiated an internal discipline investigation into the conduct of a New Westminster Police Department (NWPD) member. It was
alleged that after becoming a sworn member, the member produced Peace Officers Physical Aptitude Test (POPAT) scoresheets/times that were
falsified.

Allegation 1

The member knowingly provided false information/documentation regarding the POPAT test results.

MISCONDUCT

Deceit
(False or misleading oral or written statement)

Date of Incident: October – December 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

17

Ordered Investigation – Requested by the Department
(OPCC 2022-21661)
Upon request from the New Westminster Police Department (NWPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the off duty conduct of an
NWPD member. According to the NWPD, police attended an incident where the member’s relative had been assaulted by an unknown male. It was
reported that prior to police attendance, the member had approached a group of individuals to determine what had occurred which escalated the
situation into a verbal and physical altercation. The member, who had been consuming alcohol, was transported to jail for Breach of the Peace and
was subsequently released.

Allegation 1

The member, while intoxicated, engaged a group of individuals and escalated the situation to a verbal and physical altercation.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: April 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that the
member had found themselves in an unplanned situation that was traumatic and upsetting, had accepted responsibility for their actions, had
immediately self-reported the incident to their supervisor, and had no substantiated misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2021-20264)
Upon request from the New Westminster Police Department (NWPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of an NWPD
member. It was reported that the member contacted several NWPD female employees while being subject to a condition placed on their
employment by the NWPD, stemming from a separate Police Act matter, that the member not initiate contact of any form with any female
employee or volunteer of the NWPD.

Three affected persons in this matter filed complaints and were added to the record and recognized as complainants to the investigation.

Allegation 1

The member breached the conditions imposed on them by the NWPD.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: August 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

12-day suspension without pay

Training/Re-Training: in police ethical behaviour and respectful
workplace conduct, prior to commencing any operational
assignment



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

18

Transfer from, or not be reassigned to, themember’s prior unit
assignment.

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered to the member; the member declined the offer and as a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding where the
member denied the allegation.

The Discipline Authority determined that the member sent communications to several female NWPD employees seeking reference letters, in
contravention of the conditions placed on the member’s employment that were intended, at least in part, to protect female employees of the
NWPD. The Discipline Authority further found that, at the time of contact, the member was aware of the conditions and believed the conditions to
be valid and in force. While the member said he had relied on legal advice before sending the communications, the Discipline Authority found the
member had given misleading information to a lawyer when obtaining the advice later sought to be relied on.

In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority noted the member had not accepted responsibility for his
misconduct. The Discipline Authority commented that an officer of such rank and credentials as the member would be expected to understand the
importance of following orders and/or conditions, particularly where they are imposed for the safety and security of their colleagues. The Discipline
Authority also acknowledged, however, that the member had been under these conditions for a significant period and had not breached any of the
conditions previously.

The member did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not
required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2023-23800)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns regarding an interaction with a member of the New Westminster Police Department (NWPD).
The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required. During the subsequent investigation it was
determined that the member failed to document the interaction with the complainant as per department policy.

Allegation 1

The member failed to complete a report and/or notes documenting the investigative detention of the complainant.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Inadequate documentation/notes/records)

Date of Incident: May 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Verbal Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted the
member accepted responsibility and the member had the member had no prior substantiated misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

19

Oak Bay Police Department

No substantiated misconduct in this reporting period.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

20

Port Moody Police Department

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2023-23356)
Upon request from the Port Moody Police Department (PMPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of an on-duty PMPD
member. It was reported that the member requested a colleague to query a particular license plate on a police database without disclosing the
query was for a personal reason and unrelated to an investigation.

Allegation 1

The member requested another member to query a particular license plate knowing there was no investigational purpose.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: January 2023

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted the

member reported the incident to their supervisor prior to the end of their shift and took responsibility for their actions.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline

imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

21

Saanich Police Department

Internal Discipline
(OPCC 2022-22191)
The department initiated an internal discipline investigation into the conduct of a Saanich Police Department member. It was alleged that the
member violated the departmental Respectful Workplace Policy by engaging in bullying behaviour towards subordinate members including yelling
at and ridiculing other members which contributed to a toxic work environment.

Allegation 1

The member violated the Respectful Workplace Policy by having verbal outbursts of anger or aggression, overreacting to situations, and displaying
excessive emotion at inappropriate times. Additionally, the member would address performance issues with members in public, making adverse
assumptions and drawing negative conclusions about staff when the member only possessed partial information.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Failure to comply with departmental policy/regulations)

Date of Incident: 2021-2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

22

Stl’atl’imx Tribal Police Service

No substantiated misconduct in this reporting period.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

23

Surrey Police Service

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2023-23752)
Upon request from the Surrey Police Service (SPS), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of an SPS member. It was reported
that the member had failed to comply with departmental policy by failing conduct a timely investigation or report and document an offence that
resulted in property damage.

Allegation 1

The member failed to comply with departmental policy related to the attendance, investigative follow-up, and completion of necessary reporting
and documentation.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Inadequate documentation/notes/records)

Date of Incident: April 2023

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, Prehearing Conference Authority noted that the

member had received good performance reports, accepted responsibility, had no substantiated misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline,

and had taken steps to review relevant policies and training.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline

imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2022-22748)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns with an off-duty member of the Surrey Police Service (SPS). It was reported that the member
consumed alcohol, showed signs of intoxication, and allegedly gave indication that they were going to drive a vehicle. Additionally, the member
allegedly displayed their police badge and used belligerent and disrespectful language toward the complainant.

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required into the matter.

Allegation 1

The member was belligerent and disrespectful towards the complainant.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: October 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Written apology to the complainant



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

24

Allegation 2

The member failed to comply with departmental policy which prohibits the production of a police badge when off duty.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Failure to comply with departmental policy/regulations)

Date of Incident: October 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Training/Re-Training: in ethical standards and SPS policy
related to conduct while off-duty

Adjudicative Review – Section 117 Review

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member did not commit misconduct. The Commissioner disagreed as

he was of the view that the Discipline Authority failed to properly consider the evidence corroborating the derogatory comments alleged by the

complainant, including the member’s own admission of demeaning comments and swearing towards the complainant. The Commissioner also

expressed concern that the Discipline Authority failed to properly consider the purpose of themember’s action of displaying their police badge off-

duty and the member’s failure to adhere to relevant SPS policy in this regard.

The Commissioner appointed retired BC Provincial Court Judge Carol Baird Ellan, K.C. to review the matter and arrive at her own decision based on

the evidence.

Ms. Baird Ellan determined that themember’s apparent (and admitted) treatment of the complainant, objectively considered, could be

characterized as unjustified and unnecessarily demeaning. Ms. Baird Ellan further determined that the member appeared to have neglected to

adhere to departmental standards pertaining to production of a police badge while off-duty.

Disciplinary Process

A prehearing conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority

noted that the member took full responsibility for their actions, acknowledged that the conduct was a mistake, and had no substantiated

misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline.

The member did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not

required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

For further information on this decision, go to https://opcc.bc.ca/adjudications/section-117-reviews/

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2023-23260)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns regarding an interaction with members of the Surrey Police Service. The complainants reported
being stopped by police while driving a motor vehicle. During the traffic stop, the complainants reported that police used inappropriate and
unacceptable language.

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required.

Allegation 1

The member failed to behave with the courtesy due in the circumstances towards the complainants while conducting the traffic stop.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

25

MISCONDUCT

Discourtesy
(Discourteous conduct)

Date of Incident: January 2023

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Verbal Reprimand

Adjudicative Review – Section 117 Review

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member did not commit misconduct. The Commissioner disagreed as

he was of the view that the Discipline Authority failed to properly consider the evidence corroborating the derogatory comments alleged by the

complainant, Upon review of the matter, the Commissioner determined that there was a reasonable basis to believe that the decision of the

Discipline Authority was incorrect and appointed the retired BC Court of Appeal Judge, the Honourable David Frankel, K.C., to review the matter

and arrive at his own decision based on the evidence.

Mr. Frankel determined that while the passenger of the vehicle was uncooperative and argumentative, the language and demeanor of the member
was not appropriate in the circumstances. Accordingly, Mr. Frankel determined that the allegation of misconduct appeared to be substantiated.

Disciplinary Process

A prehearing conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority

noted the member had voluntarily offered to apologize for their actions, took full responsibility for their conduct, and recognized the impact of

their manner of communication on the complainants.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline

imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

For further information on this decision, go to https://opcc.bc.ca/adjudications/section-117-reviews/

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2023-23334)
Upon request from the Surrey Police Service (SPS), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of an SPS member who, while
formerly employed by the New Westminster Police Department (NWPD), failed to properly secure, process, document, and account for a piece of
evidence related to a criminal investigation involving intimate partner violence.

Upon request from the SPS, the Commissioner directed the New Westminster Police Department to conduct the investigation.

Allegation 1

The member failed to comply with departmental policies related to investigative documentation and the processing and securing of evidence.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Failure to comply with departmental policy/regulations)

Date of Incident: August 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Training/Re-Training: in the procedures and processes for
proper evidence handling and investigative documentation to
the satisfaction of the SPS Leadership Development Unit.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

26

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that the

member’s conduct could have adversely impacted a criminal justice process. The Prehearing Conference Authority further noted that while the

member had acknowledged their mistake and accepted responsibility, they ought to have fully understood their duties and departmental policies

as an experienced officer.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline

imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

27

Vancouver Police Department

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2019-16527)
Upon request from the Vancouver Police Department (VPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of two off-duty VPD
members (Member A and Member B). It was reported that the members attended a licensed establishment, wherein Member A became the
subject of a criminal investigation relating to an incident that occurred in the establishment. While in custody, Member A made several comments
to an investigating member of another police agency suggesting that they should be afforded preferential treatment due to their position as a
fellow police officer. It was also reported that Member B, during this incident, used a cellular phone to record police, refused to identify themself,
and acted in a belligerent and unprofessional manner.

Member A - Allegation 1

The member directed comments at a member of another police agency suggesting that they should be afforded preferential treatment due to their
position as a police officer.

MISCONDUCT

Corrupt Practice
(Using police authority for personal gain)

Date of Incident: June 2019

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

3-day suspension without pay

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that Member A appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered to Member A; the member declined, and as a result the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding where the Discipline

Authority determined there was misconduct.

In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority noted that the Member A made comments that were

intended to seek preferential treatment, the conduct was unprofessional and avoidable, and that Member A had not accepted responsibility for

their actions. The Discipline Authority also noted that the Member A was intoxicated during the incident and was aware of circumstances and

policy that would have required the member to identify as a police officer during the off-duty incident.

Member A resigned from the VPD prior to the conclusion of the discipline proceeding and did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The

OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the

circumstances.

Even though Member A resigned prior to the conclusion of this matter, their service record of discipline will reflect the discipline imposed.

Member B - Allegation 1

The member engaged in inappropriate off-duty actions, conduct, and words directed towards members of the public and police members
responding pursuant to a criminal investigation.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: June 2019

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

28

Disciplinary Process

A prehearing conference was offered and accepted by Member B. After reviewing the prehearing conference report, the Commissioner did not

approve the proposed disciplinary or corrective measures and as a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding where Member B

admitted to the allegation of Discreditable Conduct.

In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority noted that Member B appeared remorseful, admitted to

the alleged misconduct, and had not interfered in the initial police investigation. However, the Discipline Authority also found Member B failed to

show the level of maturity expected of a senior member and engaged in unhelpful conduct that conflicted with the VPD’s Code of Ethics.

Member B did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not

required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2022-22012)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns with a member of the Vancouver Police Department (VPD) in relation to a series of text
messages to the complainant that the complainant found to be uncomfortable and suggestive. In addition, it was alleged the member failed to
complete a police report documenting the information being reported by the complainant.

Allegation 1

The member sent inappropriate text messages to the complainant that would bring discredit to the Vancouver Police Department.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Violation of Respectful Workplace Policy)

Date of Incident: March 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

1-day suspension without pay

Allegation 2

The member did not complete a General Occurrence Report in relation to an ongoing suspicious person investigation.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Inadequate documentation/notes/records)

Date of Incident: March 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Training/Re-Training: related to report writing policy

Direction to work under close supervision for aminimum period
of 3 months

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered and accepted by the member. After reviewing the prehearing conference report, the Commissioner did not approve the

proposed disciplinary or corrective measures and as a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding where the member admitted to the

allegations of Discreditable Conduct and Neglect of Duty. In deciding the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority

noted the member had apologized to the complainant and had no substantiated misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

29

The member did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not

required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2022-22706)
Upon request from the Vancouver Police Department (VPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of an off-duty VPD
member. The member had been operating a motor vehicle and was subsequently stopped by police. Upon request, the member provided two
breath samples that both resulted in a “fail” reading on an Approved Screening Device. The member was issued a Notice of Driving Prohibition, and
their vehicle was impounded.

Allegation 1

The member, while off-duty, operated a motor vehicle while impaired by alcohol resulting in the issuance of a 90-day driving prohibition and
vehicle impoundment in accordance with the provisions of the BCMotor Vehicle Act.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Immediate Roadside Prohibition)

Date of Incident: October 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

3-day suspension

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that the

member took responsibility for their actions, demonstrated remorse, made no attempt to minimize their actions, and had no substantiated

misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline. The Prehearing Conference Authority also noted that the member self-reported the off-duty

incident to their employer.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline

imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2020-18123)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns regarding the manner in which a member of the Vancouver Police Department (VPD) delivered
a next-of-kin (NOK) notification to notify the complainant of the death of the complainant’s son The NOK notification was alleged to lack courtesy,
professionalism, and compassion.

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required.

Allegation 1

The member failed to adhere to police standards requiring compassion as an element of the next-of-kin notification.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

30

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Neglecting, without good or sufficient cause, to promptly and
diligently do anything that it is one’s duty as a member to do)

Date of Incident: June 2019

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

(a) reassignment to theMissing Persons Unit for a period
of three months

(b) retake the Justice Institute of BC training on next-of-
kin notifications within the next year;

(c) review specified on-line public materials about death
notifications within three months;

(d) complete at least two further courses, including
online training, in sensitivity and cultural awareness
with an emphasis on Indigenous matters, within the
next two years;

(e) not perform any NOK notifications until after
confirmation of completion of the items in
paragraphs (a) to (c) above (except as may occur
under supervision while assigned to the Missing
Persons Unit), and until after observing at least six
NOK notifications conducted by at least three
different officers with greater experience in
conducting them; thereafter work under close
supervision in conducting NOK notifications until six
such notifications have been conducted;

(f) provide three written apologies, with full
acknowledgement of the nature of themisconduct, in
a form approved by [the Discipline Authority], to the
complainant and two of the complainant’s family
members within three months.

Adjudicative Review – Section 117 Review

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member did not commit misconduct. The Commissioner disagreed as
he was of the view that the Discipline Authority did not properly consider all the available evidence, particularly that of the complainant. Upon
review of the matter, the Commissioner determined that there was a reasonable basis to believe that the decision of the Discipline Authority was
incorrect and appointed retired BC Provincial Court Judge Carol Baird Ellan, K.C., to review the matter and arrive at her own decision based on the
evidence.

Ms. Baird Ellan determined that the evidence appeared sufficient to find that the manner in which the member delivered the death notification did
not meet professional standards. In addition, Ms. Baird Ellan found that the evidence appeared to substantiate that the member neglected or
declined, without good and sufficient cause, to perform their duty in relation to the NOK notification; and that the member’s attitude towards the
incident appeared to raise the conduct over the threshold of objective discourtesy. Accordingly, Ms. Baird Ellan determined that the allegations of
misconduct appeared to be substantiated.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

31

Disciplinary Process

A prehearing conference was offered to the member; the member declined the offer and as a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline
proceeding with retired judge Ms. Baird Ellan as the Discipline Authority.

Because the complainant’s allegations pertained to a single transaction, Ms. Baird Ellan considered it fair and appropriate to characterize the
misconduct as one allegation of Neglect of Duty. Ms. Baird Ellan found the member failed, without good and sufficient cause, to fulfill a
departmental standard of compassion when performing an NOK notification. The misconduct of Neglect of Duty was therefore proven on the
evidence.

When arriving at disciplinary or corrective measures, Ms. Baird Ellan noted the member had taken courses addressing the issues that arose, but
had not made an early acceptance of responsibility. Ms. Baird Ellan found it appropriate to order measures that would underscore the need for
diligence in relation to the member’s duties to vulnerable members of the public.

The member requested a Public Hearing, or in the alternative, a Review on the Record, pursuant to section 138 of the Police Act. The Commissioner
reviewed the request and the disciplinary decision and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline imposed was
appropriate in the circumstances.

For further information on this decision, go to https://opcc.bc.ca/adjudications/section-117-reviews/

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2019-16855)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns regarding an interaction the complainant had with members of the Vancouver Police
Department (VPD) where the complainant alleged police were trying to intimidate and harass them due to a previous complaint.

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required.

Upon request by the VPD, the Commissioner directed the New Westminster Police Department to conduct the investigation and appointed a senior
officer at the Delta Police Department as the Discipline Authority.

Allegation 1

The member stopped to make comments to the complainant and friend while driving by them on patrolling duty.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: September 2019

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Advice to Future Conduct

Adjudicative Review – Section 117 Review

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member did not commit misconduct. The Commissioner disagreed as
he was of the view that the Discipline Authority did not properly consider the context in which the comments in question were made. Upon review
of the matter, the Commissioner determined that there was a reasonable basis to believe that the decision of the Discipline Authority, related to
the allegation of Discreditable Conduct, was incorrect and appointed retired BC Provincial Court Judge David Pendleton to review the matter and
arrive at his own decision based on the evidence.

Mr. Pendleton determined that there were questions as to whether the member conducted themself appropriately in carrying out their duties or
whether their intention was to harass and intimidate the complainant. Mr. Pendleton commented that a reasonable expectation of the community



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

32

may be that a police officer will carry out their duties professionally and avoid, whenever possible, having contact with a person who has made a
formal misconduct complaint against that officer. In addition, a reasonable member of the public may, given the member’s conduct, question their
training and understanding of police policies and practices, which in turn could reflect negatively on the department and could bring discredit to
the VPD.

Accordingly, Mr. Pendleton determined that the allegation of misconduct appeared to be substantiated and offered a pre-hearing conference to
the member.

Disciplinary Process

The member declined the offer of a pre-hearing conference. As a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding with retired judge
Pendleton as the Discipline Authority.

The Discipline Authority was not persuaded that the evidence proved that member threatened or harassed the complainant. However, the

Discipline Authority found that the evidence proved that the member recognized the complainant as someone who had filed a complaint against

the member. Despite this, the member had a brief encounter with the complainant as the member drove by, spoke to the complainant and waved,

and made comments to the complainant and a friend that referenced the prior allegations. The Discipline Authority found the member’s conduct

to be unnecessary, unprofessional, unwise, and ill advised.

The member did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not

required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2022-22427)
Upon request from the Vancouver Police Department (VPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a member. It was
reported that the member had used a police database to query the license plate of a driver that had been involved in a traffic altercation with the
member’s spouse.

Allegation 1

The member queried and accessed information on a police database for purposes that were unrelated to their duties as a police officer.

MISCONDUCT

Corrupt Practice
(Improper use of police databases)

Date of Incident: August 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on disciplinary or corrective measures, the Prehearing Conference
Authority noted that the member did not take any further action based on the information they obtained and had taken responsibility for their
actions.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

33

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2021-19935)
Upon request from the Vancouver Police Department (VPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a VPD member. It was
reported that the member was being criminally investigated as a result of the member’s child disclosing to a school counselor that they had been
slapped in the face by the member.

The Police Act investigation was suspended pending the outcome of the criminal investigation. The criminal process was concluded as the member
participated in an Alternative Measures program.

Allegation 1

The member slapping their child once in the face.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: April 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on disciplinary or corrective measures, the Prehearing Conference

Authority noted that the member took responsibility for their actions and successfully completed a Restorative Justice Alternative Resolution Plan,

which included counselling and apologizing to their child and family. The Discipline Authority also noted the member regularly attends a registered

psychologist for long term support.

The OPCC reviewed and approved the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that

the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2019-16842)
Upon request from the Vancouver Police Department (VPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the off-duty conduct of a member. It
was reported that the member was being investigated criminally for Sexual Assault.

The Commissioner determined it was in the public interest that an external police agency conduct this investigation and designated an external
Discipline Authority. The Commissioner directed the Royal Canadian Mounted Police to complete the investigation and Chief Constable Dave
Jansen of the New Westminster Police Department was designated as the Discipline Authority.

The Police Act investigation was suspended pending the outcome of the criminal proceedings in which the member was convicted of Sexual Assault

and received a one-year prison sentence.

The affected person in this matter filed a complaint and was added to the record and recognized as a complainant to the investigation. Prior to

completion of the Police Act investigation the member resigned.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

34

Allegation 1

The formermember’s actions towards the affected person.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: July 2019

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal

Allegation 2

The former member’s Sexual Assault conviction and incarceration.

MISCONDUCT

Public Trust Offence
(Conviction for an offence under an enactment of Canada
which discredits the reputation of the member’s department)

Date of Incident: July 2019

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal

Allegation 3

The former member’s deceit during the Criminal Code investigation and in the trial in Provincial Court

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: July 2019

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed three counts of misconduct.
No prehearing conference was offered to the member and, as a result, the matter proceeded directly to a discipline proceeding where the former
member did not participate.

In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority determined that the member’s actions were at the
highest end of the misconduct scale. The Discipline Authority commented that short of taking another person’s life, invading another person’s
physical safety is the most severe and troublesome action another human being can take. Additionally, the Discipline Authority noted that the level
of professional misconduct and impact to organizational reputation was large.

Neither the complainant nor the member requested a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that
further review was not required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Even though the member resigned prior to the conclusion of this matter, their Service Record of Discipline will reflect the discipline imposed.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

35

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2019-16853)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns regarding an interaction with a member of the Vancouver Police Department and a member of
the public. The member of the public was filming members while they were conducting a stolen property investigation in the Downtown Eastside
of Vancouver. It was alleged that the member stated “get away from me, take your shitty phone and go over there” during the interaction.

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required.

The Commissioner also determined it was in the public interest that an external police agency conduct this investigation and designated an external
Discipline Authority. The Commissioner directed the New Westminster Police Department to conduct the investigation and Chief Constable Neil
Dubord of the Delta Police Department was designated as the Discipline Authority.

Allegation 1

The member used a profanity towards a member of the public.

MISCONDUCT

Discourtesy
(Discourteous conduct)

Date of Incident: June 2019

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Advice to Future Conduct

Written Apology to be approved by a member of the VPD
Professional Standards Section.

Adjudicative Review – Section 117 Review

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member did not commit misconduct. The Commissioner disagreed as
he was of the view that the Discipline Authority failed to properly assess the available evidence. Upon review of the matter, the Commissioner
determined there was a reasonable basis to disagree with the Discipline Authority. As a result, the Commissioner appointed retired BC Provincial
Court Judge Carol Baird Ellan, K.C. to review the matter and arrive at her own decision based on the evidence.

Ms. Baird Ellan determined the member appeared to have committed misconduct during the incident.

Disciplinary Process

A prehearing conference was offered to the member which the member declined. As a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding with
retired judge Ms. Baird Ellan as the Discipline Authority.

Ms. Baird Ellan found the available video and other evidence demonstrated that the response was not an inadvertent slip but rather was said in
exasperation or irritation. Ms. Baird Ellan determined that, regardless of the circumstances, the member should not have used street language that
amounted to mistreatment of a member of the public.

Neither the member nor the complainant requested a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that
further review was not required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2022-21206)
Upon request from the Vancouver Police Department, the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a Vancouver Police
Department member. It was reported that a member was responding to a robbery call and proceeded into an intersection against a red light
without emergency equipment activated and struck a civilian vehicle.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

36

Allegation 1

The member failed to stop before entering an intersection on a red light without emergency equipment activated and struck a civilian vehicle.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Operating a police vehicle in an unsafe manner)

Date of Incident: February 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted the
member accepted responsibility for their actions and that recurrence of the misconduct was not likely as the member had engaged in an additional
review of their obligations for emergency driving. It was also noted that the member had no prior substantiated misconduct on their Service Record
of Discipline.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2022-22601)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns regarding a member of the Vancouver Police Department (VPD) said to have used excessive
force and kicked the complainant in a jail cell. The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was
required.

Allegation 1

The member unnecessarily kicked the complainant.

MISCONDUCT

Abuse of Authority
(Excessive force – empty hand)

Date of Incident: September 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Training/Re-Training: on police authority in relation to use of
force

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that the
member accepted responsibility for the misconduct and had no prior substantiated misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

37

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2022-22042)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns regarding the adequacy of an investigation into an assault by a member of the Vancouver
Police Department (VPD).

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required.

Allegation 1

The member failed to adhere to investigative best practices, specifically relating to note taking and obtaining a written or audio statement from the
complainant.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Inadequate investigation)

Date of Incident: January 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Advice to Future Conduct: specific to the member’s
investigative missteps in response to the complainant’s
allegation of assault

Training/Re-Training: participate and complete the
Investigators Development Program (IDP) administered by the
VPD training branch

Adjudicative Review – s. 117 Review

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member did not commit misconduct. The Commissioner disagreed as
he was of the view that the Discipline Authority accorded undue weight to the member’s statement and improperly applied the legal test for
determining a Neglect of Duty allegation. Upon review of the matter, the Commissioner determined that there was a reasonable basis to believe
that the decision of the Discipline Authority was incorrect and appointed retired BC Provincial Court Judge David Pendleton to review the matter
and arrive at his own decision based on the evidence.

Mr. Pendleton determined there were questions as to whether the member neglected their duty by failing to meet the complainant in person and
take a statement, or by failing to provide full written details of the results of their investigation, including the dates, times, and locations of their
efforts to contact the suspect.

Disciplinary Process

A prehearing conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority
noted that the member had accepted responsibility, acknowledged their investigative missteps, and had no current or prior substantiated
misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline. The Prehearing Conference Authority further noted that at the time, the member was a junior
officer assessing an allegation of assault with limited corroborative evidence.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

For further information on this decision, go to https://opcc.bc.ca/adjudications/section-117-reviews/

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2022-22437)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns regarding the adequacy of an investigation by a member of the Vancouver Police Department
(VPD). The complaint related to an investigation into their report of an assault and robbery by a known associate, and their subsequent disclosure



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

38

that they had been sexually assaulted. The complainant reported that they provided the member with a significant amount of information,
including photographic evidence, however the member advised that there was insufficient evidence and the file would be closed.

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required.

Allegation 1

The member failed to conduct a thorough investigation, document actions taken by the police, and failed to complete the investigative report.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Inadequate investigation)

Date of Incident: January 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Training/Re-Training: assignment to the VPD Sexual
Investigation Section (SIS) and participation in the VPD’s Sex
Crimes Unit and/or Intimate Partner Violence & Risk
Assessment Unit mentorship protocols in consultation with the
VPD’s Human Resource Section, VPD PSS, and the Inspector in
charge of VPD SIS

Consideration by the member to provide a letter of apology to
the complainant

Disciplinary Process

A prehearing conference was offered and accepted by the member. After reviewing the prehearing conference report, the Commissioner did not
approve the proposed disciplinary or corrective measures and as a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding where the member
admitted to the allegation.

The Discipline Authority found that, had the member followed proper policy and procedure, evidence related to this matter should have become
available. The Discipline Authority held the member’s conduct revealed a lack of understanding as to the existence of investigative policy and
procedure, and/or a lack of understanding as to how to apply policy, procedure and resources in a complex investigation. In arriving at the
appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority noted that the member had accepted full responsibility for their actions,
had not attempted to minimize their conduct, and that there was evidence to suggest that the complainant’s availability and a lack of clarity
regarding this incident had made it challenging for the member to investigate.

Neither the member nor the complainant requested a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that
further review was not required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2021-19722)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns with the force used by a member of the Vancouver Police Department (VPD) during a traffic
stop involving a group of motorcyclists. The complainant reported that, during the traffic stop, the member approached the complainant, told
them to put their phone down, and then forcefully took them to the ground.

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required.

Allegation 1

The member intentionally or recklessly used unnecessary force on the complainant.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

39

MISCONDUCT

Abuse of Authority
(Excessive force – empty hand)

Date of Incident: May 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

3-day suspension without pay

Training/Re-Training: with a use of force instructor with an
emphasis on use of force techniques, situational assessment,
reassessment, and de-escalation

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered to the member; the member declined the offer and as a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding.

The Discipline Authority found the allegation of abuse was unproven on the basis the member was executing policing duties during the traffic stop
and had reasonable grounds to believe the use of force applied to the complainant was reasonable.

Adjudicative Review – Review on the Record

The Commissioner received a request from the complainant for further adjudicative review. The Commissioner determined that a Review on the
Record was necessary in the public interest as there was a reasonable basis to believe the decision of the Discipline Authority was incorrect. In part,
the Commissioner noted that the evidentiary record, including video evidence, did not support the Discipline Authority’s finding that the force used
was required and proportionate to the circumstances. Specifically, the Commissioner noted concerns in relation to the member’s inconsistent
statements regarding the perceived threat posed by the complainant and the member’s rapid deployment of force without effective verbal
communication.

The Commissioner appointed retired BC Provincial Court Judge Mark Takahashi to review the matter and arrive at his own decision based on the
evidence.

Mr. Takahashi found that the member’s decision to use force was unreasonable and that the evidence did not support the member’s submission
that the situation was “out of control” or that the complainant was an “immediate flight risk.” Mr. Takahashi found that the member’s approach,
conversation, and take-down occurred as one continuous action, which did not allow the complainant time to comply with the member’s directive,
and that the complainant did not resist being handcuffed. Mr. Takahashi further found that the member had embellished evidence to justify their
actions.

In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, Mr. Takahashi found that the context of this incident, which involved one
member confronting multiple offenders, would have engaged serious concerns about officer safety. Mr. Takahashi further noted that the
member’s use of force was not gratuitous, and rather arose from a misapprehension of the proper criteria to be used in assessing the complainant.
He also noted that the member’s clean service record suggested that this misconduct was an anomaly.

For further information on this decision, go to https://opcc.bc.ca/decisions/reviews-on-the-record/

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2023-23360)
Upon request from the Vancouver Police Department (VPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a VPD member having
used an unmarked VPD police vehicle while off-duty without authorization.

Allegation 1

The member took home a VPD police vehicle without authorization.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

40

MISCONDUCT

Corrupt Practice
(Unauthorized use of equipment unrelated to performance of
duties)

Date of Incident: February 2023

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that the
member had accepted responsibility for their actions during the investigation, was apologetic, had no substantiated misconduct on their Service
Record of Discipline, and had reviewed related department policies.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Initiated by PCC
(OPCC 2021-20210)
The Commissioner ordered an investigation after receiving information from the Vancouver Police Department (VPD) relating to a video circulating
on social media depicting a VPD member (Member A) using force on an affected person. During the course of the investigation, it was revealed that
Member A did not document the incident appropriately, and another VPD member (Member B) may have unlawfully searched the affected person.

The Commissioner determined it was in the public interest that an external police agency conduct this investigation and designated an external
Discipline Authority. The Commissioner directed the New Westminster Police Department to conduct the investigation and Chief Constable Dave
Jansen was designated as the Discipline Authority.

Member A:

Allegation 1

The use of force on the affected person.

MISCONDUCT

Abuse of Authority
(Excessive force – empty hand)

Date of Incident: August 2017

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Training/Re-Training: with a focus on the appropriate time to
use force and the use of discretion and de-escalation
techniques

Allegation 2

The member neglected to take notes documenting their use of force on the affected person.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

41

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Inadequate documentation/notes/records)

Date of Incident: August 2017

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Training/Re-training: on note taking with a focus on VPD Policy
related to when to make notes.

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that Member A appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered to the member which the member declined. As a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding.

The Discipline Authority found that Member A was speaking to the affected person in follow-up to a call for service when Member A struck the

affected person’s hand. Member A reportedly believed the affected person may have been holding an illegal substance. The Discipline Authority

determined that the force used was unnecessary and unreasonable. The Discipline Authority also determined that Member A failed to complete

any notes or contemporaneous documentation regarding the use of force against the affected person without good or sufficient cause not to

submit notes. In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority noted the seriousness of the misconduct

was on the lower end of the scale, and that Member A has been a VPD member for over 20 years with no prior substantiated misconduct on their

Service Record of Discipline.

Member A did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed the findings for Member A and determined that further review

was not required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Member B:

Allegation 1

The member searched the affected person without good and sufficient cause.

MISCONDUCT

Abuse of Authority
(Unlawful search of a person)

Date of Incident: August 2017

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Advice to Future Conduct

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that Member B appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by Member B. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted Member
accepted responsibility for their misconduct and had no prior substantiated misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required for Member B and that

the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

42

Ordered Investigation – Initiated by PCC
(OPCC 2020-17764)
The Commissioner ordered an investigation after receiving information that a seconded member of the Vancouver Police Department (VPD) had
engaged in ongoing harassment toward a co-worker, which included mocking the co-worker about their clothing, their weight, and making
discriminatory comments in relation to the co-worker’s name and ethnicity.

Allegation 1

The member’s ongoing harassment and discriminatory comments directed at a co-worker.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Violation of respectful workplace policy)

Date of Incident: January 2020

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

3-day suspension without pay

Not to perform in any acting supervisory capacity for a period
of three months

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered to the member which the member declined. As a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding where the
member denied the allegation.

The Discipline Authority determined that over the course of a one-month period, the member had made repeated and persistent racialized,
disparaging, and harassing comments toward the co-worker. The Discipline Authority further found that there was no evidence to suggest such
comments were welcome by the co-worker, despite the member’s assertion that they were “banter” and mutual in nature.

In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Discipline Authority noted that, although the member had completed mandatory respectful workplace
training after this incident, the member’s actions were “unprofessional, avoidable and…culpable in their nature,” had caused the co-worker mental
and emotional distress, and the member had not apologized to the co-worker or fully accepted responsibility for their actions.

The member requested a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed the findings and determined that further review was not in the
public interest and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2023-23806)
Upon request from the Vancouver Police Department (VPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a VPD member. It was
reported that the member sent images pertaining to their police duties to a civilian with whom they were in a relationship.

Allegation 1

The member sent a photo of a Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) call message and two photos of subjects being dealt with by police.

MISCONDUCT

Improper Disclosure of Information
(Disclosing information acquired as a police officer)

Date of Incident: November 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Training/ Re-Training: in regard to policies on disclosure of
police designated and classified information.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

43

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority determined that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A

prehearing conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority

noted that while the member believed the recipient would have understood the information was confidential, the recipient was not a police officer

and had no confidentiality requirements. However, the Prehearing Conference Authority also noted the member accepted responsibility for their

actions, that sending the images had not impeded or interfered with any serious or ongoing police investigations, and that the member was a long-

serving officer who had no prior substantiated misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline and had received a number of commendations and

awards.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline

imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2020-18945)
Upon request from the Vancouver Police Department (VPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a VPD member. It was
reported that during the arrest of an affected person, the member struck the affected person across the face with their hand.

The Police Act investigation was suspended pending the outcome of a criminal investigation in which the member pled guilty to Assault and
received a Conditional Discharge with a period of a six-month probation with conditions.

Allegation 1

The member slapped a male suspect in the face immediately after being pricked with a hypodermic needle during the course of a Breach of
Probation arrest.

MISCONDUCT

Abuse of Authority
(Excessive force – empty hand)

Date of Incident: November 2019

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Verbal Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. The member agreed to the proposed discipline. After review, the Commissioner did not
approve the disciplinary or corrective measure as it did not reflect the seriousness of the conduct.

As a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding where the member admitted the allegation and the Discipline Authority imposed a
verbal reprimand.

Adjudicative Review – Review on the Record

The Commissioner reviewed the outcome of the discipline proceeding and determined that a Review on the Record was necessary in the public
interest as the disciplinary or corrective measure proposed by the Discipline Authority still did not reflect the seriousness of the misconduct. The
Commissioner noted that the member’s conduct included an unprovoked assault on a person in their custody to which the member pled guilty on a
subsequent Assault charge. Additionally, the Commissioner noted that the Discipline Authority did not appear to accord sufficient weight to the



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

44

aggravating factors, including that the member made a physically threatening comment toward the affected person after the assault and that the
member only self-reported the incident one year later after they became aware that this incident had been videotaped and was being circulated on
social media.

The Commissioner appointed retired BC Supreme Court Judge, the Honourable Elizabeth Arnold-Bailey, to review the matter and arrive at her own
decision based on the evidence.

Ms. Arnold-Bailey found that while the member’s actions were serious in nature, it was an understandable if illegal reaction to being poked with a
sharp object in the affected person’s pocket after the affected person indicated he did not have anything sharp on his person. Ms. Arnold-Bailey
further found that, while the member followed-up with threatening words toward the affected person, they were just words expressed in
frustration and anger, and the member did not intend to carry out the threat. In addition, Ms. Arnold-Bailey held that while it would have been
better for the member to report the incident before the video surfaced, the member did the right and proper thing by reporting themselves once
the video surfaced.

In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, Ms. Arnold-Bailey determined that a reasonable member of the public, fully
apprised of the circumstances and disposition of the criminal charge, the member’s admission of misconduct, the member’s exemplary record of
service, and the member’s workplace reputation, would not find the disposition of a verbal reprimand to bring the administration of police
discipline into disrepute.

For further information on this decision, go to https://opcc.bc.ca/decisions/reviews-on-the-record/

Ordered Investigation – Initiated by PCC
(OPCC 2022-22408)
The Commissioner ordered an investigation after receiving information that a member of the Vancouver Police Department (VPD) had left their
department issued firearm in an unattended backpack at a coffee shop. It was reported that a civilian had located the firearm and alerted police.

Allegation 1

The member failed to comply with VPD policy in relation to safe carrying and transport of departmental firearms.

MISCONDUCT

Improper Care of Use of Firearms
(Unsafe storage of firearm)

Date of Incident: August 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that the
member’s misconduct was an honest mistake, and that the member had taken responsibility for their actions, had no substantiated misconduct on
their Service Record of Discipline, and had refamiliarized themselves with the relevant policy and laws regarding the use and storage of
departmental issued firearms.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

45

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2022-22063)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns regarding a member of the Vancouver Police Department (VPD) not completing a police report
in relation to a motor vehicle incident.

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required.

Allegation 1

The member failed to complete and submit a MV 6020 report as required by VPD policy.

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Failure to comply with departmental policy)

Date of Incident: July 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Verbal Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that the
member accepted responsibility for their actions and was apologetic, had no prior substantiated misconduct on their Service Record of Discipline,
and had come to understand the relevant policy after numerous reviews of it following this incident.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2022-21412)
Upon request from the Vancouver Police Department (VPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the off duty conduct of a VPD

member. It was reported that the off-duty member was arrested at a retail establishment for switching bar codes on merchandise and paying a

reduced price for the merchandise.

The Police Act investigation was suspended pending the outcome of a criminal investigation in which the member admitted to one count of Fraud;

the criminal matter was concluded through alternative measures. During the investigation, an additional allegation arose in relation to the member

identifying themselves as a VPD member to the arresting officers and requesting that they not proceed with criminal charges.

The member resigned from the VPD prior to the conclusion of the investigation.

Allegation 1

The member switched prices on products in a store in order to reduce the retail purchase price, and thus committed fraud.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: March 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

46

Allegation 2

The member used their position as a police officer to gain favour from the arresting officers.

MISCONDUCT

Corrupt Practice
(Using police authority for personal gain)

Date of Incident: March 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

3-day suspension without pay

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed two counts of misconduct. No

prehearing conference was offered to the member and as a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding. The member resigned prior to

the discipline proceeding and did not participate in the process.

In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority determined that the member’s actions were “serious and

egregious in nature.” Specifically, the Discipline Authority noted that the member’s “fraudulent offence” of switching price barcodes was

premeditated, done for the member’s personal financial gain, and precipitated a costly police investigation. The Discipline Authority also noted that

during the member’s arrest, the member attempted to use their status as an officer to mitigate an investigation and/or the ramifications of their

own conduct.

The member did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not

required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Even though the member resigned prior to the conclusion of this matter, their Service Record of Discipline will reflect that they were dismissed

from the VPD.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

47

Victoria Police Department

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2023-23622)
Upon request from the Victoria Police Department (VicPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a VicPD member. It was
reported that the member had been operating a motor vehicle while off-duty and was stopped by police from another municipal police
department for a traffic offence. The member was alleged to have directed inappropriate comments including profanity at the on-duty members
conducting the traffic stop.

Allegation 1

The member’s inappropriate interaction and dialogue with members from another municipal police department.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: March 2023

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Advice to Future Conduct

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing

conference was offered to the member which the member declined. As a result, the matter proceeded to a discipline proceeding.

At the discipline proceeding, the member admitted to directing profanity and sarcasm towards the other members amounting to discreditable

conduct.

In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority noted that the member has fully accepted responsibility

for their actions and reflected on their behaviour during this incident and the conduct occurred over a short period of time. The Discipline Authority

also noted that no members of the public observed the incident, and that the member had no substantiated misconduct on his Service Record of

Discipline.

The member did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not

required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Police Complaint
(OPCC 2022-21665)
The OPCC received a complaint describing concerns regarding a Victoria Police Department member failing to grant access for the complainant to
contact a lawyer while in jail.

The OPCC reviewed the complaint and determined that an investigation into the incident was required.

Allegation 1

The member failed to advise the complainant of their right to counsel and refused to allow the complainant to access counsel without delay.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

48

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Failure to provide Charter Rights)

Date of Incident: April 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Adjudicative Review – s. 117 Review

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member did not commit misconduct. The Commissioner disagreed as
he was of the view that the Discipline Authority did not properly assess the available objective evidence. Upon review of the matter, the
Commissioner determined that there was a reasonable basis to believe that the decision of the Discipline Authority was incorrect and appointed
retired BC Provincial Court Judge James Threlfall to review the matter and arrive at his own decision based on the evidence.

Mr. Threlfall determined that that the evidence appeared to substantiate the allegation of misconduct in relation to denying the complainant
access to counsel.

Disciplinary Process

No prehearing conference was offered to the member and as a result, the matter proceeded directly to a discipline proceeding with retired judge

Mr. Threlfall as the Discipline Authority.

Mr. Threlfall substantiated the allegation of Neglect of Duty. Mr. Threlfall found that the member was well-aware of the responsibility to provide

Charter rights with respect to access to counsel and that the objective evidence did not show the complainant was potentially violent, too

intoxicated to communicate with counsel, or that there were any other reasons for the member to deny the complainant’s right to access to

counsel. In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measure, Mr. Threlfall noted that while the member had accepted responsibility

somewhat late in the day, the misconduct was properly characterized as a one-off error in judgement in an otherwise stellar career.

Neither the member nor the complainant requested a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that

further review was not required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

For further information on this decision, go to https://opcc.bc.ca/adjudications/section-117-reviews/

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2021-20838)
Upon request from the Victoria Police Department (VicPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a VicPD member. It was
reported the member showed a colleague unsolicited video footage of a person engaged in intimate relations. During the course of the
investigation, it was reported that the member video recorded a prisoner in VicPD cells purportedly masturbating and showed the video to co-
workers and the member was not truthful in Police Act interviews about these matters.

Allegation 1

The member took a video of themself on duty with a male prisoner in the background purportedly masturbating and shared it with work
colleagues.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

49

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: September 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal

Allegation 2

The member gave repeated untrue and misleading oral responses to the Investigator during 2022 in relation to the sharing of the video of a person
engaged in intimate relations.

MISCONDUCT

Deceit
(False or misleading written or oral statement)

Date of Incident: September 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal

Allegation 3

The member gave repeated untrue and misleading oral responses to the Investigator during 2022 concerning the taking of the prisoner video and
the subsequent sharing of that video with co-workers.

MISCONDUCT

Deceit
(False or misleading written or oral statement)

Date of Incident: September 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct in relation to all

three of the allegations listed above. The matter proceeded to a Discipline Proceeding where the member admitted taking and sharing the prisoner

video but denied any deceit in the investigation process.

Following the Discipline Proceeding, the Discipline Authority found that the member did not commit any acts of deceit. In relation to the taking and

sharing of the prisoner video, the Discipline Authority found that the member committed misconduct and imposed a two-day suspension without

pay.

Adjudicative Review – Review on the Record

The Commissioner reviewed the outcome of the Discipline Proceeding and determined that a Review on the Record was necessary in the public

interest. Among other things, the Commissioner determined there was a reasonable basis to believe that the Discipline Authority’s decision to

dismiss the allegations of deceit was incorrect. The Commissioner also determined that a Review on Record was necessary as the disciplinary or

corrective measure proposed by the Discipline Authority for the misconduct relating to taking and sharing the video did not reflect the seriousness

of the misconduct, and the position of trust which the member held in relation to the person in their custody.

The Commissioner appointed retired BC Provincial Court Judge Brian Neal, K.C. to review the matter and arrive at his own decision based on the

evidence.

During the course of the Review on the Record, the member resigned from the VicPD.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

50

In respect of the prisoner video, Mr. Neal found that the member clearly breached his duty of care owed to the subject of the recording and that

the misconduct was done for the apparent amusement of the member. While acknowledging that the member admitted to the misconduct, Mr.

Neal determined that it was not at all clear that the member understood why such actions were wrong and that the member consistently

minimized and equivocated on the scope, nature, and importance of such issues. Mr. Neal further noted that the member demonstrated a

disturbing indifference to basic standards of trust, care, and professionalism applicable to all officers.

In addition, Mr. Neal found that the member committed two acts of misconduct by way of Deceit as the member intentionally and unequivocally

made deceitful statements in interviews with the Police Act investigator, knowing they were misleading and untrue. Mr. Neal noted that this

misconduct was the highest level of seriousness, and that the member completely lacked the foundational standards of honesty and integrity as

evidenced by the member’s attempts to deflect blame and efforts to cast other coworkers as blameworthy to avoid personal responsibility.

In arriving at the disciplinary measure of dismissal, Mr. Neal emphasized the seriousness of the misconduct and the need to denounce the

misconduct and deter others from engaging in similar behaviours.

Even though the member resigned prior to the conclusion of this matter, their Service Record of Discipline will reflect the discipline imposed.

For further information on this decision, go to https://opcc.bc.ca/decisions/reviews-on-the-record/

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2022-21414)
Upon request from the Victoria Police Department (VicPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a VicPD member. It was
reported that the member had worn several military medal ribbons on his VicPD uniform, and that the member’s supervisor was suspicious of the
member’s account of how he had earned one of those medals.

The Commissioner determined it was necessary in the public interest that an external Discipline Authority be designated. A senior officer at the
New Westminster Police Department was designated as the Discipline Authority.

Allegation 1

The member claimed to have received a Meritorious Service Medal, wore a military ribbon on their police uniform indicating same, and told their
supervisor they had been awarded the medal when in fact they had not been.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: 2021

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal

Allegation 2

The member provided Professional Standards investigators with statements indicating they had been the recipient of the Meritorious Service
Medal and other medals, while knowing those statements to be false and misleading.

MISCONDUCT

Deceit
(False or misleading oral or written statement)

Date of Incident: 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal

Allegation 3

The member provided Professional Standards investigators with a forged record of their military service.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

51

MISCONDUCT

Deceit
(False or misleading oral or written statement)

Date of Incident: 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Dismissal

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed three counts of misconduct.

No prehearing conference was offered and as a result, the matter proceeded directly to a discipline proceeding. The member did not attend the

proceeding, which continued in their absence.

In arriving at the appropriate disciplinary or corrective measures, the Discipline Authority noted that that any course of action other than dismissal

would bring the administration of police discipline into disrepute.

The member did not request a review of the disciplinary decision. The OPCC reviewed these findings and determined that further review was not

required and that the discipline imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

During the course of the disciplinary process, the member resigned from the VicPD. Even though the member resigned prior to the conclusion of

this matter, their Service Record of Discipline will reflect the discipline imposed.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

52

West Vancouver Police Department

Ordered Investigation – Requested by Department
(OPCC 2022-22263)
Upon request from the West Vancouver Police Department (WVPD), the Commissioner ordered an investigation into the conduct of a WVPD
member. It was reported that the member had spoken in a manner that staff members at a First Nations child and family services agency found
offensive and/or culturally insensitive.

Allegation 1

The member suggested to individuals that he had a suspicion early on that a young person had been untruthful about a report of sexual assault.

MISCONDUCT

Discreditable Conduct
(Conduct that discredits the department)

Date of Incident: July 2022

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Advice to Future Conduct

Training/Re-Training: with respect to using a trauma-informed
approach (Introduction to Trauma and Sexual Assault
Investigations) as well as an Indigenous Awareness education
through the Canadian Police Knowledge Network.

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on disciplinary or corrective measures, the Prehearing Conference
Authority noted that the member had accepted responsibility for their actions, was genuinely remorseful, and acknowledged how their misconduct
had impacted their relationship with the First Nation. The Prehearing Conference Authority further noted that the member had made themselves
available for opportunities to enhance their cultural awareness as it relates to the history, language, culture, and spiritual aspects of the First
Nation and had demonstrated a commitment to strengthening their relationship with the First Nation and repairing any damage to public
confidence.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.

Ordered Investigation – Initiated by PCC
(OPCC 2021-20567)
The Commissioner ordered an investigation after receiving information that a member of the West Vancouver Police Department (WVPD) had
reportedly left police information on a personal home computer and had shared information, obtained in the course of their duties, with their
former spouse.

Upon request by the WVPD, the Commissioner directed the New Westminster Police Department to conduct the investigation and a senior officer
at the Metro Vancouver Transit Police was designated as Discipline Authority.

Allegation 1

The member failed to keep sensitive information pertaining to WVPD operations safe by storing and not removing police documents from their
former spouse’s computer.



Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner Appendix
2023/2024 Annual Report Substantiated Allegation Summaries

53

MISCONDUCT

Neglect of Duty
(Failure to comply with departmental policy)

Date of Incident: 2014-2020

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Advice to Future Conduct

Allegation 2

The member disclosed personal and confidential information acquired through their duties to their former spouse during the course of their
relationship.

MISCONDUCT

Improper Disclosure of Information
(Disclosing information acquired as a police officer)

Date of Incident: 2014-2020

DISCIPLINARY/CORRECTIVE MEASURE

Written Reprimand

Disciplinary Process

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Discipline Authority found that the member appeared to have committed misconduct. A prehearing
conference was offered and accepted by the member. In arriving at the decision on discipline, the Prehearing Conference Authority noted that the
member had accepted responsibility for their conduct and had a lengthy career in policing with no prior substantiated misconduct on their Service
Record of Discipline.

The OPCC reviewed the proposed disciplinary/corrective measures and determined that further review was not required and that the discipline
imposed was appropriate in the circumstances.







 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Office of the Web Site: Mailing Address: Location: 
Premier www.gov.bc.ca PO Box 9041 Stn Prov Govt Parliament Buildings 
  Victoria BC  V8W 9E1 Victoria 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
January 16, 2025 
 
Honourable Garry Begg 
Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General 
Parliament Buildings 
Victoria, BC V8V 1X4 
 
Dear Minister Begg: 
 
Congratulations on your appointment as Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General at 
a critical time for our province. Serving as a member of the executive council is a privilege 
and responsibility which I am confident you will fulfill with integrity and a commitment to 
the people of our province. 
 
British Columbians have trusted us with a mandate to deliver for them in ways that make 
a tangible difference in their daily lives. They expect us to listen and learn from people of 
different perspectives – and work together to make things better for everyone. 
  
Specifically, we will tackle the challenges people worry about at the kitchen table: 
 

• Grow the economy by creating good jobs across British Columbia. We will 
collaborate with businesses, workers, and communities to attract investments in 
both new and traditional sectors as well as emerging sectors of the economy. This 
approach will bring certainty for business, security for workers, and generate the 
wealth needed to support the essential services British Columbians rely on. 

 
• Reduce costs for families including by helping people access homes they can 

afford through support for first-time homebuyers, increasing the supply of rental 
housing stock, and stronger measures to crack down on housing speculation.  

 
…/2 



- 2 - 
 

• Strengthen health care by expanding access to family doctors and recruiting and 
training more health professionals, ensuring that every British Columbian can 
access the care they need, no matter where they live. We will also increase access 
to addictions treatment and provide help for people whose struggles require 
intensive supports.  

 
• Make our neighbourhoods and communities safer by working with law 

enforcement and social agencies to address street disorder, crack down on 
organized crime, and do all we can to ensure repeat offenders stay behind bars.  

 
Our commitment to take action on climate change remains foundational and will be key to 
a healthy and prosperous BC for future generations. 
 
Underlying all this work is our partnership with Indigenous peoples. Advancing 
reconciliation, implementing the Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act and 
working in partnership with First Nations rights-holders to advance shared interests is the 
responsibility of every Minister.  
 
Over this mandate I expect you to prioritize making progress on the following: 
 

• In order to protect key services that British Columbians rely on, work with the 
Minister of Finance to review all existing Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor 
General programs and initiatives to ensure our programs remain relevant, are 
efficient, ensure safe and strong communities, grow the economy, and help keep 
British Columbians safe. This is important in the context of current Provincial 
budget constraints and the priorities of communities in the province.   
 

• Facilitate strong cooperation between police, Crown prosecutors, probation 
officials, and the federal government to reduce repeat, violent, and gang offences. 
To this end, strengthen targeted policing and offender management, including 
continuing anti-gang programs, and work with the Attorney General to strengthen 
case management capacity.   
 

• Continue to work with the federal government to respond to identified issues with 
federal criminal law that prevent keeping prolific and repeat violent offenders in 
custody.  
 

• Ensure safe and strong communities by working with colleagues across ministries 
to support efforts to provide services and proactively intervene with individuals 
struggling with mental health, addiction, and brain injuries. In particular, work with 
the Minister of State for Community Safety and Integrated Services and other 
partners to ensure that provincial services are relevant and available to support 
police officers engaging in frontline responses to people in crisis, or who have 
identified individuals who present a risk to themselves or the public.  
 

…/3 



- 3 - 
 

• Spearhead policy work to use civil and administrative processes to target organized 
criminals in British Columbia by expediting seizing assets and denying access to 
government privileges, including licences or permits.  
 

• Work proactively with federal colleagues and provincial and territorial counterparts 
to ensure British Columbia is a strong partner in supporting border security along 
our coast and along all land borders with American states.  
 

• Coordinate provincial regulatory enforcement agency and police authorities, 
including gaming, liquor, cannabis, tobacco, and transit, to ensure efficiency, 
consistent authorities, and training, and to improve coordination to ensure public 
safety, prompt and effective regulatory response, and strong communities.  
 

• Support the Minister of State for Community Safety and Integrated Services in 
accessing dedicated funding for enforcement initiatives related to organized 
shoplifting and the protection of retail workers.  
 

• Work with the Cabinet Committee on Community Safety to ensure that initiatives 
identified by the committee are prioritized and delivered by your ministry as 
required.  
 

• Work with ICBC to ensure a comprehensive and independent review of the 
enhanced care model is conducted with the twin goals of delivering affordable 
rates for British Columbians and high-quality services and rehabilitation for those 
injured in collisions.  
 

• Make it easier for communities and families to follow preferred funeral and 
cremation practices by ensuring that relevant laws are modernized and responsive 
to cultural communities and their faiths and traditions.   
 

• Modernize British Columbia's liquor licensing and enforcement system to focus 
enforcement on high-risk and repeat non-compliant businesses, and to expedite 
and simplify permits. Use examples like Ontario to inform program design.  
 

• Work with the Minister of Tourism, Arts, Culture and Sport and the Minister of 
Agriculture and Food to grow our economy by supporting food and beverage 
producers, farmers, restaurants, and the tourism sector with flexible liquor, land 
use, and cannabis regulations in relation to the development of innovative tourism 
products and unique experiences.  
 

• With support from the Minister of Transportation and Transit, take steps to ensure 
safety and efficiency across our public transportation system through partnerships 
with TransLink, BC Transit, and local governments to permit the use of technology 
in relation to enforcement of public transportation safety for everyone.  

 
…/4 



- 4 - 
 

As you are aware, we have established an accord with the BC Green Caucus that supports 
our shared commitment to ensuring stable governance focused on delivering progress 
and tangible outcomes for British Columbians. The commitments in that accord 
complement the direction in these mandate letters. 
 
As a Cabinet, we will uphold the highest standards of ethics, collaboration, and good 
conduct in service of the public, and as a Minister of the Crown, you are expected to 
review, understand, and act according to the Members’ Conflict of Interest Act. You will 
establish a collaborative working relationship with your Deputy Minister and the public 
servants under their direction, who provide the professional, non-partisan advice that is 
fundamental to delivering on our government's priorities. Your Minister's Office must 
meet the highest standards for integrity and provide a respectful, rewarding environment 
for all staff. 
 
The work we have ahead takes place in a profoundly challenging geopolitical environment. 
Close friends and neighbours to our south are contemplating imposing draconian tariffs 
on our products that would hurt both Americans and Canadians. Our allies internationally 
face governmental instability. Hate and racism are on the rise around the world. Artificial 
intelligence breakthroughs with unclear implications and astonishing potential are 
announced daily. Global inflation, snarled supply chains, and war are threatening global 
economic growth and prosperity as well as the transition to a low-carbon economy.  
 
We have an obligation to protect and defend British Columbians, as well as seize 
opportunities, in these uncertain times.  
 
The good news is that we have everything we need to succeed, and we will succeed. 
British Columbia’s people – our workers, entrepreneurs, business leaders, artists, and 
innovators – are among the most talented in the world. We are home to world-class 
educational institutions and public services. Our natural beauty is unmatched, we have 
internationally envied resources, and we are one of the most diverse places on the planet. 
Your job is to help us leverage these advantages in perilous times. 
 
Use this mandate letter to guide your work, and do not be afraid to challenge assumptions, 
or be innovative, bold and aggressive in achieving the goals set out for you and your 
Ministry by the people of this province.  
 
Thank you for joining me in the work ahead. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
David Eby, KC 
Premier  



Page | 1 of 3 
 

 
New Westminster Police Department    
Police Board Report            
 

DATE: 
 
January 21, 2025 
 

SUBMITTED BY: 
 
Chief Constable Paul Hyland 
 
REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY: 
 
Chief Constable Paul Hyland 
 

SUBJECT: 
  
Annual Street Check Report - 2024 
 

ACTION: 
 

☒  For Information  
 

☐  For Action 
 

☐  For Approval 
 

MEETING: 
 

☒  Open 
 

☐  Closed 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the New Westminster Police Board receive this report for information. 
 

 
 
 
 



Page | 2 of 3 
 

PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide the Board with the results of the NWPD Annual Street 
Check Audit for 2024. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
In October 2019, the Government of British Columbia (BC) issued the new British Columbia 
Provincial Policing Standards (BCPPS) 6.2.1 Police Stops (“Standard”) which took effect on January 
15, 2020. 
 
On January 21, 2020, the New Westminster Police Board approved a new policy entitled OB235 
-  Street Checks (Police Stops) to provide direction to the NWPD members to ensure compliance 
with the new BCPPS 6.2.1 Police Stops standard. 
 
In addition, in early 2020, all NWPD members received in-house training for the new BCPPS 
standards on Police stops and the newly developed NWPD policy. Later in 2020, all NWPD 
members also completed an on-line course through the Canadian Police Knowledge Network 
(CPKN). 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
STREET CHECK POLICY OVERVIEW 
 
A Street Check is any voluntary interaction between a police officer and a person that is more 
than a casual conversation and which impedes the person’s movement. A Street Check may 
include a request for identifying information depending on the circumstances. The decision to 
conduct a Street Check shall not be based on identity factors and shall not be based solely on 
that person sharing an identity factor with a person being sought by the police. Random or 
arbitrary Street Checks shall not be conducted. In a Street Check, the person was not found 
committing an offense, but the police observe a suspicious behavior or concern about the 
person’s safety. 
 
Members are not permitted to request or demand, collect or record a person’s identifying 
information without a justifiable reason, such as lawful detention or arrest, an investigation of 
an offence and an imminent public safety threat. 
 
Members may request that a person voluntarily provide identifying information provided that it 
serves a specific public safety purpose or objective, such as assisting in locating a missing  person, 
an objectively reasonable concern for a person’s immediate safety and assisting a person in 
distress to refer them to health or other support services. 
 
The Police can conduct Street Checks when they are making enquiries into reasonable and 
legitimate public safety purposes such as suspicious activity, crime prevention or intelligence 



Page | 3 of 3 
 

gathering. Police choosing to conduct a Street Check may do so provided it is lawful and complies 
with policy. 
 
STREET CHECK DOCUMENTATION 
 
When a member conducts a Street Check, for which identifying information was requested, the 
member shall document it in a PRIME Street Check Report. A Street Check report will not be used 
to document any incident for which a General Occurrence (GO) report would normally be 
submitted. 
 
ANNUAL AUDIT 
 
The BCPPS 6.2.1 - Police Stops standard requires police departments to conduct an annual audit 
to determine if Street Check interactions and the documenting of them by police officers are in 
compliance with the policy. The results of the audit for 2024 are as follows: 
 

1. Street Check files for the year 2024 – 0 
 

2. Ethnicity of persons that were the subject of a Street Check in 2024 – n/a 
 
 
OPTIONS 
 
Option 1 – That the New Westminster Police Board receive this report for information. 
 
Option 2 – That the New Westminster Police Board provide staff with further direction. 
 
Staff are recommending Option 1 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
None 



1
AUGUST 2024



2 3

This ramework was developed as a collaborative eort o police services rom across the
province of Ontario, Quebec and alongside the Royal Canadian Mounted Police.

This working group was led by:

The working group leads would like to extend their heartfelt gratitude to all of you for your 
unwavering commitment to the development of the Trauma-Informed Police Response 
Framework. Your dedication and tireless eorts have not gone unnoticed. It is truly
commendable how this group has not only recognized the proound eects o trauma on our
communities but also wholeheartedly embraced the opportunity to lead the change. Your 
work will undoubtedly make a signicant and positive impact, to our communities and our
police response:

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Melanie Bilodeau
Royal Canadian Mounted Police  
Director Canadian Police College

Peter Dewsnap
Barrie Police Service

Inspector

Valarie Gates
Barrie Police Service

Inspector

Janet Henstock
Royal Canadian Mounted Police

Michelle Seaman 
Royal Canadian Mounted Police

Rhonda Corsi
York Regional Police

Superintendent

Michel Drayton
Royal Canadian Mounted Police  

Inspector - Canadian Police College

Jonathan Germain
Régie Intermunicipale de Police 

Thérèse-De Blainville, Lieutenant-Detective

Heather Lachine
Ottawa Police Service

Superintendent

Mark Crowell
Waterloo Regional Police Service

Chief of Police

Alanna Dunlop
Royal Canadian Mounted Police

Cheryl Gervais
Treaty Three Police Service

Chief of Police

Hugo Petit
Sûreté Du Québec Police

Capitaine

Valarie Gates
Barrie Police Service

Inspector

Viktoria Tumilowicz
Barrie Police Service

Business Planner & Analyst

Madison Charman
Barrie Police Service

Organizational Researcher

Extending heartfelt gratitude to Charmaine Lane (PhD (c) M.Sc., RP, B.A) for her invaluable insights 
and guidance on the intricate intersections of trauma and intersectionality.

Our appreciation to Anna-Lee Straatman, Project Manager at the Knowledge Hub within the Centre 
for Research and Education on Violence Against Women and Children at Western University. Her 
invaluable guidance and unwavering support were pivotal in creating this framework. Anna-Lee’s 
commitment to developing educational tools or ofcers across the country to deepen their knowledge
of trauma is truly admirable.

Grateful to consultant Monique Rollin for invaluable support during the framework’s early research 
and development phase. Your contributions were truly instrumental.

Thank you to Retired Chief Kimberley Greenwood for being the catalyst of change. Your visionary 
leadership has served as the cornerstone for implementing a framework that prioritizes empathy, 
understanding, and support or individuals aected by trauma.

Thank you to the Canadian Association Chiefs of Police Victims of Crime Committee. 

Graphic Design Viktoria Tumilowicz





6 7

Introduction

The Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police (CACP) developed the National Framework for 
Collaborative Police Action on Intimate Partner Violence (2017) and the Canadian Framework 
for Collaborative Police Response on Sexual Violence (2019) to ensure a consistent and 
strengthened police response.1:2 During the creation of these frameworks, it was clear that 
a trauma-informed approach to policing is vital to ensure equitable service to our respective 
communities. Building upon these existing structures, the CACP Victims of Crime Committee 
expressed support in the development of a trauma-informed framework for Police Services to 
enhance service delivery for everyone that any police service interacts with.3    

Following these discussions, a working group comprised of Police Service personnel, 
academics, and trauma advocates was developed. Extensive background research was 
conducted into trauma and specic contextual considerations or police services to develop
appropriate response recommendations. Internal and external resources were reviewed 
throughout the development of this document. Data was collated and comprehensively 
reviewed by a contracted neutral third-party, who then presented ndings to the CACP
Trauma Response Framework Working Group. Multiple revisions were applied to this dynamic 
framework to ensure it is inclusive of all populations and adaptable for all Police Services 
within Canada to best assist victims of crime. 

From this research, and knowledge gained through past rameworks, ndings identiy that
police often engage with individuals who have experienced trauma. This is applicable to all 
individuals involved in police responses including but not limited to victims, oenders, and
witnesses. An individual’s response to trauma is aected by their environmental context, such
as their emotional, social, and physical well-being. Therefore, individuals can vary widely in 
how they experience and express traumatic stress, relative to the environment they are in. 
Trauma is a veiled national and global epidemic and public health concern.4  

Understanding trauma and ensuring an 
appropriate police response is integral in 
strengthening and maintaining the four building 
blocks of police legitimacy, those being: 
lawulness, eectiveness, distributive justice
(fair decision making), and procedural justice.5  
Procedural justice is of particular importance as 
its implementation ensures quality of decisions 
applied by encompassing an individual’s voice/
participations, identication and understanding
of trustworthy motives, respect/dignity, and 
impartiality, as shown in Figure 1. There is an 
opportunity for a teachable moment at every 
point of contact from which both victims, 
survivors, oenders, public and police service
members can learn and evolve. This framework 
refers to police service members as a collective 
reference to sworn and civilian employees.

This framework is a call to action for police services and police leaders to embed trauma-
informed policies, standards and practices that would help police members be prepared for and 
manage traumatic situations in an eective and appropriate manner rom both a personal and
professional perspective.6 This framework follows a Six “R” approach (Figure 2). This approach 
was adapted for a law enforcement context from the Substance Abuse and Mental Health 
Administration’s (SAMHSA) Four “R’S” Model.

Figure 1: Four Pillars of Procedural Justice

Figure 2: Six “R” Approach

Image sourced from -  
Procedural Justice | Yale Law School





















26 27

Accept/Recognize secondary trauma stress as a risk factor for all employees, 
throughout all levels of the Police Service to help members feel safe and respected, 
enhancing the likelihood that they will talk openly about their experiences and the 
impact.

Increase the availability of opportunities for supportive professional relationships.

Implement policies and practices that allow supervisors to recognize trauma-
related exposures and the risk for secondary traumatization. Supervisors should 
be experienced and trained in trauma-inormed and trauma-specic symptoms
and provide a competence-based model of regular supervision that is not solely 
focused on work performance but also promotes personal development and 

Trauma-Inormed Considerations or Police Member Wellness

Police services must recognize the experience of a traumatic event impacts all people involved, 
whether directly or indirectly, including its own members. A trauma-informed police service 
should be linked to, or integrated with trauma-specic human services and practitioners that
incorporate their knowledge of trauma and its impacts into their support and intervention 
systems.

Policing in general creates an unavoidable context with risk factors that can increase the 
likelihood of members experiencing secondary trauma. Police services can lessen the impact 
of the risk factors associated with working in trauma-informed organizations by:

 supervising exposure to investigations with trauma-related issues,

 supporting ongoing member training,

 providing access to peer and professional supports, and;

oering an empowering work environment in which members share in the responsibility
o wellness and can oer input into wellness program policies that aect their lie and
well-being.

Providing members with the resources to help them build resilience and prevent feeling 
overwhelmed should be a high priority for the police service with a focus on:

 Member Supports and Protective Factors

 Recognizing Secondary Traumatization

 Strategies for Preventing Secondary Traumatization

 Trauma-Informed Policy

Member Supports and Protective Factors
Police Services can support members by incorporating a trauma-informed lens for their own members 
by providing trauma exposure education to enhance positive personal coping styles, nd meaning in
their work, and reduce trauma-related stress reactions. Services should support member well-being by 
providing wellness opportunities, peer, and professional supports. 

Strategies or Preventing Secondary Traumatization

The key to prevention of secondary traumatization in a trauma-informed Police Service is to 
reduce risk and enhance protective factors. SAMHSA (2014) notes that organizational strategies 
to prevent secondary traumatization include:

mitigation of harm.72

Policy Development

Organizational process and policy must consider a trauma-informed approach through the 
policies it implements. According to the Government of Canada Public Health Agency (2018), 
policies establish the rules that govern an organization, and should be based on the following key 
policy and practice principles: 

Understand trauma and violence, and their impacts on peoples’ lives and behaviours.

Create emotionally and physically safe environments.

Foster opportunities for choice, collaboration, and connection.

Provide a strengths-based and capacity-building approach to support internal members 
and community members with coping and resilience.73 

Further, SAMSHA notes organizational policies, procedures, and cross-agency protocols (includ-
ing working with community-based agencies), establish, and reect a trauma-inormed approach,
which should be embedded into an organization.

Strategies for developing a trauma-informed policy are further explored in Figure 11.
Recognizing Secondary Traumatization

Some member behaviours or work performance may be outward signs of secondary 
traumatization, and they should be viewed through a trauma-informed lens. It is imperative 
that supervisors provide a non-judgmental, safe context in which members can discuss 
these feelings and behaviours without fear of reprisal or reprimand. Leadership should 
work collaboratively with members to help them understand their own trauma reactions and 
cooperatively engage them in work performance and established support programs to assist 
member wellness. 











36 37

The “do no more harm” approach is about reevaluating the traditional role of law enforcement in 
various situations and acknowledging that the mere presence of police can sometimes exacerbate 
trauma or escalate tensions. Listed are some suggested strategies police services can consider 
adopting this approach:

Police services must adopt a ‘do no more harm’ approach to embrace a trauma-informed 
response. As  police services, we are mandated to serve and protect our communities. 
However, the involvement of the police itself can often illicit and compound experiences of 
trauma.

The “do no more harm” approach is a crucial paradigm shift in law enforcement. Acknowledging 
the potential or police involvement to cause or compound trauma is a signicant step toward
building more empathetic and community-centered policing. Collaborating with individuals 
who have experienced trauma and engaging community experts can greatly inform policies 
and practices that aim to minimize harm.

Recognizing the subjective nature o psychological and physical saety is vital. Trauma aects
individuals dierently, and what might eel sae or one person might be triggering or another.
Building this understanding within police services can lead to more tailored responses that 
prioritize the well-being and safety of everyone involved.

Implementing trauma-informed approaches involves ongoing education, training, and a 
commitment to empathy and understanding. It’s about ostering an environment where ofcers
can recognize signs of trauma, respond appropriately, and actively work toward reducing harm 
in their interactions with the community.

As mentioned previously, police services must adopt procedurally just principles. Procedural 
justice in policing is fundamentally tied to the “do no more harm” approach, as it emphasizes 
fairness, transparency, and respectful treatment in police interactions. By embracing procedural 
justice principles, law enforcement agencies can inherently align with the goals of minimizing 
harm.When ofcers engage with individuals in amanner that prioritizes airness, listens to their
perspectives, and demonstrates unbiased decision-making, it fosters a sense of legitimacy 
and trust within the community. This approach acknowledges the potential harm caused by 
the mere presence of police and strives to mitigate it through respectful engagement, active 
listening, and fair treatment. Ultimately, procedural justice becomes a foundational framework 
for the “do no more harm” approach, guiding police responses toward actions that protect and 
respect the well-being of all individuals involved in an incident.

REDUCE
Do No More Harm’ Approach

Reduce: Reduce re-traumatization through adopting a ‘do no more harm’ approach.

1. Assessment and De-escalation: Prioritize assessing the situation before direct 
intervention. Understand that the presence o uniormed ofcers might escalate stress or
anxiety for individuals involved. Attempt de-escalation techniques that prioritize dialogue 
and empathy over authoritative presence.

2. Trauma-Inormed Training: Equip ofcers with comprehensive training in trauma-
informed practices. This involves recognizing signs of trauma, understanding the impact of 
trauma on behavior, and learning de-escalation techniques that minimize re-traumatization.

3. Crisis Intervention Teams (CIT): Establish specialized teams explicitly trained to 
handle mental health crises or situations involving individuals who might have experienced 
trauma. These teams oten consist o ofcers and mental health proessionals working
collaboratively.

4. Community Partnerships: Collaborate with mental health professionals, social 
workers, and community organizations to create joint response protocols. A diverse team 
of responders can provide a more holistic approach to complex situations.

5. Active Listening and Empathy: Train ofcers in active listening skills and empathy-
building techniques. Sometimes, the most helpful response might involve listening and 
validating the experiences of those involved rather than immediate action.

6. Alternative Response Models: Consider alternative response models for non-violent or 
non-criminal situations. For instance, sending mental health professionals or social workers 
instead o police ofcers in situations where their expertise might be more suitable.

7. Continuous Evaluation and Learning: Encourage a culture of constant learning within 
the police service. Regularly evaluate responses and incidents to understand what worked 
well and where improvements can be made to reduce harm.

8. Transparency and Accountability: Foster transparency within the community by being 
open about the challenges, successes, and ongoing eorts to adopt a “do no more harm”
approach. Establish mechanisms for accountability and feedback from the community.

Embracing a “do no more harm” approach within police services is not just an aspiration; it’s 
an imperative commitment to our communities. This paradigm shift acknowledges the potential 
trauma caused by police involvement and emphasizes the need for empathy, understanding, and 
continuous learning within law enforcement. By prioritizing procedural justice, actively seeking 
collaboration with community experts, and implementing tailored strategies like trauma-informed 
training, crisis intervention teams, and alternative response models, we can strive to minimize 
harm and build trust. This isn’t a static goal but an ongoing journey of re-evaluation, transparency, 
and accountability—a journey that aims to redene policing as a orce or healing and saety in
our communities.









44 45

Appendix B: Denitions

The ollowing is a general list o terms and denitions used throughout this Framework, and or
strengthened understanding o a trauma-inormed police response.

2SLGBTQI+: This acronym represents Two-Spirit, lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, intersex, 
and additional people who identify as part of sexual and gender diverse communities. The “2S” at the 
ront recognizes Two-Spirit people as the rst 2SLGBTQI+ communities. The “I” or intersex considers
sex characteristics beyond sexual orientation, gender identity and gender expression. The “+” is
inclusive of people who identify as part of sexual and gender diverse communities, who use additional 
terminologies.84

Abuse: is a behaviour that frightens, isolates, or controls another person. Abuse may be a pattern or 
a single incident. Abuse includes several orms: physical (including assault and orcible connement),
sexual (including harassment and sexual contact without consent), psychological (including threats and 
intimidation), nancial (including raud and extortion) and neglect (consisting o the ailure to provide the
necessities of life) which can cause serious harm.85 

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs): are potentially traumatic or stressful events occurring in 
the rst 18 years o lie. The list o commonly recognized ACEs includes emotional, physical, or sexual
abuse; emotional or physical neglect; growing up in a household with a parent or caregiver who uses 
alcohol or substances; has a mental health problem; exposure to intimate partner violence; separation 
or divorce; and criminal behaviour resulting in incarceration.86

Bias: there are two types of bias:
i. Conscious bias (also known as explicit bias): this is the result of conscious thoughts. It 
occurs when we are aware that we are being biased and doing it intentionally.

ii. Unconscious bias (also known as implicit bias): is an unfair belief, assumption, or 
generalization about an individual or group of people based on personal characteristics that 
occurs without one’s knowledge. They are learned stereotypes that are unintentional and deeply 
ingrained. Unconscious biases are subtle, hidden, because they are activated automatically 
without being aware of them, and are often incompatible with an individual’s conscious values.87  

Child Sexual Abuse: an assault or touching, directly or indirectly, or invitation to touching of a sexual 
nature which violates the sexual integrity of the child. Authority and power enable the perpetrator, 
implicitly or directly, to impose sexual acts on the child or coerce the child into sexualized compliance.88

Complex or Repetitive Trauma: over a period of time an individual has experienced repeated instances 
of the same, or multiple types of trauma.89

Cultural Saety: is an approach to working across ethnic and other dierences to make systems and
organizations responsible to ensure that service environments are safe for everyone—regardless 
of their expressed or assumed culture. This approach to policy and practice is compatible with, and 
often an embedded component of, trauma and violence-informed approaches. For example, service 
providers support cultural saety when they reduce power dierences between themselves and clients,
stop making assumptions based on people's appearance or presumed ethnicity, avoid actions which 
demean, disrespect, or disempower clients.90

Cultural Humility: is a process o sel-reection to understand personal and systemic biases and to
develop and maintain respectful processes and relationships based on mutual trust. Cultural humility 
involves humbly acknowledging oneself as a learner when it comes to understanding another’s 
experience.91 

Developmental Trauma: refers to the complex and pervasive exposure to life-threatening events that:
1. occur through sensitive periods of infant and child development, 
2. disrupts interpersonal attachments, compromises an individual’s safety and security operations,
3. alters foundational capacities for cognitive, behavioural, and emotional control, and;
4. often contributes to the development of complex Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) in 
adulthood.92

Equity-Seeking Group (equity-denied group, equity-deserving group): group of people who, 
because of systemic discrimination, face barriers that prevent them from having the same access to the 
resources and opportunities that are available to other members of society, and that are necessary for 
them to attain just outcomes. In Canada, groups generally considered to be equity-denied groups include 
women, Indigenous people, people with disabilities, people who are part o 2SLGBTQI+ communities,
religious minority groups and racialized people. The types of equity-denied groups may vary based on 
actors such as geography, sociocultural context, or the presence o specic subpopulations.93

Hate Crime: are criminal acts done by a person who is motivated by an extreme bias or hatred towards 
a particular social group.94 

Historical Trauma: is a cumulative emotional and psychological wounding over the lifespan and across 
generations emanating rommassive group or community trauma. These collective traumas are inicted
by a subjugating, dominant population. Examples of historical trauma include genocide, colonialism
(i.e., residential schools), slavery and war. Intergenerational trauma is an aspect of historical trauma.95

Human Services (Social Services) Agencies: are publicly or privately provided services intended to 
aid disadvantaged, distressed, or vulnerable persons or groups.96 

Intergenerational Trauma: refers to the ways that multiple generations are impacted by trauma both 
through the eects o one generation o people on the next, as well as by the ongoing conditions in
which people live. Intergenerational trauma describes the psychological or emotional eects that can
be experienced by people who live with trauma survivors. Coping and adaptation patterns developed 
in response to trauma can be passed from one generation to the next.97

Intersectionality: a term coined by legal scholar Kimberlé Crenshaw that refers to how sources of 
discrimination overlap and reinforce each other. It also refers to the reality that every individual has 
many identities that intersect to make them who they are.98 

Intimate Partner Violence (IPV): refers to behaviour by an intimate partner or ex-partner that causes 
physical, sexual, or psychological harm, including physical aggression, sexual coercion, psychological 
abuse, and controlling behaviours.99 



46 47

Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD): is a diagnosable, mental health disorder that may occur 
ater exposure to psychological stressors during a specic, severe, potentially psychologically traumatic
event or series o events, and has specic psychological symptoms and can aect people o any age,
culture, or gender. 

This may involve any dierent combination o:
• triggers.
• Flashbacks.
• sleep disturbances.
• Intrusive memories.
• persistently negative thoughts.
• low mood, anger, or feeling emotionally numb.
• regular, vivid recall of the psychologically traumatic event.
• trouble remembering parts of the psychologically traumatic event.
• having difculties eeling emotionally connected to amily or close riends.
• avoiding reminders or thinking about the psychologically traumatic event.100 

Psychological Saety: A psychologically sae workplace is one that allows no signicant harm to
employees’ mental health in negligent, reckless, or intentional ways and where every reasonable eort
is made to protect the mental health of employees through harm reduction strategies based on due 
diligence.101

Racialized Group (Racialized Minority): A group of people categorized according to ethnic or racial 
characteristics and subjected to discrimination on that basis.102

Rape Culture: used to describe a society or environment whose prevailing social attitudes have the 
eect o normalizing or trivializing sexual assault and abuse. Common behaviours associated with rape
culture include victim-blaming, sexual objectication, trivializing sexual violence, denial o widespread
sexual violence or refusal to acknowledge its harms, or combinations thereof.103 

Secondary-Trauma/Vicarious-Trauma/Indirect-Trauma: is a trauma-related stress reaction and 
set of symptoms resulting from exposure to another individual’s traumatic experiences rather than 
from exposure directly to a traumatic event.  The terms compassion fatigue, vicarious traumatization, 
secondary traumatization, and burnout are used, sometimes interchangeably and sometimes as distinct 
constructs but are broadly captured as STS or Secondary Trauma Stress Reactions.104

Sexual Assault: Any unwanted act of touching or threat of touching, directly or indirectly that violates 
the sexual integrity of any person. It is sexual assault regardless of the relationship of the victim/
survivor to the perpetrator.105 

Sexual Harassment: Any behaviour, comment, gesture or contact of a sexual nature that could be 
considered objectionable or oensive. It consists o a single or repeated incident(s) and unreciprocated
action(s), comments or looks of a sexual nature which treat the recipient as a sexual object. It may 
threaten a person’s safety and security or prejudice the recipient’s job security or promotion prospects 
while creating a stressful working environment. It may also prejudice a user of services or housing 
needs. Sexual harassment is a orm o sexual violence and is considered an oence under the Ontario
Human Rights Code and may constitute sexual assault as dened.106

Sexual Violence: includes Child Sexual Abuse, Sexual Assault, Sexual Harassment, and related 
sexual oences.107 

Single Incident Trauma: can involve a single event, numerous or repeated events, or sustained/
chronic experiences, and is limited to a single point in time. A rape, an automobile accident, the sudden 
death of a loved one, are examples of a single trauma. Some people who experience a single trauma 
recover without any specic intervention, however or others (especially those with histories o previous
trauma or mental or substance use disorders, or those for whom the trauma experience is particularly 
horric or overwhelming) a single trauma can result in traumatic stress symptoms and trauma, and
stress-related disorders.108

SupportedReporting: means stigma reduction and removal of barriers to accessing justice participants 
and victim/survivor services through initiatives rooted in innovative approaches to encourage and 
support sexual violence reporting; with changes to historical reporting options with enhanced comfort 
levels for victims/survivors.109 

Systemic Barrier: A barrier that results from seemingly neutral systems, practices, policies, traditions, 
or cultures, and that disadvantages certain individuals or groups of people. Systemic barriers are those 
that disadvantage minority groups, racialized groups, people with disabilities, people rom 2SLGBTQI+
Communities, Indigenous people and other marginalized people and groups.110 

Trauma: refers to the experience of an overwhelmingly negative event or series of events. These often
involve violent crimes that can take many dierent orms, and that can be experienced once or many
times.  Trauma generally refers to a deeply distressing or disturbing experience or physical injury. 
People exposed to trauma or extreme stress can develop various disorders including post-traumatic 
stress disorder (PTSD), depression, anxiety, panic, and various forms of dissociation.111 
Trauma-Inormed Lens: refers to the importance of taking into consideration the physical and mental 
impacts of traumatic experiences on individuals and developing environments and approaches that are 
responsive to those impacts.112

Trauma-Inormed Response to Sexual Violence: means a neurobiology science and evidence-based 
investigative approach that is cognizant about how specic experiences impact victim/ survivor trauma,
memory, reactions, and behaviour.113 

Victim/Survivor: means a person who has suered physical or emotional harm, property damage, or
economic loss as a result of a crime committed by another person.114 

Victim – Ofender Overlap: The victim oender overlap is when an oender is also victimized, or a
victim also oends.115 

Victim Services: reers to services, oten co-located with police services, oered to survivors o sexual
violence and other violent crimes, particularly those who report to police. Victim services may include
crisis response, community referrals for counselling and other services, crime-scene clean-up, bail 
notication services, and high-risk saety programs.116 

Vulnerable Populations: means those individuals who are at a higher risk of being targeted for 
violence, and/or exploitation and/or at a higher risk of experiencing trauma. Response involving 
traumatic incidents on vulnerable populations must consider issues that may face certain populations 
(i.e., age, culture, abilities, gender(s), language and lived experience) and how this might aect the way
a victim/survivor is traumatized, makes decisions, and responds to law enforcement.117 





50 51

Appendix D: Trauma-inormed Literacy

The following items are additional trauma-informed resources for consideration: 

Canada, P. H. A. of. (2018, February 2). Government of Canada. Canada.ca. https://www.can-
ada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/health-risks-safety/trauma-violence-informed-ap-
proaches-policy-practice.html 

Communications. (n.d.-a). Document, monitor, collaborate: A Primer on domestic violence risk 
assessment & management. Centre for Research & Education on Violence Against Women & 
Children - Western University. https://www.learningtoendabuse.ca/online-training/doc_mon_
collab/index.html 

Communications. (n.d.). Online training. Centre for Research & Education on Violence Ag ainst 
Women & Children - Western University. https://www.learningtoendabuse.ca/online-training/
index.html 

Rise 360. (n.d.). https://rise.articulate.com/share/IqQaO7T9LYt-N4gLC0l5oQ2Gurwg68Nh#/ 

Speak Out. (n.d.). https://www.speak-out.ca/home 

Appendix E: Figures

Figure 1: Four Pillars of Procedural Justice................................................................................. 6

Figure 2: Six "R" Approach .......................................................................................................... 7 

Figure 3: Six Principles to Become a Trauma-Informed Organization......................................... 12-13

Figure 4: Neurobiological Responses to Trauma......................................................................... 15

Figure 5: Neurobiological Responses to Sexual Violence........................................................... 16

Figure 6: Memory Recall Denitions............................................................................................ 16

Figure 7: Factors That Inuence Victimization and the Perpetration o Violence........................ 17

Figure 8: Building Blocks of Intersectionality............................................................................... 19

Figure 9: Canada’s Quality of Life Framework............................................................................ 23

Figure 10: Roles and Responsibilities of Police Service Roles................................................... 24-25

Figure 11: Strategies for Developing a Trauma-Informed Policy................................................. 28-29

Figure 12: Trauma-Informed Guideline....................................................................................... 30

Figure 13: Quick Reference Interview Guide.............................................................................. 31

Figure 14: Strategies for Measurement...................................................................................... 38



52 53

Reerences

1. Canadian Observatory on the Justice System’s Response to Intimate Partner Violence. (2019). 
National Framework for Collaborative Police Action on Intimate Partner Violence (IPV). Canadian 
Association of Chiefs of Police. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

2. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative Police 
Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

3. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2022). Resolution 2022-03: Development of a Trau-
ma-Informed Framework for Police Services to Support Victims of Crime. Victims of Crime Com-
mittee - CACP. 

4. Magruder KM, McLaughlin KA, Elmore Borbon DL. Trauma is a public health issue. Eur J Psycho-
traumatol. 2017 Oct 9;8(1):1375338. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2017.1375338. PMID: 29435198; 
PMCID: PMC5800738.

5. Procedural justice. Yale Law School. (2019b, December 11). https://law.yale.edu/justice-collabora-
tory/procedural-justice

6. Lee, E., Kourgiantakis, T., Lyons, O., & Prescott-Cornejo, A. (2021). A trauma-informed approach 
in Canadian mental health policies: A systematic mapping review. Health policy (Amsterdam, 
Netherlands), 125(7), 899–914. 

7. Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2014). The Essentials of Trauma-informed 
Care Series.

8. Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2014). The Essentials of Trauma-informed 
Care Series. 

9. Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (US). Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health Ser-
vices. Rockville (MD): Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 2014. 
(Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series, No. 57.) Chapter 1, Trauma-Informed Care: A 
Sociocultural Perspective.

10. British Columbia Ministry of Children and Family Development. (2017). Healing Families, Helping 
Systems: A Trauma-Informed Practice Guide for Working with Children, Youth and Families.

11. Missouri’s Early Care & Education Connections. (n.d.). Trauma-Informed Care. Trauma-Informed 
Care | Early Connections. https://earlyconnections.mo.gov/professionals/trauma-informed-care 

12. Merrick, M. T., Ports, K. A., Ford, D. C., A, T. O., Gersho, E. T., & Grogan-Kaylor, A. (2017).
Unpacking the impact of adverse childhood experiences on adult mental health. Child abuse & 
neglect, 69, 10-19.

13. Cronholm, P. F., Forke, C. M., Wade, R., Bair-Merritt, M. H., Davis, M., Harkins-Schwarz, M., ... & 
Fein, J. A. (2015). Adverse childhood experiences: Expanding the concept of adversity. American 
journal of preventive medicine, 49(3), 354-361. 

14. Freeze, C. (2019). Adverse Childhood Experiences and Crime. https://leb.fbi.gov/articles/fea-
tured-articles/adverse-childhood-experiences-and-crime 

15. Reavis, J. A., Looman, J., Franco, K. A., & Rojas, B. (2013). Adverse childhood experiences and 
adult criminality: how long must we live before we possess our own lives?. The Permanente Jour-
nal, 17(2), 44.

16. International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies. (2020). Trauma During Adulthood: Fact Sheet. 

17. News release: The CACP membership adopts four new resolutions in 2022. Canadian Association 
of Chiefs of Police. (2022, July 25). https://www.cacp.ca/news/news-release-the-cacp-member-
ship-adopts-four-new-resolutions-in-2022.html

18. British Columbia Ministry of Children and Family Development. (2017). Healing Families, Helping 
Systems: A Trauma-Informed Practice Guide for Working with Children, Youth and Families. 

19. Bateson, K., McManus, M., & Johnson, G. (2019). Understanding the use, and misuse, of adverse 
childhood experiences (aces) in trauma-informed policing. The Police Journal: Theory, Practice 
and Principles, 93(2), 131–145. https://doi.org/10.1177/0032258x19841409 

20. Magruder, K. M., McLaughlin, K. A., & Elmore Borbon, D. L. (2017, October 9). Trauma is a public 
health issue. European journal of psychotraumatology. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/
PMC5800738/ 

21. British Columbia Ministry of Children and Family Development. (2017). Healing Families, Helping 
Systems: A Trauma-Informed Practice Guide for Working with Children, Youth and Families. 

22. 

23. D’Anniballe, J. (2012). Understanding the Neurobiology o Trauma: Implications or Working Eec-
tively with Adults and Adolescents. Safe House Partnerships.  

24. AbuHasan, Q., Reddy, V., & Siddiqui, W. (2019). Neuroanatomy: Amygdala. 

25. The Sexual Trauma & Abuse Care Center. (n.d.). Neurobiology of Trauma. http://stacarecenter.
org/handouts-downloads 

26. Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (US). Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health Ser-
vices. Rockville (MD): Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 2014. 
(Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series, No. 57.) Chapter 3, Understanding the Impact of 
Trauma. 

27. Chivers-Wilson, K. A. (2020). Sexual assault and posttraumatic stress disorder: A review of the 
biological, psychological and sociological factors and treatments. McGill Journal of Medicine, 9(2). 
https://doi.org/10.26443/mjm.v9i2.663

28. Hopper, J. (2021). “Reexes and Habits” Is Much Better Than “Fight or Flight.” https://www.psy-
chologytoday.com/us/blog/sexual-assault-and-the-brain/202102/why-ght-or-ight-doesnt-reect-
the-response-sexual

29. Hopper, J., Lonsway, K.A., Archambault, J. (2020). Important Things to Get Right About the “Neu-
robiology of Trauma.” End Violence Against Women International.

30. Hopper, J. (2021). “Reexes and Habits” Is Much Better Than “Fight or Flight.” https://www.psy-
chologytoday.com/us/blog/sexual-assault-and-the-brain/202102/why-ght-or-ight-doesnt-reect-
the-response-sexual 



54 55

31. Hopper, J. (2021). “Reexes and Habits” Is Much Better Than “Fight or Flight.” https://www.psy-
chologytoday.com/us/blog/sexual-assault-and-the-brain/202102/why-ght-or-ight-doesnt-reect-
the-response-sexual 

32. Hopper, J. (2021). “Reexes and Habits” Is Much Better Than “Fight or Flight.” https://www.psy-
chologytoday.com/us/blog/sexual-assault-and-the-brain/202102/why-ght-or-ight-doesnt-reect-
the-response-sexual 

33. Hopper, J. (2021). “Reexes and Habits” Is Much Better Than “Fight or Flight.” https://www.psy-
chologytoday.com/us/blog/sexual-assault-and-the-brain/202102/why-ght-or-ight-doesnt-reect-
the-response-sexual 

34. Schmidt, N. B., Richey, J. A., Zvolensky, M. J., & Maner, J. K. (2008). Exploring human reeze
responses to a threat stressor. Journal of behavior therapy and experimental psychiatry, 39(3), 
292-304.

35. Hopper, J., Lonsway, K.A., Archambault, J. (2020). Important Things to Get Right About the “Neu-
robiology of Trauma.” End Violence Against Women International.

36. Hopper, J., Lonsway, K.A., Archambault, J. (2020). Important Things to Get Right About the “Neu-
robiology of Trauma.” End Violence Against Women International.

37. Hopper, J., Lonsway, K.A., Archambault, J. (2020). Important Things to Get Right About the “Neu-
robiology of Trauma.” End Violence Against Women International.

38. Hopper, J., Lonsway, K.A., Archambault, J. (2020). Important Things to Get Right About the “Neu-
robiology of Trauma.” End Violence Against Women International.

39. Hartinger-Saunders, R. M., Rittner, B., Wieczorek, W., Nochajski, T., Rine, C. M., & Welte, J. 
(2011). Victimization, psychological distress and subsequent oending among youth. Children and
Youth Services Review, 33(11), 2375–2385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.08.009

40. Berg, M. T., & Schreck, C. J. (2022). The meaning o the victim–oender overlap or criminological
theory and crime prevention policy. Annual Review of Criminology, 5, 277-297.

41. Bucerius, S. M., Oriola, T. B., & Jones, D. J. (2022). Policing with a public health lens–Moving 
towards an understanding of crime as a public health issue. The Police Journal, 95(3), 421-435.

42. Jones, D. J. (2021). Universal precautions: A methodology for trauma-informed justice. Journal of 
Community Safety and Well-Being, 6(3), 156-159.

43. Mazerolle, L., Bennett, S., Davis, J., Sargeant, E., & Manning, M. (2013). Procedural justice and 
police legitimacy: A systematic review of the research evidence. Journal of experimental criminolo-
gy, 9, 245-274.

44. Mant, M., de la Cova, C., & Brickley, M. B. (2021). Intersectionality and trauma analysis in bioar-
chaeology. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 174(4), 583–594. https://doi.org/10.1002/
ajpa.24226

45. Center for Research & Education on Violence Against Women & Children. (2015). Issue 15: Inter-
sectionality. Learning Network - Western University. https://gbvlearningnetwork.ca/our-work/issue-
based_newsletters/issue-15/index.html 

46. Center for Research & Education on Violence Against Women & Children. (2015). Issue 15: Inter-
sectionality. Learning Network - Western University. https://gbvlearningnetwork.ca/our-work/issue-
based_newsletters/issue-15/index.html 

47. Center for Research & Education on Violence Against Women & Children. (2015). Issue 15: Inter-
sectionality. Learning Network - Western University. https://gbvlearningnetwork.ca/our-work/issue-
based_newsletters/issue-15/index.html 

48. Center for Research & Education on Violence Against Women & Children. (2015). Issue 15: Inter-
sectionality. Learning Network - Western University. https://gbvlearningnetwork.ca/our-work/issue-
based_newsletters/issue-15/index.html 

49. Center for Research & Education on Violence Against Women & Children. (2015). Issue 15: Inter-
sectionality. Learning Network - Western University. https://gbvlearningnetwork.ca/our-work/issue-
based_newsletters/issue-15/index.html 

50. Seto, C. (2020). What is intergenerational trauma and how do you heal from it?. United Way 
Greater Toronto. https://www.unitedwaygt.org/issues/what-is-intergenerational-trauma-and-how-
do-you-heal-from-it/ 

51. Aguiar, W., & Halseth, R. (2015). Aboriginal Peoples and Historical Trauma: The Process of Inter-
generational Transmission. National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health. 

52. Aguiar, W., & Halseth, R. (2015). Aboriginal Peoples and Historical Trauma: The Process of Inter-
generational Transmission. National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health.

53. Government o Canada (2012). (Not all) Hurt people hurt people: Re-thinking the Victim-Oender
Overlap. Ofce o the Federal Ombudsperson or Victims o Crime. https://www.victimsrst.gc.ca/
res/pub/ROV-ROV/index.html

54. Department of Justice Canada. (2023). Indigenous overrepresentation in the criminal justice sys-
tem. JustFacts. https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/jr/jf-pf/2019/may01.html 

55. Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2021). Shining A Light On Mental Health In Black Com-
munities. Retrieved from https://mentalhealthcommission.ca/resource/shining-a-light-on-mental-
health-in-black-communities

56. Lee, A. T., Chin, P., Nambiar, A., & Hill Haskins, N. (2023). Addressing intergenerational trauma 
in Black amilies: Trauma‐ inormed socioculturally attuned amily therapy. Journal o marital and
family therapy, 49(2), 447-462. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/jmft.12632 

57. Cotter, A. (2022). Perceptions of and experiences with police and the justice system among the 
Black and Indigenous populations in Canada. Statistics Canada. 

58. Lee, A. T., Chin, P., Nambiar, A., & Hill Haskins, N. (2023). Addressing intergenerational trauma 
in Black amilies: Trauma‐ inormed socioculturally attuned amily therapy. Journal o marital and
family therapy, 49(2), 447-462. 

59. Polanco-Roman, L., Danies, A., & Anglin, D. M. (2016). Racial discrimination as race-based trau-
ma, coping strategies, and dissociative symptoms among emerging adults. Psychological Trauma: 
Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 8(5), 609.

60. Statistics Canada. (2020). Sexual minority people almost three times more likely to experience 
violent victimization than heterosexual people. The Daily. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/dai-
ly-quotidien/200909/dq200909a-eng.htm 

61. Canadian Mental Health Association. (n.d.). Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans & Queer identied Peo-
ple and Mental Health. https://ontario.cmha.ca/documents/lesbian-gay-bisexual-trans-queer-identi-
ed-people-and-mental-health/



56 57

62. Department o Justice Canada. (2021). Police Discretion with Young Oenders. https://www.jus-
tice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/cj-jp/yj-jj/discre/org/styles.html 

63. Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (US). Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health Ser-
vices. Rockville (MD): Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 2014. 
(Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series, No. 57.) Chapter 2, Trauma Awareness

64. Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (US). Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health Ser-
vices. Rockville (MD): Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 2014. 
(Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series, No. 57.) Chapter 2, Trauma Awareness 

65. Watson, R. (2018). How trauma impacts the seven senses. Family Futures. https://www.familyfu-
tures.co.uk/trauma-impacts-seven-senses/ 

66. Statistics Canada. (2022). Quality of Life Hub. https://www160.statcan.gc.ca/index-eng.htm 

67. Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (US). Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health Ser-
vices. Rockville (MD): Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 2014. 
(Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series, No. 57.)

68. Public Health Agency of Canada. (2018). Trauma and violence-informed approaches to policy and 
practice. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/health-risks-safety/trau-
ma-violence-informed-approaches-policy-practice.html 

69. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative Police 
Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

70. 73 https://www160.statcan.gc.ca/index-eng.htm 

71. Canadian Charter if Rights and Freedoms

72. Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (US). Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health Ser-
vices. Rockville (MD): Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 2014. 
(Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series, No. 57.) 

73. 2019. The Hague Principles on Sexual Violence.

74. Statistics Canada. (2022). A comprehensive portrait of police-reported crime in Canada, 2021. The 
Daily. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/220802/dq220802a-eng.htm 

75. Herek et al. 2002; Peel 1999; Wol and Cokely 2007

76. Herek et al. 2002; Peel 1999; Wol and Cokely 2007

77. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative Police 
Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449.

78. Champine, R. B., Lang, J. M., Nelson, A. M., Hanson, R. F., & Tebes, J. K. (2019). Systems mea-
sures o a trauma‐ inormed approach: A systematic review. American Journal o Community
Psychology, 64(3-4), 418-437.

79. Women and Gender Equality Canada. (2023). What is 2SLGBTQI+? https://women-gender-equal-
ity.canada.ca/en/free-to-be-me/what-is-2slgbtqi-plus.html 

80. Immigration, Refugee and Citizenship Canada. (2019). Abuse: Types of Abuse. https://www.
canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/publications-manuals/operational-bulle-
tins-manuals/service-delivery/abuse/types-abuse.html 

81. Public Health Ontario. (2020). Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs): Interventions to Prevent 
and Mitigate the Impact of ACEs in Canada.

82. Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. (2023). Unconscious Bias Training Module for 
Panel Members and Their Clinic Sta. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-reugees-citizenship/
news/video/unconcious-bias-training.html 

83. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative Police 
Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

84. Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (US). Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health Ser-
vices. Rockville (MD): Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 2014. 
(Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series, No. 57.) Section 1, A Review of the Literature. 
Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK207192/ 

85. Varcoe, C., & Browne, A. J. (2015). Culture and cultural safety: Beyond cultural inventories. In C. 
D. Gregory, L. Raymond-Seniuk, L. Patrick, & T. Stephen (Eds.), Fundamentals: Perspectives on 
the Art and Science of Canadian Nursing, 216-231. Philadelphia: Lippincott. 

86. First Nations Health Authority . (2021).  Anti-Racism, Cultural Safety & Humility Framework. 

87. Cruz, D., Lichten, M., Berg, K., & George, P. (2022). Developmental trauma: Conceptual frame-
work, associated risks and comorbidities, and evaluation and treatment. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 
13, 800687.

88. Department of Justice. (2003). Public Service Employment Act. https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/
eng/acts/p-33.01/page-1.html#:~:text=in%20alphabetical%20order%3A-,equity%2Dseeking%20
group,groupe%20en%20qu%C3%AAte%20d%27%C3%A9quit%C3%A9) 

89. Ndegwa, A., & McDonald , S. (2023). Hate Crimes in Canada. Victims of Crime Research Digest 
No. 16. https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/cj-jp/victim/rd16-rr16/p1.html 

90. Sotero, M. (2006). A conceptual model of historical trauma: Implications for public health practice 
and research. Journal of health disparities research and practice, 1(1), 93-108.

91. Social Service. Encyclopedia Britannica. (2024). https://www.britannica.com/topic/social-service 

92. Public Health Agency of Canada. (2018). Trauma and violence-informed approaches to policy and 
practice. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/health-risks-safety/trau-
ma-violence-informed-approaches-policy-practice.html 

93. Public Health Agency of Canada. (2022). How to integrate intersectionality theory in quantitative 
health equity analysis? A rapid review and checklist of promising practices. Retrieved from https://
www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/science-research-data/how-integrate-inter-
sectionality-theory-quantitative-health-equity-analysis.html. 



58 59

94. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative Police 
Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

95. Public Health Agency of Canada. (2023). Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Government of 
Canada. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/topics/mental-health-wellness/
post-traumatic-stress-disorder.html. 

96. Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety

97. Government of Canada. (2023). Guide on Equity, Diversity and Inclusion Terminology. Retrieved 
from https://www.noslangues-ourlanguages.gc.ca/en/publications/equite-diversite-inclusion-equi-
ty-diversity-inclusion-eng. 

98. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative Police 
Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

99. Bride, B. E. (2007). Prevalence of secondary traumatic stress among social workers. Social work, 
52(1), 63-70.

100. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative 
Police Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

101. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative 
Police Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

102. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative 
Police Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

103. Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (US). Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health 
Services. Rockville (MD): Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 2014. 
(Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series, No. 57.)

104. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative 
Police Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449 

105. Government of Canada. (2023). Guide on Equity, Diversity and Inclusion Terminology. Re-
trieved from https://www.noslangues-ourlanguages.gc.ca/en/publications/equite-diversite-inclu-
sion-equity-diversity-inclusion-eng.

106. Public Health Agency of Canada. (2018). Trauma and violence-informed approaches to policy 
and practice. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/health-risks-safety/trau-
ma-violence-informed-approaches-policy-practice.html 

107. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative 
Police Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

108. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative 
Police Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

109. Canadian Victims Bill of Rights, 2015

110. Reingle, J.M., 2014. Victim–oender overlap. The Encyclopedia o Theoretical Criminology.

111. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative 
Police Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

112. Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (2019). Canadian Framework for Collaborative 
Police Response on Sexual Violence. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&es-
rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjuorru4DAxXukIkEHRWaDZQQFnoE-
CAoQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cacp.ca%2Fcrime-prevention-committee.html%3Fasst_
id%3D2059&usg=AOvVaw1dbdWUYKnoC9HLeIlPBmCA&opi=89978449. 

113. Haskell, L., & Randall, M. (2019). The impact of trauma on adult sexual assault victims. Justice 
Canada.

114. Zielinski, M. J., & Veilleux, J. C. (2018). The Perceived Invalidation o Emotion Scale (PIES):
Development and psychometric properties of a novel measure of current emotion invalidation. Psy-
chological assessment, 30(11), 1454.

115. Uniform Crime Reporting Survey (UCR) Manual; FEBRUARY 2021





1

Daisy DYER

From: BCA Police Boards <bcapbs@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, January 15, 2025 10:54 AM
To: Daisy DYER
Cc: Patrick Lalonde (Police Board)
Subject: BCAPB 2025 Conference/AGM - Sponsorship Request

 

This Message Is From an Untrusted Sender  
You have not previously corresponded with this sender.  

 

Sending on Behalf of Lara Victoria 
 
Ms. Tasha Henderson 
Chair, New Westminster Police Board 

Dear Ms. Henderson: 
 
Re:  Sponsorship Request – 2025 BCAPB Annual General Meeting and Conference 
 
The BC Association of Police Boards would like to invite you to sponsor our 2025 Conference and AGM.  The 
2025 Conference theme is “Focus Forward: The Evolving Role of Police Boards”. It is being hosted by the 
Delta Police Board and will take place at the Delta Hotels Vancouver Delta, 6005 BC-17A, Delta, British 
Columbia, on May 7, 8 and 9, 2025. There will be opportunities to interact in joint dialogue and information-
sharing sessions. 
 
The opportunities for sponsorships range from a coffee break at $575 each, a breakfast at $700, a lunch at $850, 
a welcoming reception at $700.00 and dinner at $1,100. 
 
In every case, sponsors will be acknowledged in the conference program.  However, if you prefer to make a 
generic contribution in any amount, we will be pleased to allocate your funding according to need, again with 
acknowledgment. 
 
If your board is able to assist in this manner, cheques should be made payable to the BC Association of Police 
Boards and forwarded to Veronica Bandet, BCAPB, PO Box 33012, Victoria RPO Colwood Corners, BC, V9B 
6K3. 
 
Thank you for your consideration.  We look forward to hearing from you at your convenience and if we can 
provide further information, please contact me at 604-762-5250 or Veronica Bandet, Administrative Assistant at 
250-216-1205. 
 
Lara Victoria 
President 
BC Association of Police Boards 
 
 
  



Page | 1 of  
 

 
New Westminster Police Department    
Police Board Report            
 

DATE: 
 
January 21, 2025 
 

SUBMITTED BY: 
 
Chief Constable Paul Hyland 
 
REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY: 
 
Chief Constable Paul Hyland 
 

SUBJECT: 
 
Provincial Policing Standard – Promoting Unbiased Policing – Annual Reporting  
 

ACTION: 
 

☐  For Information  
 

☒  For Action 
 

☐  For Approval 
 

MEETING: 
 

☒  Open 
 

☐  Closed 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

That the New Westminster Police Board request a report on NWPD Subject-Behaviour-Officer-
Response (SBOR) reports from 2018 through to 2023, disaggregated by ethnicity, and gender 
or sex of subjects.  
 

 
 



Page | 2 of  
 

 
 

PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this report is to seek Board input into Annual Reporting required under British 
Columbia Provincial Policing Standard (BCPPS) 6.1.1 – Promoting Unbiased Policing (and related 
NWPD Policy AE55 – Unbiased Policing).  
 
BACKGROUND 

Over the last number of years, the Ministry of Public Safety and Attorney General has been 
working on the implementation of Equitable and Unbiased Policing Standards. This policy work 
is intended to recognize and address inequities, protect rights, and improve responsiveness of 
the criminal justice system for women affected by violence, Black, Indigenous and Persons of 
Colour, and marginalized communities. 

In 2023, the Ministry of Public Safety and Attorney General, through the Police Services, issued 
new BCPPS standards for the Promotion of Unbiased Policing including: 
 

Standard 6.1.1 – Promoting Unbiased Policing (effective July 30, 2023) 
 

Standard 6.1.2 – Community Engagement (effective July 30, 2023) 
 
Standard 6.1.3 – Promoting Diversity within the Police Force (effective July 30, 2023) 

These standards were in response to concerns and issues raised in a number of reports, inquiries 
and community-led advocacy; including the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry, Truth and 
Reconciliation Commission, the National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women 
and Girls, UN Declaration of Rights of Indigenous Peoples, and the BC First Nations Justice 
Strategy. 

In addition, on July 25, 2023, the Board approved NWPD Policy AE55 - Unbiased Policing to ensure 
compliance with these new provincial standards.  
 

Relevant to this report, BCPPS Standard 6.1.1 - Promoting Unbiased Policing (paragraph 18) 
requires the following: 
 

Monitoring for systemic inequities in NWPD service delivery, by ensuring an analysis of at 
least one of the following types of records at least once a year, disaggregated by ethnicity, 
and gender or sex of subjects: 

 

a) Subject-Behaviour‐Officer‐Response (SBOR) reports; 

b) Prisoner Booking Records; 

c) Other records as identified by the Police Board 

 



Page | 3 of  
 

DISCUSSION 
 
In February of 2024, a report was presented to the Board on NWPD Prisoner Booking Records for 
2023, disaggregated by ethnicity, and gender or sex of subjects.   
 
The Leadership Team is now soliciting input from the Board on any potential area(s) they would 
like to see examined following these standards. It should be noted that a lot of staff work has 
already been conducted regarding Subject-Behaviour-Officer-Response (SBOR) reports from 
2018 through to 2023. 
 
OPTIONS 
 
Option 1 – That the New Westminster Police Board request a report on NWPD Subject-Behaviour-
Officer-Response (SBOR) reports from 2018 through to 2023, disaggregated by ethnicity, and 
gender or sex of subjects. 
 
Option 2 – That the New Westminster Police Board provide staff with further direction. 
 
Staff are recommending Option 1 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
None 


	Button1: 
	Button2: 
	Button3: 
	Button4: 


